
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - CABINET
Date & Time - TUESDAY, 30TH MAY, 2017 AT 9.30 AM

Venue - NORFOLK & DEREHAM ROOMS, THE 
CONFERENCE SUITE, ELIZABETH 
HOUSE, DEREHAM

Members of the Cabinet requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Cabinet.

The Cabinet

Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S H Chapman-Allen (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A M Webb

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONES

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Friday, 19 May 2017

Public Document Pack





Cabinet
30 May 2017

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 5 - 7

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 25 April 2017.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM) 
To consider the grants put forward:

a) Caston Village Hall 8 - 11 

Report of Executive Member Place, Paul Claussen.

8. ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP 12 - 15

To note the minutes of the meeting of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits 
Joint Committee held on Tuesday 28 March 2017.

9. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2016-17 OUT-TURN 16 - 26

Report of Executive Member Finance, Phil Cowen.

10. QUARTER 4 2016-17 PERFORMANCE REPORT OVERVIEW 27 - 44

Report of Deputy Leader and Executive Member Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation, Sam Chapman-Allen.



Cabinet
30 May 2017

11. YAXHAM NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN - MAKING (ADOPTION) OF THE 
YAXHAM NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

45 - 116

Report of Executive Member for Growth, Gordon Bambridge.

12. HOUSING AND HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 2017-21 117 - 157

Report of Executive Member for Growth, Gordon Bambridge.

13. NEXT MEETING 
To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet will be held on Tuesday 
11 July 2017 at 9.30am in the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham.

14. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
To consider passing the following resolution:

“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 and 4 of Schedule 12A to the Act”.

PART B – ITEM FROM WHICH THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC ARE 
EXCLUDED  

15. GROWTH & COMMERCIALISATION DELIVERY UNIT 158 - 166

Report of Executive Member for Growth and Commercialisation, Adrian 
Stasiak.

Page(s)
herewith



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 25 April 2017 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr S H Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr J.P. Cowen

Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mrs A M Webb

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett Councillor M. Chapman-Allen

In Attendance
Phil Adams - Executive Manager Public Protection
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 Officer) 

(BDC)
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place

Action By

43/17 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 21 March 2017 were confirmed and 
signed by the Chairman.

44/17 APOLOGIES 

An apology had been received from Councillor Nunn. 

45/17 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

46/17 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

47/17 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Bill Borrett and Marion Chapman-Allen.

48/17 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

The Deputy Leader said the Local Plan was progressing well. Members had 

5

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet
25 April 2017

2

requested if the design build specification could be included within the plan, 
which would mean the timetable would be delayed approximately 6-weeks.

49/17 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

 (a) Match funding for Lyng & District Community Hall  

The Executive Member Place was pleased to present the report to 
members adding that it had been the wish of the Parish Council for many 
years to replace the existing hall.

The Executive Director Place asked that the recommendation be amended 
to reflect that due to the grant value requested, it should be a Cabinet 
decision, and not that of the Executive Member Place.

Councillor Borrett, the Ward Member for Lyng added it had been a very well 
organised campaign within the village for raising money and fully supported 
the application.

Councillor Bambridge also added his support.

Councillor Webb referred to the report asking if the planning application had 
been received.  The Executive Director Place confirmed that the funding 
would not be released until the planning application was in place.

Options
1) To fully fund the application set out in the report
2) To partly fund the application set out in the report
3) Do nothing.

Reasons
The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme.

RESOLVED that Cabinet approve £20,000 (or 2.26% of the project costs, 
whichever is the lower amount) to Lyng & District Community Hall towards 
the costs of constructing a replacement village hall.

50/17 CORPORATE DEBT MANAGEMENT & RECOVERY POLICY 

The Executive Member Finance presented the report informing Members that 
the policy is formally reviewed every three years to ensure that it remains up 
to date and appropriate for the Council and reflect the latest working 
practices.

Options
1) That the corporate debt management recovery policy be approved
2) That the corporate debt management recovery policy be amended 

before being approved.

Reasons
To provide a clear policy and procedure to manage the recovery of Council 
debt.

It was RESOLVED that the Corporate Debt Management Recovery Policy be 

Action By

6



Cabinet
25 April 2017

3

approved.

51/17 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting held on 30 May 2017 in the Norfolk 
Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham were noted.

52/17 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 3 and 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 
Act.

53/17 ESTABLISHMENT OF CENTRAL CONTRACTS TEAM (SHARED WITH 
SOUTH HOLLAND COUNCIL) 

The Deputy Leader introduced the report which sought Member approval to 
establish a Shared Centralised Contracts Team.

The Chief Executive responded to Member questions by confirming that she 
would update Cabinet Members on how the staffing structure had changed.

In addition, it was agreed that a sub-group of Cabinet would be set up to look 
at Contracts and focus on the outputs, not the process.

It was RESOLVED that Members approved the recommendations.

The meeting closed at 9.52 am

CHAIRMAN

Action By

7



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Paul Claussen, Executive Member Place

To: Cabinet – 30 May 2017

Author: Clive Rayner, Grant Officer, Norfolk Community Foundation

Subject: Match Funding (large) application 

Purpose: To consider the decision to award funding to Caston Village Hall

Recommendation:

1) That Cabinet approves the following grant award:

 £20,000 (or 24.4% of the project costs, whichever is the lower amount) to 
Caston Village Hall to replace outdated kitchen and toilet areas and provide a 
new entrance porch. 

BACKGROUND – Caston Village Hall

1.1 Caston Village Hall is seeking the maximum grant of £20,000 to contribute towards 
the cost of refurbishing the kitchen and toilet areas and creating a new entrance 
foyer giving better disabled access and improving heat retention in the building.

1.2 The village hall dates from the 1930s and has changed relatively little since it was 
built. Its structure is wood panelling on a brick base with a cement slate roof. 
Although it is showing its age and is in need of updating, a recent structural survey 
has indicated that there are no major structural issues. The hall does has a range of 
issues that require attention including a lack of insulation, small and cold toilets that 
are not suitable for disabled use and an out of date kitchen that struggles to cope 
with many events and poor disabled access. In spite of these shortcomings the hall 
has a good range of regular user groups including the Women’s Institute, Caston 
Camera Club, a weekly drop in café, an Art Club, Gardening Club, yoga classes, 
Pilates club, upholstery classes, exercise classes and parish council meetings. It 
also provides a venue for village events such as quarterly whist drives and harvest 
suppers. Over the past few years the hall committee have been successful in 
increasing hall usage and activities now take place on most days with the hall 
estimating a monthly footfall of 800.

1.3 The existing kitchen and toilets are partly housed within a single storey lean-to 
extension and partly within the original building which it adjoins. The lean-to section 
will be demolished and rebuilt on new foundations on the existing footprint but to the 
same height as the main building. Within this new area the arrangement of the toilet 
and kitchen areas will be revised to provide a better layout. The external door from 
the kitchen will be relocated meaning that people using this exit will no longer 
emerge onto the roadway to the car park – thus improving safety. New kitchen and 
toilet fittings will be provided. The new entrance foyer will mean that users no longer 
enter the hall directly from the outside but via the foyer meaning that heat loss is 
reduced. The foyer area will also have space for coats. A new ramp will be provided 
to the entrance improving disabled access. As part of the works issues of dampness 
and a lack of insulation will be addressed leading to a more comfortable hall for 
users.

8

Agenda Item 7a



1.4 The village hall committee has consulted with local residents to obtain their views on 
what improvements were needed. 91 responses were received which highlighted 
that the kitchen, toilets and the entrance porch arrangements and resulting heat loss 
were priorities for improvement. Other priorities for the future have been identified 
including the construction of a rear extension which will be used for storing tables, 
chairs and other equipment when this is not in use. 

1.5 The hall committee has provided copies of quotations/estimates from three 
contractors and favours an estimate from a Watton based company with which it 
has worked in the past. This identifies the costs for the main structural works as 
£54,450. To this the committee, with advice from the contractor, has added 
allowances for kitchen fitting, electrical and plumbing works, decorating and other 
minor works. It has also added a 16% contingency to the resulting £70,590 total 
giving a total project cost of £82,000. The other two quotes showed a significantly 
higher cost. The committee is confident from their previous experience of working 
with the preferred contractor that the project will be able to be delivered within this 
budget. The specification of fittings such as the kitchen can be adjusted if necessary 
to come within budget.
 

1.6 The village hall has already raised £50,000 towards the cost from a variety of 
fundraising events. A further £5,000 has been offered by Caston Parish Council in 
January 2017 subject to the village hall having sufficient funds to go ahead with the 
work. The village hall is also awaiting the outcome of a grant application to the 
Garfield Weston Foundation for £7,000. A grant from Breckland Council will enable 
the work to go ahead.

1.7 The project has planning permission from Breckland Council which is valid until 
February 2018.

1.8 This is a strong application in terms of the consultation, the level of use of the hall 
and the level of funding already raised by the village hall. The committee 
representatives with whom the Grants Officer met appear to be organising the 
project effectively. The only relative weakness is the uncertainty about the costs with 
the preferred contractor only providing an estimate rather than a fixed price 
quotation and most of the remainder of the works not being covered by any 
evidence of cost. The contingency allowance is also not fully explained. The age 
and structure of the building – particularly the lean-to section - mean that there are 
some uncertainties about what the contractor will find once work begins and this 
was the committee representatives’ rationale for the contingency. It is possible that 
the project will be delivered for less than the £82,000 budget. If this happens the 
Council’s contribution would reduce accordingly under the “£20,000 or 24.4%” 
criteria.

2) OPTIONS

2.1 Fully fund the application set out in the report
2.2 Part fund the application set out in the report
2.3 Do nothing

3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme.

9



4) EXPECTED BENEFITS 

4.1 Provide a suitable venue for a range of social, fitness, educational and recreational 
activities for residents of all ages.
 

5) IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of 
the decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there 
may be implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified 
below.

5.1 Financial

5.1.1 The Match Funding reserves held by Norfolk Community Foundation have a current 
balance of £47,490 with one further application requesting £20,000 (Lyng Parish 
Council) recently agreed at Cabinet and still needing to be deducted from this 
balance. In addition Small Match funding applications with a combined value of 
£13,500 have been recommended by NCF for funding and are with Breckland 
Council for decision in May. The effective balance of funding is therefore £13,990 
which is less than is needed to fund this application. NCF is currently awaiting a top-
up of funds for 2017/18 from Breckland Council.  

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The project aligns with the Breckland Council objectives of: ‘supporting Breckland to 
develop and thrive’ and 'enabling stronger and more independent communities.'
The improvements to the kitchens and toilets will enable the village hall to provide 
an enhanced service and attract more users. The application comments that the hall 
provides a social hub for lonely, elderly and disabled. Attending the various activities 
the village hall thus assists people in maintaining their independence.

5.3 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.3.1 Breckland Councillor Philip Cowen has written in support of the project. He 
comments that he “wholeheartedly supports this bid to improve what is a thriving 
community hub that is used by villagers not only from Caston but surrounding 
villages as well. It is a project worthy of support.”

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

6.1 All Saints & Wayland/Caston and neighbouring parishes including Griston and Stow 
Bedon. 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 NCF – Norfolk Community Foundation

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Clive Rayner, Grant Officer, 

10



Norfolk Community Foundation
Telephone Number: 01603 623958
Email: cliverayner@norfolkfoundation.com

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
None.

11



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL
FOREST HEATH DISTRICT COUNCIL

EAST CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
ST EDMUNDSBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
WAVENEY DISTRICT COUNCIL

SUFFOLK COASTAL DISTRICT COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP JOINT COMMITTEE

Held on Tuesday, 28 March 2017 at 10.00 am in the
Level 5 Meeting Room, Breckland House, St Nicholas Street, Thetford  IP24 1BT

PRESENT
Mr D Ambrose Smith
Mr C Seaton (Chairman)
Mr M Barnard (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S. Edwards

Mr I Houlder
Mr R Kerry
Mr S H Chapman-Allen (Substitute Member)

In Attendance
Paul Corney - Head of ARP
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation 

(S151 Officer)
Adrian Mills - Strategic Manager (Benefits)
Stuart Philpot - Strategic Manager (Support Services) ARP
Jo Andrews - Strategic Manager (Revenues)
Ian Smith - Principal Accountant
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer
Rob Bridge - Corporate Director (Fenland)
Jill Korwin - Director (Forest Heath & St Edmundsbury)
Brendan Arnold - Chief Finance Officer and Corporate 

Director

Action 
By

Opening Remarks

The Chairman announced that Rob Bridge, the Corporate Director of 
Fenland District Council would be leaving shortly and his replacement 
Brendan Arnold would be joining the Joint Committee meetings as the new 
Chief Finance Officer and Corporate Director in April 2017.  

The Chairman thanked Rob for his contributions over the years and wished 
him well for the future.

Christine Marshall, the new Executive Director for Commercialisation & 
S151 Officer for Breckland Council was welcomed to her first meeting.

8/17 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 10 January 2017 were agreed.

9/17 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Dimoglou (Breckland 
Council) and Emma Grima, East Cambridgeshire District Council.  Substitutes 

12

Agenda Item 8



Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee
28 March 2017

2

in attendance were Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen and Ian Smith 
respectively.

10/17 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

11/17 DECLARATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

12/17 PERFORMANCE REPORT (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

 (a) Operational Performance  

A detailed overview of the Operational Performance Report up to 31 
December 2016 was provided.

Benefits performance continued to be meet profiled targets and was on 
course to achieve year end targets except for Waveney due to Universal 
Credit issues.  The Head of ARP stated that in comparison to the final 
quarter, Waveney had improved considerably and already had new 
processes in place which would be to the benefit of all.

DWP plans to introduce expansion of data exchange had been delayed 
until later in the year.  ARP continued to take a lead role in influencing and 
shaping national procedures regarding DWP working practices for the 
investigation of Housing Benefit.

As far as revenue was concerned, performance continued to meet targets 
in all areas with the exception of Non-Domestic Rates collection for Suffolk 
Coastal, Breckland and Fenland District Councils.  The reasons behind the 
drop in NNDR were due to appeals for Doctors surgeries and other 
changes in valuations; the Finance Team was aware and had made 
provision in budgets for this shortfall. 

Funding had been secured from Suffolk and Norfolk and County Councils; 
and negotiations continued with Cambridgeshire County Council; therefore, 
the further recovery work for this financial year would continue.

The Enforcement Team continued to perform well having collected £4.5m 
since the Team started of which £3.2m had been in this financial year.  The 
surplus amount was highlighted.

An NNDR revaluation would be taking place from 1 April 2017.  All NNDR 
databases had been updated accordingly.  The various changes that had 
been introduced by Government were highlighted.

Councillor Edwards asked if he could have some updated figures that he 
could present to his Cabinet meeting.

The Chairman passed on his thanks to the Enforcement Team as they had 
exceeded expectations.

360,000+ various annual bills had been sent out and the external mailing 
target had been met   The layout of the Council Tax bill design had been 

Action 
By

13



Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee
28 March 2017

3

simplified to maximise the effectiveness of getting the correct information to 
the customer and as part of the preparation for channel shift every 
customer had the ability to sign up and view their Council Tax, Business 
rates, benefits payments and E-Billing via the ARP website.  E-Billing and 
on-line accounts were already on the increase and the numbers would be 
brought to the next Joint Committee meeting.

 (b) Balanced Scorecard  

Members were provided with a detailed overview of the Balance 
Scorecards for each of the seven partners.

In response to a question as to whether the proposed targets had been 
agreed, it was noted that the targets had been set by the budget.

The targets for 2017/18 were agreed.

 (c) Financial Performance  

The Head of ARP informed Members that income was mainly up due to the 
increase of the Bailiff service (£319k higher than budget) and this was an 
achieved efficiency that had been reflected in the budget for future years.  
An additional £48k rechargeable income had been achieved, and this 
related to a combination of recharging for additional inserts that Councils 
have requested and other income from providing services.

The employee underspend was due to a combination of vacancies during 
the first nine months of the year, these posts had now been filled; additional 
savings had been made relating to pensions as some staff had opted out.

13/17 WELFARE REFORM UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

The Strategic Manager (Benefits) provided Members with a detailed overview 
of the report.

Members were informed that ARP was on track to spend most of the 
discretionary housing payment grant funded by the DWP.

ARP was working very closely with its customers following the introduction of 
the new ‘Two Child Limit’ legislation, the details of which were explained.

Social rented sector rent restrictions had been delayed by 1 year to April 
2019.  ARP would be keeping a close watch on this matter.

The report was otherwise noted.

14/17 TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME UPDATE (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

The Head of ARP presented the report which concerned the progress to date 
in respect of the Transformation Programme.

The Transformation Programme had been split into three distinct areas; 
reduction in avoidable contact and automation of processes (digital), 
commercial partnership and trading opportunities and organisational vision 
and development.

Action 
By

14



Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee
28 March 2017

4

All of the challenges relating to ARP over the next few years in relation to 
organisational vision and development would require a strong and resilient 
work force that could flex and change with the ever changing demands.  A 
number of elements had already been put in place that would continue to 
ensure that the ARP Team were skilled and had the opportunity to become 
multi-skilled.

The Chairman felt that the amount of income generated by the Enforcement 
Team was excellent.

In response to a question as to where ARP was in terms of promoting its 
trading arm, the Head of ARP advised that a Business Plan and business 
cases were being developed to bring to the Joint Committee and the 
Company Board.

The report was otherwise noted.

15/17 FORTHCOMING ISSUES (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

None.

16/17 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Tuesday, 20 June at 10.00am 
were noted.  The Chairman and Councillor Ambrose-Smith conveyed their 
apologies for this meeting.

17/17 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items 
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

18/17 RISK BASED VERIFICATION POLICY REVIEW REPORT - MARCH 2017 
(AGENDA ITEM 11) 

The Strategic Manager (Benefits) presented the report and the key points 
were highlighted.  Members were being asked to approve the continuance of 
the Risk Based Verification Policy.

It was noted that all information was shared with the external auditors.

RESOLVED that the recommendations as listed in the report be approved.

19/17 PARTNERSHIP WORKING THROUGH SECTION 101 AGREEMENT 
(AGENDA ITEM 12) 

The Head of ARP provided Members with a detailed overview of the report.

The recommendations were highlighted and it was 

RESOLVED not to proceed with the proposal. 

The meeting closed at 11.10 am CHAIRMAN

Action 
By

15



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member Finance, Phil Cowen

To: Cabinet, 30 May 2017

(Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation)

Subject: 2016-17 Full Year Financial Performance

Purpose: This report provides information on the actual full year financial position of 
the Council as at 31 March 2017 and progress to date on the Moving 
Forward transformation programme.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the report and appendix be noted

2) To Full Council that capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of £1,965,394 be carried 
forward into 2017-18 to support projects in progress

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports have been completed forecasting the 
expected year end out-turn against the budgets.  This report provides information on the 
actual full year financial performance for revenue, transformation, capital and treasury, 
with the detail being included in the attached appendix.

1.2 The final year end out-turn may vary slightly from that reported, as changes may be made 
to the accounts any time up to formal sign off (end of May).  The statement of accounts 
will be reported to Governance and Audit Committee in June.

1.3 Revenue
The overall below budget spend is £524k.  This is made up of 3 main areas:

 Service budgets under spend of £261k
 Business Rates under spend of £166k
 Above budget funding income and dividends of £97k

The major variances identified are:
 Waste collection, Recycling & Garden Waste services £318k below budget as a 

result of lower than anticipated contamination costs, lower price adjustment factor 
and the budgeted new vehicle & crew being delayed until 2017-18.

 ARP below budget costs of £175k, mainly due to the success of the Enforcement 
service and above budget grant income in year.

 Above budget transformation efficiencies achieved of £90k.
 Development control above budget income & below budget costs totalling £75k.
 Below budget building control income of £89k, resulting from a change on the type 

of applications received.
 Above budget Housing Benefit Grant costs of £126k as a result of additional bad 

debt provision required in year.
 Below budget contribution from reserves relating to Business Rates appeals.

16

Agenda Item 9



 Retained Business Rates under spend of £166k resulting from additional renewable 
energy income and below budget levy payment on growth (as growth was slightly 
below budget).

 A one off dividend from ARP Trading of £72k in year.

In quarter 3 approval was given to contribute the year end variance into the organisational 
development reserve to offset the timing delays in the Moving Forward transformation 
programme in 17-18 and as a result we have contributed £524k to be utilised in 17-18.

1.4 Moving Forward Transformation Programme
This programme has delivered savings of £503k (129%) against a target of £389k, 
meaning the programme has over delivered in 2016-17.  The programme has been flexed 
in the 2017-18 budget to reflect the latest positions of project time frames and will 
continue to be adjusted throughout the programme as necessary.  Overall the programme 
has achieved efficiencies of £923k by 2019-20 and these have already been included in 
the approved budgets.

1.5 Capital
The actual out-turn shows spend of £8,604k (63%) against the budget.  Of the £4,964k 
under spend, £2,999k relates to projects which are no longer proceeding and this has 
already been reflected in the 2017-18 budget.  The remaining £1,965k is requested to be 
carried forward as it relates to projects which are already in progress, or ready to begin 
and this report includes a recommendation to carry these budgets forward into next year.

1.6 Treasury
The interest income was £21k above budget for the year as a result of loans to 3rd parties 
being for a longer duration than initially budgeted, partly offset by reduced interest rates in 
the year.  Money market funds are no longer used for instant access, so more cash is held 
in fixed term investments at the end of the year, with some instant access still required.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the report and appendix be noted and recommend to Full Council that capital 
budgets (& associated funding sources) of £1,965,394 be carried forward into 2017-18 to 
support projects in progress.

2.2 That the report and appendix be noted and not recommend to Full Council that capital 
budgets (& associated funding sources) of £1,965,394 be carried forward into 2017-18 to 
support projects in progress.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council, 
enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary.

3.2 To enable approved capital projects to continue to deliver in the new financial year.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To ensure Members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council 
financial position.

4.2 To make the best use of the funding available to the Council.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

17



In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.2 Corporate Priorities
5.4.1 The Council’s budget and associated spend supports the Council’s priorities.

5.3 Financial 
5.7.1 The report and appendix are financial in nature and include the financial implications.

5.8 Risk Management 
5.10.1 Risks are included within the report.

5.9 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.13.1 Budget holders have been consulted on their variances and the reasons for those 
variances.

5.10 Transformation Programme
5.14.1 The transformation programme is intrinsically linked to the Council’s budget and this report 
includes progress on the Moving Forward programme to date.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 ARP – Anglia Revenues Partnership
7.2 LIBID – London Inter-Bank Bid Rate
7.3 NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates
7.4 PFI – Private Finance Initiative

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to Mandatory Service & Discretionary Services

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Financial Report for 2016-17 full year

18

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Breckland Council
Financial report for the year ended 31 March 2017

This report has three sections
o Section 1 – Revenue budget and Moving Forward Transformation Programme
o Section 2 – Capital budget
o Section 3 – Treasury update

Figures in brackets denote either income, an under spend or above budget income.
Positive figures denote either spend, an over spend or below budget income.

Section 1 - Revenue

Table 1 – Actual Revenue Outturn 

 Budget
Actual 

Out-turn
Actual 

Variance
 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost of Services  
1) Strategy Governance & Transformation 5,277 5,249 (28)
2) Growth & Commercialisation 1,871 1,300 (571)
3) Place 6,557 6,120 (437)
4) Housing Benefits (211) (85) 126
5) Cost of Services 13,494 12,584 (910)

6) Contributions to/from reserves (2,036) (1,387) 649
7) Total Cost of Services 11,458 11,197 (261)

Funding & Appropriations
8) Appropriations 632 567 (65)
9) Government grants (6,193) (6,218) (25)
10) Financing and Investment 74 (7) (81)
11) Council Tax (3,563) (3,554) 9
12) Retained Business Rates (2,408) (2,509) (101)
13) Total Funding (11,458) (11,721) (263)
 
Contribution to Organisational Development Reserve 524 524

Contribution (to)/from the General Fund - - -

Significant variances are detailed over the page.

Salaries
The budgeted vacancy factor for 2016-17 is 4% for Breckland staff and 2.5% for Anglia Revenues
Partnership (ARP) staff.
The achieved vacancy factor is 4.7% for the full year which is slightly above the target.

19



Table 2 - Significant Variances

Cost Centre

Total 
Budget

£

Total 
Variance

£ Comments

1) High Impact

1a) Efficiencies Achieved 89,661 (89,661)
One off and ongoing efficiencies achieved to date this year (i.e. PFI benchmarking, service 
reviews).  Where savings are ongoing these have been factored into future years budgets.

1b) Building Control 191,247 89,297
Although application numbers are up, the income is lower due to the type of applications received.  
In addition some larger housing applications have been lost to Approved Inspectors.

2) High Opportunity

2a) Waste Collection, Garden 
Waste & Recycling processing 1,485,501 (318,125)

The 2015-16 price adjustment factor contract cost is lower than the original estimated values for 
both waste collection and garden waste (£74k).
Contamination costs are also lower than estimated, leading to reduced recycling processing costs 
(£99k).
The budgeted new vehicle & crew have been delayed until 2017-18, leading to a large under spend.

2b) ARP Partnership & Direct 
Costs 864,171 (174,575)

This variance represents the Council’s share of the current ARP surplus for the combined budgets.
The variance is mainly due to the success of the Enforcement service which is delivering both 
income for the partners and also a better service to the residents.
The variance also includes above budget grant income received in year.

2c) Appropriations & Retained 
Business Rates (1,690,165) (165,599)

This variance relates to additional renewable energy business rates income, which has been 
included in future years budgets.  There are also reduced business rates levy costs as the overall 
retained business rates income for 2016-17 was slightly lower than budgeted, leading to a lower 
levy payment on growth.

2d) Registration of Electors 174,094 (21,155) Below budget spend on postages as a result of increased digitalised contact with the electorate.

2e) Breckland Training Services (18,140) 26,848 Fixed term staff posts have been extended whilst future options are considered by the Council.

3) One Offs

3a) Financing & Investment 74,444 (81,835)
The variance is mainly due to a dividend received from ARP Trading of £72k resulting from the 
change in shareholding arrangements in January 2017.

3b) PFI 261,835 (63,800) Below budget spend on salaries and Joint Use costs for the year.

3c) Economic Development 234,587 (58,353)
Below budget consultancy spend as full budget is not required this year and reduced spend on 
grants for the current year whilst the service reviews grant expenditure.

3d) Enabling (28,791) (42,756) Below budget salaries costs resulting from a long term vacancy within the service currently.

3e) Government Grants (6,192,675) (25,995) Additional funding received relating to New Homes Bonus returned funding.

3f) Pension Act 643,567 (23,175)
There is an outstanding pension strain claim from 2015-16 which is yet to be claimed by the 
employee.

3g) Sports Development 65,710 (21,825)
Below budget salary and running costs due to vacancies within the year whilst the service review 
was taking place.

20



Cost Centre
Total

Budget
£

Total
Variance

£
Comments

3h) Customer Contact 878,050 30,089 Above budget salary costs to maintain performance levels within the contact centre.

3i) Breckland Bridge (46,157) 40,472 Delays in letting the Riverside units has resulted in lower income this year.

3j) Housing Benefit (210,980) 125,839 This relates to a higher bad debt provision in year than originally budgeted.

4) Low Impact

4a) Thetford Enterprise Park 350,000 (163,085)
This budget is reserve funded and therefore a lower than expected spend has a nil impact on the 
overall budget.

4b) Development Control 39,581 (74,878)
Planning income is slightly higher than anticipated for the year.  The total major applications 
received in year were lower than budgeted, leading to an under spend on the contract costs.

4c) Breckland Business Centres 
Non Rechargeable 142,000 (42,183) Below budget premises spend, offset by the contributions to reserves code.

4d) HR 433,959 (33,807)
Below budget spend mainly relates to a transformation project which is offset by contributions from 
reserves.

4e) Breckland Business Centres (237,453) (25,106)
Below budget costs relating to rates and repairs & maintenance due to higher than budgeted letting 
levels.

4f) Miscellaneous 2,690,408 (24,889) Net effect of other smaller value variances

4g) Corporate Finance (75,851) (21,870) Above budget interest income as a result of longer duration 3rd party loans.

4h) Forward Planning 788,173 (21,188) Below budget spend on the local plan is offset by contributions from reserves.

4i) Environmental Protection 952,649 (20,600) Below budget spend on the cleansing contract as a result of contract performance deductions

4j) Legal Services 176,615 27,443 Above budget external legal fees mainly relating to planning cases.

4k) Contributions from reserves (2,036,040) 649,201

Under spends within services are offset by this variance (i.e. Thetford Enterprise Park, HR, 
Breckland Business Centres).  In addition there is a variance of £330k relating to Business Rates 
appeals due to below budget values from last financial year.

5) TOTAL - (525,271)

21



Collection Funds
Council Tax
The Council Tax collection fund account has a residual deficit of £545k overall, with Breckland’s 
share being £54k.  The end of year position for 2016-17 is a surplus of £477k, with Breckland’s share 
being £47k.  These will be incorporated into future years budgets. 

Retained Business Rates
The retained Business Rates (NNDR) collection fund account has a residual surplus of £271k overall, 
with Breckland’s share being £108k.  The end of year position for 2016-17 is a deficit of £126k, with 
Breckland’s share being £50k.  These will be incorporated into future years budgets.

Virement Decisions Required
There are no virement decisions required.  

Other Risks
The following areas are financial risks which the Council is facing, but the actual financial implications 
have not yet been quantified:

o Footway lighting costs are recharged to some of the towns through a special expense.  The 
14-15, 15-16 and 16-17 costs are higher than the amount we are able to recover through the 
special expenses for those years as they are subject to the Council Tax capping rules.  This 
will leave a deficit balance which may be recoverable in future years if capping levels change 
or costs for those towns reduce.  There are on-going discussions with all relevant parties, 
including Norfolk County Council and the relevant towns to see what action can be taken to 
deliver a more sustainable service

Full risk registers are held within the corporate improvement team.

Actions/Decisions
o None

22



Moving Forward Transformation Programme

The Council’s transformation programme forms an integral part of the Medium Term Financial Plan and once delivered will reduce reliance on central 
government funding by the end of the medium term.  The programme includes a number of different projects within each of the four themes and progress 
against these projects and their related efficiency targets are monitored by the transformation boards.

The programme has overachieved against the 2016-17 efficiencies and enabling projects.  Some projects have overachieved on their targets and others 
have been slightly delayed, but are due to achieve over the term of the programme and the net result is an achievement of 129% of the full years target.  
Many of the service reviews (due to deliver efficiencies in 17-18) have started, re-profiling of project start and end dates are made as necessary.   

As time progresses, it becomes more important that the projects begin on time, to deliver the higher levels of savings required in subsequent years and 
this is monitored through the transformation boards.  The full transformation programme will be refreshed as part of the budget process.  

The table below shows the progress against the programme as at 31 March 2017.
 Digitalisation Commercialisation Organisational Design Aligning Public Services Other TOTAL

 
Targe

t Achieved Balance Target Achieved
Balanc

e
Targe

t Achieved Balance
Targe

t Achieved Balance
Targe

t Achieved
Balanc

e Target Achieved
Balanc

e
Year £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
2016-17 (26) (34) (8) (296) (316) (20) 0 (84) (84) (67) (42) 25 0 (27) (27) (389) (503) (114) 

2017-18 (27) (35) (8) 
(1,211

) (520) 691 (303) (249) 54 (81) (41) 40 0 (11) (11) 
(1,622

) (856) 766 

2018-19 (28) (36) (8) 
(1,333

) (508) 825 (606) (317) 289 (81) (41) 40 0 (11) (11) 
(2,048

) (913) 1,135 

2019-20 (28) (36) (8) 
(1,671

) (481) 1,190 (908) (354) 554 (81) (41) 40 0 (11) (11) 
(2,688

) (923) 1,765 

Minimum £36k Minimum £481k Minimum £354k Minimum £41k Minimum £11k Minimum £923k 
Target £28k Target £1,671k Target £908k Target £81k Target £0k Target £2,688k 
Maximum £36k Maximum £1,906k Maximum £908k Maximum £81k Maximum £11k Maximum £2,942k 

This table includes the current year efficiencies achieved of £90k (1a in table 2) but does not include any of the remaining variance of £436k.

23



Section 2 - Capital

Table 1 - Progress against 16-17 approved capital programme

 

Budget  
2016-17

£

Actual
Out-turn

£

Actual 
(under)/overspend

£
Commercialisation  
   Property (Land & Buildings) 6,772,733 5,441,926 (1,330,807)
   Capital grants 10,083 10,083 -
   Capital loans 1,498,668 1,256,164 (242,504)
   Not yet released 1,896,092 5,598 (1,890,495)
Total Commercialisation 10,177,576 6,713,770 (3,463,806)
Strategy & Governance
   ICT & Organisational Change 592,902 60,020 (532,882)
   Not yet released 92,339 - (92,339)
Total Strategy & Governance 685,241 60,020 (625,221)
Place
   Property (Land & Buildings) 3,000 2,868 (132)
   Grants 1,689,122 1,252,216 (436,906)
   Not yet released 1,014,288 575,584 (438,704)
Total Place 2,706,410 1,830,668 (875,742)
TOTAL 13,569,227 8,604,458 (4,964,769)

Actual outturn £8,604,458 or 63.4%

Table 2 - The variance is shown below:

Project

(under)/ 
over spend

£

Carry over 
to Future

£
Commercialisation
Commercial Project (700,000) This project is no longer proceeding.  This is the gross 

under spend, the project was fully funded by a capital 
receipt therefore the net effect to the programme is nil

Major infrastructure (1,695,537) - This was a provision set aside for major infrastructure 
projects, however as part of budget setting new 
projects have been identified and separate bid forms 
will be put forward in the new budget.

Riverside Project - (614,703) This is the remaining budget for retention and unit fit 
outs and is required in 2017-18

Capital Loans - (242,504) Spend forecasts have changed since the original 
budget was set, causing variances on 3 loans

Industrial Estate Car 
Parking

(195,000) - This business case for this project did not support 
proceeding, therefore this is no longer required

Other (1,654) (14,407) Other small value variances
Strategy & Governance
ICT New Delivery (529,555) This funding has been released to support the new ICT 

delivery arrangements and is required in 2017-18
ICT Not Yet 
Released

(92,339) This funding will be required to support the new ICT 
delivery arrangements in future years and will be 
released as required

Other (3,327) - Other small value variances
Place
Match funding (16,827) - Below budget spend on completed projects
Better Care Fund (386,898) - Better Care Fund was intended to be a separate 

project however the funding has been applied to 
general DFG’s and the gross spend adjusted 
accordingly

Disabled Facilities 
Grant

- (233,061) Remaining budget to be carried forward to cover spend 
due in 2017-18

Enhancement 
Grants

- (127,024) The spend is fully funded and therefore budget is 
carried forward to fund spend in future years

24



Project

(under)/ 
over spend

£

Carry over 
to Future

£
Play Areas Transfer - (51,941) Negotiations are continuing & therefore budget is 

carried forward
Joint Use Agreement - (35,000) Budget to support Attleborough Centre, but project is 

not yet fully progressed and will occur in 2017-18
Car Park 
Resurfacing

- (16,806) Balance required to be carried forward to fund 
remaining programme of car park works

Other (132) (8,054) Other small value variances
Total (2,999,375) (1,965,394) = (£4,964,769) Total

Virements this qtr:
o None

Risks:
o The affordable housing budget of £818k is partly funded from S106 funding.  £206k of this 

S106 funding has a time restriction and must be spent by September 2018.

Actions/Decisions

o Recommend to Full Council that the capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of 
£1,965,394 be carried forward into 2017-18 to support projects in progress

25



Section 3 – Treasury

Security

The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to 
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in low investment returns.

Maximum 
risk level

Actual 
risk level Variance

   Investments maturing in < 1 year 0.060% 0.015% 0.045%
   Investments maturing between 1 - 2 years 0.060% n/a -
   Investments maturing between  2 - 3 years 0.080% n/a -

Liquidity

The Council had an average of £14.1m instant access cash available during the reporting period.  
This is in excess of the working capital sum required but reflects the instant access nature of deposits 
in instant access accounts during this period of low returns.  The council did not use its overdraft 
facility in this reporting period.

Yield

Budget Actual Variance
Interest receivable 2016-17 £258,010 £273,525 (£15,515)
Yield (3 month LIBID1) 0.315% 0.776% (0.461%)

The rate of return of 0.776% includes cash investments and loans to 3rd parties and is higher than the 
target yield.  

 

18,000,000, 70%

3,000,000, 12%

3,156,000, 12%

1,526,164, 6%
banks - UK

Local
authority

Banks -
Non UK

Loans to
3rd Parties

Counterparty Exposure

Actions/Decisions required
None

1 LIBID – London Inter-bank Bid Rate

Currently 
37% of 

investments 
are held in 

instant 
access 

accounts.

26



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and Transformation

To: Overview and Scrutiny Commission – 11th May 2017
Cabinet – 30th May 2017

Author: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager

Subject: Performance Overview Report – Quarter 4 2016/17 

Purpose: To provide an update on Council performance for the period 1st January 
2017 to 31st March 2017

Recommendation(s): 

1)  To note the content of the report

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Quarter 4 Performance Report (Appendix A) provides Members and residents with 
information about the Council’s delivery against its Corporate Priorities and on the Council’s 
Corporate Health.  This covering report presents a summary of the status of the Council’s 
key indicators. Elected Members will note that the structure of Appendix A has been 
amended to provide more information and to provide clarity on the measures the Council 
reports.

1.2 Areas of success, where performance is above target, are brought to Members’ attention, 
as are areas of concern where performance is below anticipated outcomes or is considered 
to be worsening.  These areas of performance were discussed at Performance Board on 
25th April 2017. 

1.3 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

27

Agenda Item 10



1.4 Current status of key performance indicators (above):  Quarter 4’s performance is 
assessed as ‘fair’ with 7 indicators (41%) marked ‘Green’, meaning that performance is 
very good and is meeting or exceeding the set target.  5 indicators (29%) are ‘Amber’ 
meaning performance in these areas is just under the set target.  4 indicators (24%) are 
‘Red’, meaning performance is poor and below the councils target for expected 
performance. 

1.5 There is 1 indicator classified as a data only indicator, this refers to performance indicators 
which are monitored but do not have a target. These measures are monitored to provide 
wider context on other performance measures that do have targets. In this case, it refers to 
the indicator for homelessness prevention, where we are monitoring the numbers but would 
not place a target on the service as there is little that can be done to influence the number 
of incoming cases received monthly.

1.6 AREAS OF SUCCESS

1.7 Performance in the Customer Contact team has seen vast improvements this financial year 
compared to the previous. Both indicators finish the quarter slightly up on the last but with 
considerable reductions to their values at this time last year. The percentage of calls 
abandoned was marginally over the target of 10.1% at 11.2% with March being one of the 
busiest months for the service as they receive an increased volume of calls due to the 
issuing of annual council tax bills. Average wait time stands at 102.33 seconds for Q4 
which is a slight increase from Q3 but still well below the target of 150 seconds and 
represents a 40% reduction in wait time compared to the same period last year.

1.8 Commercial property occupancy rates continue to perform well at 98% compared to a 
target of 90%. The high rates of occupancy means that a good level of rental income is 
being received. 

1.9 The LA error rate relating to housing benefit claims and processed on the council’s behalf 
by the Anglia Revenues Partnership is reported as 0.26% for quarter 4 which continues to 
remain well below the threshold that risks financial penalties and is a slight improvement on 
the value reported at the same point last year. The Council Tax receipts indicator is also 
performing well, with collection amounts £955,018 above the target.

1.10 Indicators for environmental services are performing well with the percentage of household 
waste recycled or composted above target at 34.08%, an improvement on Q3 but down 
slightly on last year’s Q4 result. The number of missed waste collections for the quarter is 
currently amber at 16 per 100,000 collections, however, this is still a very impressive rate of 
collection, with only 129 collections missed in the quarter from the 811,600 collections 
made. There is one environmental indicator which is red, the residual waste per household 
which is currently over its target of 39.62kg per household and Q4 reporting at 44.02kg. 
This is an increase on both last quarter and last years reported figures, it is likely to be due 
to the work that is being done to reduce the amount of contaminated waste put into 
recycling bins and therefore increasing the amount of waste in household waste. The 
earlier update regarding the increase in recycling and composting does highlight that 
recycling continues to improve and it is worth noting that the increase in residual waste is 
being mirrored in other local authorities.

1.11 AREAS OF CONCERN

1.12 The only other indicator which is reported as red this quarter is short term investment 
forecast. This is due to the variance from the budgeted amount of forecast income for the 
year compared to the actual income  being slightly higher than expected. This is as a result 

28



of higher levels of investments for longer periods than originally budgeted for. This can be 
viewed as positive because we are generating more income than expected but it is being 
reported as a negative as it is important for the council to be as accurate as possible when 
budgeting. This additional income represents a lost opportunity for passing the benefit back 
to our residents.

1.13 Two further finance related indicators are reported as amber this quarter where their 
variance from the budget is bigger than targeted. SERCO Net Expenditure is lower than 
expected due to the costs relating to the "price adjustment factor" in the contract being 
agreed at lower rates than anticipated, however contamination costs are still to be agreed, 
so this forecast variance could change in future months. CAPITA Net Expenditure is also 
lower due to reduced spend for "Major" planning applications. 

1.14 The remaining amber indicator is the Net Business Rates receipts which is very slightly 
under target due to large backdated appeals in respect of purpose built Doctors surgeries. 

1.15 Due to the process for reconciling the end of year accounts there are a indicators which 
have not had the full quarters update and these are highlighted in the report Appendix A 
and  are reported with the data up to the end of February. It is not expected that there will 
be any significant change to these measures, however if there is further information will be 
provided to the committee in the next quarterly performance update.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the Commission note the content of the report and scrutinise as they feel appropriate. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 That the Commission note the content of the report and scrutinise as they feel appropriate.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Not applicable.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the 
Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 Constitution and Legal Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report 
Author that there are no implications.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 Contracts implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author that 
there are no implications.

29



5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The report provides information on how the Council is currently performing against its 
corporate priorities as set out in its Corporate Plan. 

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 Crime and Disorder implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report 
Author that there are no implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights implications have been considered and it is the 
opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 Financial implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author that 
there are no implications. The report does however set out how the council is performing 
against a number of its key financial performance measures.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 Health & Wellbeing implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report 
Author that there are no implications.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 Risk implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author that there 
are no implications.

5.10 Staffing

5.10.1 Staffing implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author that 
there are no implications.

5.11 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescale implications have been considered and it is the 
opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 No Wards or Communities are affected

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 EMT – Executive Management Team

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide

Background papers:- None

30

%5Cbcf01.intranet.breckland.gov.ukcorporate_improvement_performancePerformanceReportsBDC%20OSC%20CabinetDemocratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
%5Cbcf01.intranet.breckland.gov.ukcorporate_improvement_performancePerformanceReportsBDC%20OSC%20CabinetDemocratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656866
Email: greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Quarter 4 Performance Report

31

mailto:greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


1

Appendix A
Q4 2016/17 BDC Overview and Scrutiny Report

Generated on: 13 April 2017

         

         

Indicator % of Customer Complaints Upheld - Stage 1 Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

# of complaints upheld # of complaints closed Value

Q4 2015/16 NA NA 16%

Current Performance Q4

# of complaints upheld # of complaints closed Value

Q4 2016/17 8 42 19%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Complaints upheld as a % 
of all stage 1 complaints 
closed in period This is 
calculated using the 
number of complaints 
upheld divided by the total 
number of complaints 
closed in the period 

Indicator Status
Green

 

25%

 

A lower % is better as we look to reduce the 
number of complaints upheld where it can be 
demonstrated that the council is at fault

19% of complaints were upheld at stage one this is significantly 
below the threshold of 25% so it represents good performance by the 
council. The council is constantly using the information it gathers 
through the complaints process to gather lessons learnt data and 
make service improvements as a result of that. The previous year’s 
figures are not available for comparison as this was before the 
council migrated to the Covalent system for managing its complaints.

32



2

Indicator % of Calls Abandoned Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

# Calls Abandoned # Calls Received Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 23.1%

Current Performance Q4

# Calls Abandoned # Calls Received Value

Q4 2016/17 1,165.667 10,406.333 11.2%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of calls that are 
answered by an 
appropriate member of 
staff from the total of calls 
offered 

Indicator Status
Amber

 

10.1%

 

A lower % is better as we look to answer more 
calls 

780 calls were transferred from the IVR system to other agencies 
(such as NCC, Flagship, DWP). 455 calls went through the new Call 
Back option. The previous year’s figures are not available for 
comparison as this was before the council migrated to the Covalent 
system

Indicator Average Wait Time in Seconds Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Total # seconds to 
answer

Total # of calls Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 169.33

Current Performance Q4

Total # seconds to 
answer

Total # of calls Value

Q4 2016/17 N/A N/A 102.33

Average Time to Answer 
Phone calls in Seconds 

    

33



3

Current Target What does good look like? Latest NoteIndicator Status
Green

 

150

 

A lower number is better as it indicates less 
time waiting for a call to be answered 

Forecasting of call trends has assisted the service to ensure sufficient 
staffing throughout the quarter and keep call waiting times under 
target, the upper threshold of which is 150 seconds.
The call management system is not able to provide a breakdown of 
the average time to answer calls

Indicator % of household waste recycled or composted Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Recycle/Compost 
Tonnage

Total Waste Collected 
Tonnage

Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 32.39%

Current Performance Q4

Recycle/Compost 
Tonnage

Total Waste Collected 
Tonnage

Value

Q4 2016/17 4051.06 11886.91 34.08%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of household waste 
which has been recycled 
and composted (includes 
garden waste) against all 
the household waste 
collected 

Indicator Status
Green

 

33.38%

 

A higher % is better as we look to recycle or 
compost more waste 

A recycle and composting rate of 34.08% is above the target of 
33.38% and an increase from last years rates. The previous year’s 
figures are not available for comparison as this was before the 
council migrated to the Covalent system

34



4

Indicator Missed Waste Collections Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Number of missed 
collections

Per 100,000 collection 
figure

Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 20

Current Performance Q4

Number of missed 
collections

Per 100,000 collection 
figure

Value

Q4 2016/17 43 2.705 16

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of missed waste 
collections per 100,000 
households 

Indicator Status
Amber

 

15

 

A lower number is better as we look to ensure 
fewer waste collections are missed 

Whilst 16 missed collections per 100,000 is amber, it does still 
represent more than 99% of collections in the quarter. The previous 
year’s figures are not available for comparison as this was before the 
council migrated to the Covalent system
 

Indicator Residual Waste per Household (kg) Trend Chart
Number of Kg’s of residual 
waste collected per 
household. Calculated by 
'residual waste collected' x 
1016.5 then divided by 
number of households 
waste has been collected 
from 

 

Same time last year

Total residual waste in 
KG

Number of households Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 43.24

Current Performance Q4

Total residual waste in 
KG

Number of households Value

Q4 2016/17 7946844.53 180551 44.02

35



5

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  Indicator Status
Red

 

 39.62

 

A lower number is better as we look to reduce 
the amount of waste sent for incineration 

The increase in residual waste has taken the indicator above its 
target, this is a trend seen in a number of districts and likely a result 
of additional work being done to reduce contaminated waste.
The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this 
was before the council migrated to the Covalent system

Indicator % Return on Cash Investment (Treasury Yield) Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 0.64%

Current Performance Q4

Actual Target Variance

Q4 2016/17 0.776% 0.315% 0.461%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

The % return received on 
cash invested

Indicator Status
Red 

 

0.34%

 

A higher number is better as we look to 
receive more return on cash invested 

The return on cash investments is above the benchmark used (3 
month LIBID - London Interbank Bid rate). This is a result of an 
expanded range of counterparties we are able to invest with and 
loans made at a market rate to partners. However monetary returns 
will reduce over time as deposits mature and are re-invested at 
current rates and this will have a negative impact on future years 
budgets.
The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this 
was before the council migrated to the Covalent system

        

36



6

 

         

Indicator Short term investment Income Forecast Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A -£288921

Current Performance Q4

Forecast Actual Budget Value

Q4 2016/17 -£272,372 -£258,010 -£15,515

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Net variance from 
expected (budgeted) 
interest expected 

Indicator Status
Red

 

-£258010

 

The higher the negative figure the better as 
this indicates more income 

The forecast income for the year is expected to be slightly over 
budget as a result of higher levels of investments for longer periods 
than budgeted. However this will be monitored closely to ensure that 
we can generate this level of income in the current period of market 
uncertainty and reduced interest rates
The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this 
was before the council migrated to the Covalent system

37



7

Indicator SERCO Net Expenditure Variance Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A -15,477

Current Performance Q4

Forecast Actual Budget Value

Q4 2016/17 £4,631,857 £4,723,610 -94,354*

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Net variance from 
expected (budgeted) 
spend - 'Significant 
Contract' Owned by 
Environmental Services

Indicator Status
Amber 

 

0

 

The lower the better, we look to be closer to 
£0 variance as then we will have budgeted 
appropriately. A negative figure shows 
underspend, a positive is overspend 

*March figures not currently reported due to end of year workCosts 
relating to the "price adjustment factor" have been agreed at lower 
rates than anticipated, however contamination costs are still to be 
agreed, so this forecast variance could change in future months.
The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this 
was before the council migrated to the Covalent system

Indicator Capita Net Expenditure Variance Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 6,764

Current Performance Q4

Forecast Actual Budget Value

Q4 2016/17 N/A N/A -28,476*

Net variance from 
expected (budgeted) 
spend - 'Significant 
Contract' Owned by 
Planning 

    

38



8

Current Target What does good look like? Latest NoteIndicator Status
Amber

 

0

 

The lower the better, we look to be closer to 
£0 variance as then we will have budgeted 
appropriately. A negative figure shows 
underspend, a positive is overspend 

*March figures not currently reported due to end of year work
This variance is due to reduced spend for "Major" applications
The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this 
was before the council migrated to the Covalent system

         

         

Indicator PFI Net Expenditure Variance Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A -99,030

Current Performance Q4

Forecast Actual Budget Value

Q4 2016/17 £1,000,953 £1,001,700 -748*

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Net variance from 
expected (budgeted) 
spend - 'Significant 
Contract' Owned by 
Community Development 
as above 

Indicator Status
Green

 

0

 

The lower the better, we look to be closer to 
£0 variance as then we will have budgeted 
appropriately. A negative figure shows 
underspend, a positive is overspend 

*March figures not currently reported due to end of year work
The variances from previous months relating to lower inflation than 
budgeted and benchmarking have been contributed to the Council's 
efficiencies for 2016-17.
This is the remaining small value variance
The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this 
was before the council migrated to the Covalent system

39



9

Indicator Staff turnover % Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Number of Leavers Number of Employees Value

Q4 2015/16 4 258 1.55%

Current Performance Q4

Number of Leavers Number of Employees Value

Q4 2016/17 11 272 4.03%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of total leavers against 
total number of staff 
employed in period 
(includes involuntary 
leavers) 
Target is 10% which has 
been benchmarked 

Indicator Status
Red

 

2.5%
 

Lower is better as we look to retain staff There were 11 leavers in the quarter which equates to 4% staff 
turnover. During the period of transformation which includes service 
reviews, it is likely that the turnover in staff may increase.

         

Indicator Cases Prevented from Homelessness per 1,000 Households Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2015/16 0.6

Current Performance Q4

Cases Prevented from 
Homelessness

District Population per 
1,000

Value

Q4 2016/17 31 60.241 0.5

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

P1E Return - Prevention 
and Relieving of 
Homelessness (No. of 
potentially homeless cases 
diverted from 
homelessness per 1,000 
households) 

 
 

 
This is not a targeted measure. The number 
does not reflect % of cases prevented from 

The team continues to work with residents to prevent homelessness

40



10

homelessness and therefore will fluctuate 
dependent upon demand to the service. 

Indicator Housing Benefit LA Error Rate Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Error expenditure Total housing benefit 
expenditure

Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 0.27%

Current Performance Q4

Error expenditure Total housing benefit 
expenditure

Value

Q4 2016/17 82,949.29 32,019,319.43 0.26%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Local Authority error in 
Housing Benefit 
overpayment Amount of 
benefits overpaid divided 
by benefits paid (% of 
overall expenditure) 

Indicator Status
Green

 

0.35%

 

Lower is better as we look to minimise the 
amount of money paid in error and reduce the 
risk of financial penalty (which occurs above 
0.48%) 

This indicator continues to remain low and provides assurance of the 
good work done to reduce error.
The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this 
was before the council migrated to the Covalent system

41



11

Indicator Net Business Rates receipts Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A £29,887,800

Current Performance Q4

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2016/17 £29,720,701 £31,566,440.00 £29,720,701.00

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Actual revenue collected in 
respect of Business Rates 
against budget

Indicator Status
Amber 

 

£30,015,755

 

Higher is better as we look to collect as much 
of the business rates debit as possible 

Collection is behind target due to large backdated appeals in respect 
of purpose built Doctors surgeries. Provision has been made in the 
accounts. The previous year’s figures are not available for 
comparison as this was before the council migrated to the Covalent 
system

42



12

Indicator Net Council Tax receipts Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A £61,140,093

Current Performance Q4

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2016/17 £65,040,092 £65,254,173.00 £65,040,092.00

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Actual revenue collected in 
respect of Council Tax 
against the amount which 
the authority has budgeted

Indicator Status
Green 

 

£64,085,074

 

Higher is better as we look to collect as much 
of the Council Tax debit as possible 

Collection rates are higher than originally budgeted and evidence the 
good work being done by the collections team.
The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this 
was before the council migrated to the Covalent system

Indicator Commercial Property Occupancy Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Total floor space let 
(sq.ft)

Total lettable space 
(sq.ft.)

Value

Q4 2015/16 99%

Current Performance Q4

Total floor space let 
(sq.ft)

Total lettable space 
(sq.ft.)

Value

Q4 2016/17 612,152.667 627,146 98%

Target is to achieve 90% 
occupancy level of the 
Council's commercial 
property (investment, non 
operational) assets which 
excludes operational 
assets 
Calculated by total floor 
space let over the total 
lettable space. 

   

43



13

Current Target  What does good look like? Latest NoteIndicator Status
Green

 

90%
 

A higher number is better as we look to rent 
out as much of the commercial property space 
as possible and increase income 

The percentage let excluding Riverside is 99%.

The percentage let including Riverside is 98%.

 

44



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Gordon Bambridge Executive Member for Growth

To: Cabinet  30th May 2017
Council 22nd June 2017

(Author: Susan Heinrich, Neighbourhood Planning Co-Ordinator

Subject: Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan - Making (adoption) of the Yaxham 
Neighbourhood Plan 

Purpose: To "make" the Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan as part of the statutory 
Development Plan for Breckland and update the district policies map with 
the relevant policies.

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet to recommend to Council:

1) To confirm that Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan is “made” as part of the statutory development 
plan for Breckland Council, as required by paragraph (4)(a) of section 38A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 

2) To publish this decision as required by paragraph (9) of section 38A of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 

3) To advised Yaxham Parish Council and any other prescribed persons about this, to meet the 
requirements of paragraph (10) of section 38A of the Town and Country Planning Act 

4) To amend the Breckland district policies map, to meet the requirements of paragraph 9 Town 
and Country (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 As Members will be aware, the Localism Act 2011 introduced the notion of Neighbourhood 
Planning.  This includes the option for Town and Parish Council’s to prepare statutory 
Neighbourhood Plan, which sets out a vision, objectives, policies and proposals to guide 
the future development of their local area.  The Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan has been 
under preparation since late 2015, and has been subject to two rounds of formal public 
consultation, followed by an independent examination.  The final stage in the process is to 
‘make’ (adopt) the Plan to bring the document into effect.  In addition, a limited number of 
minor amendments have been made to aid the accuracy of the document.

1.2 When “made” (adopted) by Breckland Council, as the Local Planning Authority, the 
Neighbourhood Plan has the status of a “Development Plan”, and therefore will need to be 
taken into account when making decisions on planning applications in the local area.  Their 
preparation is subject to the Localism Act, which made amendments to the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended) and the Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) Regulations 2012.

1.3 The Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan is the first in Breckland to have reached this final stage 
in the process, and would become one of only around 300 plans to be formally made 
nationally. 

45

Agenda Item 11



Referendum

1.4 The Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan was subject to an independent Examination between 
January and March 2017, with an oral hearing session held on 17th February.  The 
Examiner found that subject to a number of required modifications, the plan met the ‘basic 
conditions’ and recommended that it proceed to a local referendum, and the decision to 
hold the referendum was agreed on 14th March.  The referendum process for 
Neighbourhood Plans is set out in the Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) Regulations 
2012.

1.5 Paragraph 4 of the Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) Regulations, outlines the 
requirements for the dates and documents needed.  As required, the Information Statement 
and Specified Documents were published on the Council’s Neighbourhood Planning 
website page on the 22nd March and the Notice of Referendum was for published on the 
Electoral Services website page on the 27th March.  

1.6 The Specified Documents include the following:

 The Yaxham Neighbourhood Development Plan;
 Report of the independent examiner;
 A Summary of the representations submitted to the independent examiner;
 A Statement by the local planning authority that the draft plan meets the basic 

conditions and complies with the relevant legislation;
 A statement that sets out general information about town and country planning 

including neighbourhood planning and the referendum.

Making the plan

1.7 Under paragraph (4)(a) of  section 38A of the Town and Country Planning Act, when 
considering to “make” a neighbourhood plan, where “…more than half of those voting to 
have voted in favour of the plan …”, then it must be “made”, or in other words there is a 
legal duty to bring the plan into force. 

1.8 The referendum was held on the 4th May with a turnout of 58%, of which 92.03% (358) 
voted in favour of using the Plan to help decide planning applications in the neighbourhood 
area and 7.97% (31) voted against. 

1.9 Under paragraph (6) of the Act, the plan does not need to be “made” where it is considers 
that it would be incompatible with any European Union obligations or Human Rights 
conventions.  However, these issues were considered to have been met by the 
independent examiner under their assessment of one of the ‘basic conditions’ which is not 
to breach any EU obligations or any Human Right obligations.

1.10 There is also a requirement in the regulations under paragraphs 9 and 10, section 38A of 
the Town and Country Planning Act, to publicise and inform relevant persons about the 
decision that has been made.  This is repeated under Regulation 19 of the Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) Regulations 2012.

Other actions

1.11 The Town and Country (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 outlines what the 
adopted policies map must include and contain.  Specially under 9 (c) there is a 
requirement to “ … illustrate geographically the application of the policies in the adopted 
development plan”.  As set out above, the Neighbourhood Plan has the status of a “Development 
Plan”.  As such, the Council’s Policies Map inset for Yaxham will be updated to show relevant 
policies with spatial extents.

46



2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 There are two options for members to consider:

 Option 1 - Cabinet to recommend to Council to “make” the Yaxham Neighbourhood 
Plan is “made” as part of the statutory development plan for Breckland Council, as 
required by paragraph (4)(a) of section 38A of the Town and Country Planning Act 
as “…more than half of those voting to have voted in favour of the plan …”, and to 
undertake the required publication, advise the Parish Council and other prescribed 
persons and subsequently update the district policies map. 

 Option 2 - Cabinet to recommend to Council to refuse to make the Yaxham 
Neighbourhood Plan where “…it considers that the Plan would breach, or would 
otherwise be incompatible with any EU obligation or any of the Convention Rights 
(within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998).” 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is recommended that members endorse Option 1 as there was a positive vote in favour 
for making the Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan through a referendum and there is considered 
to be compliance with, rather than being incompatible, with the European obligations and 
Human Rights conventions.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The main benefit to “making” or agreeing the Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan is that it is the 
last stage in the production of the plan and it will form part of the “development plan” for the 
Breckland District, allowing the policies to be used in the determination of planning 
applications in the Parish.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 The Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan is “made”, and this decision is published and relevant 
persons advised under the requirements (paragraph (4)(a); (9) and (10)) of section 38A of 
the Town and Country Planning Act.   Also the district policies map is amended under 
paragraph of the 9 Town and Country (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

5.2.2 Once “made” the Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan will form part of the statutory “development 
plan” for the Breckland District.  Under section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, this requires that “..for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.”  

5.3 Contracts

47



5.1.2  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan meets the following corporate priorities:
 Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive
 Developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth
 Enabling stronger, more independent communities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 The costs for the activities associated with making the plan are covered by the Local Plan 
production budget. 

 
5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 The risk of not approving this neighbourhood development plan would mean that the 
council would be in breach of their legal duty.

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 There are no direct implications arising from this report. 

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications in relation to this report.  
The Plan has been subject to a range of public consultation including two required 
consultation stages (Regulation 14 and 16) of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended).

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Mattishall Ward (in respect of Yaxham Parish).

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide

48

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Susan Heinrich, Neighbourhood Planning Co-Ordinator
Telephone Number: 01362 656841
Email: Susan.Heinrich@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A – Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan
Appendix B – Updated Policies Map inset - Yaxham

49



Legend

Allocation

Settlement Boundary

Primary Frontage

Secondary Frontage

Primary Shopping Area

Town Centre

Saved Open Space Allocation

Saved Employment Allocations

Listed Buildings

4
4

44444
4

4444

Conservation Area

Nesting Site Buffer (Stone Curlew)

SPA Buffer (Stone Curlew)

General Employment Area

Sites with Planning Permission for Housing

Open Space

Special Protection Area (SPA)

Special Area of Conservation (SAC)

Ramsar

Historic Parks & Gardens

Scheduled Monuments

Ancient Woodlands

Site of Archaeological & Historical Interest

Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)

Roadside Nature Reserve

County Wildlife Site

Regionally Important Geological Site (RIGS)

Local Nature Reserve

National Nature Reserve

Flood Zone 2

Flood Zone 3a

Flood Zone 3b

Corridor of Movement

Parish

��
��

�� �� �� ��
�������� District

Thetford Area Action Plan Specific Policies
Thetford Urban Extension

!( Walking and Cycling Crossing to be Improved

GF A11 Junction Improvements (TH28)

Joe Blunt's Lane (TH11)

� � Bus interchange (TH6)

h Reserved Site for New Railway Station (TH27)

I� Thetford Railway Station (TH7)

Train Station Parking Area of Search (TH7)

!( Existing buildings in the Thetford Urban Extension (TH23)

Locally Distinctive features of the Landscape (TH21)

Green Roof Area (TH20)

Area of Main Archaeological Interest (TH18)

[� Improvements to Local Road Network (TH29)

TAAP Boundary

Walking and Cycling Network

BTO Loop Implementable now

Croxton Loop Implementable now

! ! Croxton Loop Priority

Northern Loop Implementable Now

! ! Northern Loop Priority

Southern Loop Implementable Now

! ! Southern Loop Priority

Thetford Forest Loop Implementable Now

! ! Thetford Forest Loop Priority

Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan Specific Policies

50



Yaxham

Clint Green

Depot

River  Tud Bridge

The M ill (PH)

Jubilee Park

Clint

Hill

Pond

Oaklands

Bungalow

St Peter's Church

Ponds

Yaxham Waters

Frogs Hall Farm

Allotment Gardens

Willow

Watering Farm House

Green

Yaxham House

Station Road Farm

Beech Farm

Farm

The Croft

Holiday Park

Railway Farm

Manor Farm

Mill View Farm

Def

MP.25

Well

ETL

LB

FB

TCB

ESS

Post

SB

SP

BB

48.5m

44.5m

59.1m

46.9m

45.1m

53.6m

51.8m

51.5m

51.2m

50.3m

54.6m

49.4m

50.0m

46.0m

37.2m

42.7m

43.0m

46.3m

55.8m

47.5m

47.2m

Tank

CR

GP
Rose Cottage

ED & Ward Bdy

Tennis Cour t

Cottages

Level Crossing

MP 9.75

Rectory

MP 10

Pump

El

1.22m RH

Track

War Meml

Spring

Counci l Houses

Shelter

Pinns' Lane

El Sub Sta

Sub Sta

Pumping Station

PH

Drains

Sta

Station

Und

Ruin

Path (um)

Dra in

B 1135

Tres

SALT LAKE

Lodge

ST
AT

IO
N 

RO
AD

WELL HILL

Woodstock

Hall

Tolpenni

ANDREWS WAY

Wellswood

FIELDINGS DRIVE

ST
 P

ET
ER

'S
 C

LO
SE

Pe tersfie ld

CL
OS

E

Woodlands

PRIOR'S GROVE

Roadside

Elmside
ROAD

Croft

The Yews

CUTTHROAT

LOW LANE

The Beeches

Firside

Homefield

Ampney Lodge

MILL
 LANE

Echo

NORWICH

CUTTHR OAT LANE

School

Blades

STRANTON AVENUE

NOR WICH ROAD

Paddock

STONE ROAD

Gables

Redmayes

Done

Drifters

Well House

Pendeen

Bluebells

Tynedale

Pear Tree Cottage

Croftacre

Mill Tower

Forge Ho

SPRING LANE

The Elms

Poplars

Field Cottage

The F ieldings

The

Ash

Stone Cottages

Three Gables

LA
NE

The Cedars

Cottage

St Walstan's

Rowan Lodge

Kimberley

The Old

Field House

The Stables

Look East

End

The Chimes

Lornadoone

Sycamore

DEREHAM ROAD

Rosebank

Whi te  Cottage
Oak Tree House

The Firs

Stone Cottage

Belmont

GR
EE

N 
LA

NE

Down Ampney

Osterley

Horseshoe Farm

PIN
NS

' L
AN

E

W
HI

NB
UR

GH
 R

OA
D

Greenacre

Brendon

Yeavering

GAGMAN'S LANE

Wylam

Northfields

Clintfield

Riverside Farm

Chase

House

Willow Grove

Stag Cottage

MOUSE'S LANE

Buddliea

Emmaus

Manor Lodge

Chapel Cottage

Hollies

East

Homelea

Conker Cottage

Ashbourne House

Willow House

Farmhouse

Garden Cottage

Old Blacksm iths

ELM Twin

Walnut Cottage

Th
e R

os
ar

y

Windy Brae

Wickham House

Corner House

Ashton

Folly

Lavender

Mole End

Quince

The Divot

Lane End

Kiln Cottage

Cleveland

Meadow-sweet

Home Meadow

Dunelm

Ashville

Elms Barn

Portland House

Boronia

(Track)

Clay Cottage

Tregunna

Oaks

Brandon House

Heatherdene

Glenroy

Sunnyside

Pinebanks

Hillcrest

Flin ts

Overton

CH
UR

CH
 LA

NE

Brent

Lagan House

Little  Orchard

The Curti lage

Derrydown

Blackberry Farm

Hundon Cottage

Cydonia

Clin ton H ouse

Station H ouse

Braemar

The Bungalow

Royal Oak House

Barleylands

Cornerways

Meadow View  Barn

Yarrington

Marco

Orchard Bungalow

Sundown

Haze
l House

Dunromin

Overdunit

Church Farm

Sanda

The Old Granary

Quarto

Holly Farm

Hazeldean

Caer Daun

Holly Glenn

Laure l Bank

Yaxham Barn

The Granary

Mukinge

South Haven

Park

Barn

Fir Haven

Newhaven

Sunnyview

Bil liwix Barn

Franwill

Nutkin Barn

WAY

11

White

1 to 6

1 to 15

7 to 13

Whitehouse

PETERS

Hill House

Maylodge

4

1

2

3

6

20

49

10

7

5

39

48

21

13

9

26

51

16

14

33

8

35

Fairview

Pond

Pond

Drain

ROAD

3

Farm

5

Ponds

ETL

W
HI

NB
UR

GH
 R

OA
D

Def

TCB

Drain

Pond

Pond

2

3 5

Def

9

Pond

51.8m

Drain

1

2

Dra in

Pond

Ponds

House

Drain

Dr
a in

Ponds

Pond

FB

Farm
Rive

r  T
ud

46.9m

Track

FB

Track

3

1.22m RH

GP

Yaxham

GP

Pond

Po
nd

Pond

Pond

GR
EE

N 
LA

NE

LBFB

54.6m

4

Pond

Pond

Dr
ain

Und

1

6

Und

Dra in

STONE ROAD

Pond

Pond

CUTTHR OAT LANE

Pond

Pond

Ponds

Ponds

Track

Pond

5

Pond

Und

5

Track

STONE ROAD

6

Dra in

Pond

Ponds

Pond

Drain

4

Ruin

Pond

Pond

B 1135

Ruin

Track

Track

Pond

B 1135

Pond

B 
11

35

Und

Path (um)

Dra in

1

48.5m

Pond

Pond

4

Drain

Yaxham

1

Pond

4

1

2

Drain

Pond

14

Drain

Track

1

Pond

Pond

Track

Clint Green

Pond

Pond

LB

Pond

CR

Pond

Farm

4

Pond

Hall

Pond

Pond

5

2

ST PETER'S CLOSE

Pond

21

1

Pond

Drain

Dra in

Pond

1

1

Pond

1

1

Pond

ETL

Drain

Pond

Pond

FB

CR

NORWICH ROAD

Def

48.5m

WAY

Pond

Pond

Pond

DefTra
ck

Track

Pond

Pond

Path (um)

Farm

48.5m

Pond

1

SAC
600000

600000

601000

601000

602000

602000

30
98

00

30
98

00

31
07

00

31
07

00

COPYRIGHT
This map is reproduced from Ordnance
Survey material with the permission of
Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller
of Her  Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown
copyright.   Unauthorised reproduction
infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings. Breckland
District Council licence no.100019535.
Published 2017.

Yaxham Policies Map 
Adopted May 2017

Approximate Scale 1:5000 

51



Neighbourhood Plan  
for Yaxham 

“NP4Yaxham” 
2016-2036 

 

  

   

   

 

Final “Made” Version 

June 2017 
  

52



“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com   np4yaxham@gmail.com  

 

 
 

 

 

 

53

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com   np4yaxham@gmail.com  

PREFACE 
 

The Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan (“NP4Yaxham”) has been developed during 2015 and 2016 

by the Working Group, a Sub-Committee of Yaxham Parish Council.  It was set up in 

September 2015, following public meetings in April and September 2015 and debate at 

Parish Council meetings.  The Working Group includes the Chairman of the Parish Council, 

residents from throughout the parish and includes members who worked previously on the 

very successful “Your Yaxham” Community Led Plan (CLP) in 20131.  NP4Yaxham is the direct 

successor to the CLP in taking forward the planning development of Yaxham.  It sets out the 

planning polices (“Policies”) relevant to the parish as well as the community aspirations for 

issues that cannot be controlled through the planning process, “Parish Action Points” 

(“PAP”).  The PAPs are the basis of the “Future Directions Plan” (FDP) for the Parish Council 

and others to take on the task of fulfilling the wishes expressed by Parishioners. 
 

The Plan is supported by three accompanying documents:  

1. Statement of Basic Conditions;  

2. Consultation Statement; and  

3. Evidence Base.   

These are supplemented by the website www.NP4Yaxham.com.   
 

The Neighbourhood Plan for Yaxham will form part of the development plan for Breckland 

and will help make a real difference to the future of the Parish and help shape future 

proposals for development.  It is in general conformity with the National Planning Policy 

Framework 2012 (NPPF)2, the strategic policies in the Core Strategy and Development 

Control Polices Development Plan Document (2009)” and the Breckland emerging Local 

Plan3.  The development of NP4Yaxham is supported by Yaxham Parish Council, Breckland 

District Council (as the Local Planning Authority – LPA), and Norfolk County Council as well 

as many other organisations.  It is funded solely by grants from: the “Your Yaxham” CLP, 

Yaxham Parish Charity, Locality (for the Department for the Communities and Local 

Government), and Breckland Council. 
 

The Working Group very much appreciates all the help, support and involvement of so many 

within the parish and of our ward Councillor Paul Claussen and commends this Plan.  If you 

would like any further information then please see www.np4yaxham.com, 

www.breckland.gov.uk, or email np4yaxham@gmail.comor write to the NP4Yaxham 

Working Group at the address opposite.   
 

Peter Lowings      Maggie Oechsle 

Chairman, Yaxham Parish Council   Chairman, NP4Yaxham Working Group  

                                                           
1
 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html   

2
 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk 

3
 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications  

54

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/
http://www.np4yaxham.com/
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com   np4yaxham@gmail.com  

The NP4Yaxham Team: 
 

The members of the NP4Yaxham Working Group: 

Maggie Oechsle  Chairman, Frogs Hall Farm, Cutthroat Lane, Yaxham NR19 1RG 

Ian Martin  Vice-Chairman, Yaxham House, Norwich Road, Yaxham, NR19 1RH 

Susan Martin  Treasurer, Yaxham House, Norwich Road, Yaxham, NR19 1RH 

Peter Lowings  (Chairman, Parish Council), Pinebanks, Station Road, Yaxham NR19 1RB 

David Brown  (to Feb 2016), Blackberry Farm, Norwich Road, Clint Green NR19 1RT 

Gary Davison Conker Cottage, Spring Lane, Clint Green, Yaxham NR19 1SA 

Annie Green-Armytage  (to Mar 2016) Quince Farm, Spring Lane, Clint Green, Yaxham NR19 1SA 

Richard Hughes Carrington Wood, Norwich Road, Yaxham NR19 1QZ 

Ben Mitchell 5 Norwich Road, Yaxham NR19 1RP 

Stephen Robinson Lane End, Cutthroat Lane, Yaxham NR19 1RG 

Jo Robinson  (to Dec 2015), Lane End, Cutthroat Lane, Yaxham NR19 1RG 

Jennie Smith Tregon, Norwich Road, Clint Green, Yaxham NR19 1AB 

Mike Tibbetts Wickham House, Station Road, Yaxham NR19 1RD 

 

Additional supporters/helpers: 
- Sarah Brown 
- Jackie Crisp 
- George Crummett  
- Sharon Davison 
- Ann Futter 
- Bill & Shelagh Gillons 
- Steve & Carlie Goldsmith 
- Anne Meredith 

 
- Cynthia Nisbett 
- Lizzie Oechsle 
- Paul Philips 
- Amy Robinson 
- Simon & Michelle Salter 
- Libby Smith 
- Joan Thurgill 

And many more… 

“Fresh eyes” Reviewers 
- Peter Smith  
- Rev Sally Thurgill  
- Graham Tuttle 
- Clarke Willis MBE 
- Karen Willis  
- Johanne Wright 

 

 

And a huge thank you to: 

- Yaxham Village Amenities Association (YVAA) for use of the Village Hall and Meeting 

Room, and Yaxham Primary School for use of Hall, for meetings & consultation events.; 

- YVAA, Yaxham Primary School, St Peter’s Church, Yaxham Waters’ café and shop for 

hosting “NP4Yaxham” survey “Post” boxes and copies of the Plan; 

- St Peter’s Church for the stand at Coffee Mornings in 2015, 2016 and 2017; 

- Mattishall Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group for guidance and encouragement; 

- Paul Claussen, Breckland District Councillor, Mattishall Ward, for support and guidance. 

 

Consultant Support 

- Small Fish Strategy Consultants – Mark Thomson, Melissa Burgan – www.smallfish.co.uk  

- Dick Wingate Associates – Dick Wingate – www.dwa-planning.co.uk  

 

Printing by: 

- Eastern Office Equipment – www.easternofficeequipment.co.uk  

55

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.smallfish.co.uk/
http://www.dwa-planning.co.uk/
http://www.easternofficeequipment.co.uk/


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com   np4yaxham@gmail.com  

 

Neighbourhood Plan for Yaxham 

2016-2036 

 

Structure & Content 

Page 

Index: Maps, Aerial Photos & Abbreviations    i 

Index: Planning Policies       ii 

Index: Parish Action Points     iii 

1. Introduction         1 

2. A Portrait of Yaxham Parish       7 

3. Parish Consultation Response     22 

4. Vision, Principles & Objectives    24 

5. Specific Policy & Parish Action Areas   29 

6. Strategic Planning Context     30 

7. Strategic Gaps       33 

8. Housing        37 

9. Environment       41 

10. Economic Development     50 

11. Transport        51 

12. Community Benefit      53 

13. Monitoring/Implementation: Future Directions Plan 56 
 

Documents Accompanying the Plan, see www.np4yaxham.com: 
 

1. Statement of Basic Conditions, including 

Appendix 1 LPA SEA Screening Determination 

Appendix 2 Sustainability Statement 

2. Consultation Statement – Revised December 2016, including 

Appendix 1 Regulation 14 Consultation & Responses 

Appendix 2 Previous Consultation & Responses  

3. Evidence Base/Documents Library, including 

Appendix 1 ENV3 Local Green Spaces Review &  

ENV4 Surface Water Flooding 

Appendix 2 STR1 Strategic Gaps Field Work  
 

Glossary of terms – see www.planningportal.co.uk/directory/4/a_to_z  

56

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/directory/4/a_to_z


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page i np4yaxham@gmail.com  

 

Maps            Page 
 

1.  Yaxham Civil Parish – the Neighbourhood Plan Designated Area    2 

2. Yaxham Civil Parish in Mattishall Ward of Breckland District Council    8 

3. The District of Breckland in the County of Norfolk      8 

4.  Tud River Valley        10 

5.  Yaxham LDF Settlement Boundary & Conservation Area Boundary  13 

6. Clint Green LDF Settlement Boundary      15 

7.  Pinns Corner Location        19 

8. Pinns Corner Detail        19 

9. Yaxham Limited Footpath Network      21 

10 Policy Map STR1 Yaxham Dereham Strategic Gap     35 

11i Policy Map ENV2 Conservation Area & Heritage Assets   42 

11ii Yaxham Heritage Trail        43 

12. Policy Map ENV3 Local Green Spaces Designation    47 

13. Surface Water Flood Risk Map       48 

14. Fluvial Water Flood Risk Map       48 

 

Aerial Photos         Page 

1.  View of the civil parish of Yaxham        9 

2.  The Settlement of Yaxham       14 

3. Settlement of Clint Green       15 

 

Notes:  

Copyright: For all maps and aerial photos, unless stated otherwise, the source is Parish 

Online GIS for web-mapping, data-sharing, planning and business intelligence provided via 

“Parish Online” to Yaxham Parish Council, including: ©Arial imagery-www.getmapping.com 

©Contains Ordnance Survey Data: Crown Copyright and Database Right 2016. 

Map Scale: Each Ordnance Survey map includes 1km grid-squares. 

Map Orientation: All maps have north to the top of the page unless indicated otherwise. 

 

Abbreviations Frequently Used in the Plan 

CLP - Community Led Plan, “Your Yaxham” 2013 NPG – National Planning Guidance 

CWS – County Wildlife Site NPPF – National Planning Policy 
Framework DCLG – Department  for Communities & Local 

Government PAP – Parish Action Point, not a policy 

LDF – Local Development Framework made up of 
a number of documents including three 
Development Plan Documents  

SAC – Special Area of Conservation 

SEA – Strategic Environmental Assessment 

LPA – Local Planning Authority, Breckland DC SSSI – Site of Special Scientific Interest 

LSC – Local Service Centre YVAA – Yaxham Village Amenities 
Association NP4Yaxham - Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan 

 

Glossary of terms – see www.planningportal.co.uk/directory/4/a_to_z   

57

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/directory/4/a_to_z


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page ii np4yaxham@gmail.com  

Index of Planning Policies 

If NP4Yaxham is agreed at a referendum of the Parish, these will supplement 

and become part of Breckland Local Plan. 
 

The Policies set out what will need to be taken into account by developers in making their 

planning applications, the Parish Council in commenting on those planning applications, and 

by Breckland Council when determining those planning applications and deciding whether 

or not to grant planning permission.  Only the policies have any weight when determining 

planning applications; the supporting text is for explanation; and it is only these policies that 

are assessed against the Basic Conditions. 

 

  

Policy  Name     Page 

Strategic Planning Policy STR 1 –    The Gaps between Settlements 34 

 

Housing Policy HOU 1 –  Location of New Residential  

      Development    37 

Housing Policy HOU 2 –  Housing Density   37 

Housing Policy HOU 3 –  Scale of Residential Development 38 

Housing Policy HOU 4 –  Existing Land Use   38 

Housing Policy HOU 5 –  Housing Mix    38 

Housing Policy HOU 6 –  Design      39 

Housing Policy HOU 7 –  Affordable Housing   40 

 

Environmental Policy ENV 1 – Dark Skies    41 

Environmental Policy ENV 2 –  Conservation Area & Heritage Assets 43 

Environmental Policy ENV 3 –  Green Infrastructure   46 

Environmental Policy ENV 4 –  Surface Water Management Plans 49 

Environmental Policy ENV 5 –  Sewerage Provision   49 

 

Economic Development Policy ECN 1 –  New Economic Development  50 

 

Transport Policy TRA 1 –  Traffic and sustainable transport 52 

Transport Policy TRA 2 –  Parking Provision   52 

 

Community Benefit Policy COM 1 –  Existing Parish-Based Community 

       Services    53 

Community Benefit Policy COM 2 – Developer Funding Priorities  55 

58

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page iii np4yaxham@gmail.com  

Index of Parish Action Points 

If NP4Yaxham is agreed at a Referendum of the Parish, these will be for 

consideration by  

Yaxham Parish Council, NP4Yaxham Action Group & Parish Organisations 
 

Parish Action Points cover issues about which the parish feels strongly and wishes to see 

action.  These are wider than requirements relating to future land use development.  They 

may also not be considered as strictly planning matters by Breckland.  However, many 

residents have strongly indicated the need to have services and infrastructure in place to 

meet current demands as well as the cumulative issues arising from the myriad of likely 

development in the Mattishall-Yaxham-South Dereham corridor.  Key to most of these 

issues is that they are matters that the Parish Council, or other groups within the parish, can 

work or lobby for without waiting for or requiring new planning proposals.  

 

Parish Action Points are therefore not Planning Policies and are not required to be assessed 

against the Basic Conditions.  

 

 
 

 

Action Points  Name     Page 

 

Parish Action Point PAP 1  –  Critical Infrastructure   32 

 

Parish Action Point PAP 2  – Possible Similar Strategic Gaps  

Beyond Parish Boundary  36 

 

Parish Action Point PAP 3  –  Affordable Housing   40 

 

Parish Action Point PAP 4  –  Street Lighting    41 

 

Parish Action Point PAP 5  –  Heritage Assets   44 

 

Parish Action Point PAP 6  –  Car Reduction Strategy  51 

 

Parish Action Point PAP 7  –  Community Services Outside 

 the Parish    53 

 

Parish Action Point PAP 8  –  Education    55 

 

Parish Action Point PAP 9   –  NP4Yaxham Action Group  56 

 

59

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 1 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

1 Introduction 
 

Legislative Status 

1.1 The Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan (“NP4Yaxham”) has been developed under the 

Localism Act (2011) and the subsequent Neighbourhood Planning (General) 

Regulations (2012)4, as amended, introduced to regulate the formation and approval 

of Neighbourhood Plans.   

 

1.2 A Neighbourhood Plan must be in general conformity with the NPPF5, with the Core 

Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009)”, and 

have regard to the emerging Breckland Local Plan6.  How the NP4Yaxham achieves this 

is set out in the Statement of Basic Conditions.  

 

1.3 The NP4Yaxham takes account of the knowledge and views of local residents and 

other stakeholders to deliver sustainable development.  When approved by the 

residents in a referendum its policies become part of the statutory development plan 

for decisions on planning applications for development within the designated area.  

 

Geographic area covered by the Neighbourhood Plan 

1.4 The Neighbourhood Plan Designated Area covers the whole of the civil parish of 

Yaxham as shown in Map 1 on Page 2.  NP4Yaxham Policy Maps where required 

accompany the specific policy i.e. STR1 on page 34 and ENV3 on page 46.  

 

1.5 Yaxham is the name of the civil parish and of the largest of three settlements within it.  

When the specific settlements of Yaxham, Clint Green and Brakefield Green are 

referred to then the word “settlement” is used to distinguish from the parish.  

 

The Local Planning Authority  

1.6 Yaxham civil parish lies within Breckland District in the county of Norfolk.  Breckland 

Council is the LPA.  It formally designated the Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan Area on 

17th November 20157.   

 

This Plan Does Not Bring Forward Additional Sites for Development 

1.7 This Plan does not bring forward additional sites for development. In accordance with 

NPPF paragraph 184 NP4Yaxham does not “promote less development than set out in 

the Local Plan or undermine the Strategic Policies”8.  

                                                           
4
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made as amended 

5
 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/ National Planning Policy Framework  

6
 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications  

7
 http://www.np4yaxham.com/agendas-and-minutes.html Yaxham Designation Letter 17 11 2015 

8
 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/  

60

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications
http://www.np4yaxham.com/agendas-and-minutes.html
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 2 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

Map 1 Yaxham Civil Parish boundary in blue – the Neighbourhood Plan Designated Area 

 
Source: Parish Online 2015  

N
o

rt
h

 

I<
--

--
--

--
- 

1
 k

ilo
m

et
re

--
  -

--
>I

 

61

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 3 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

 Development of the Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan 

1.8 The NP4Yaxham has been submitted by Yaxham Parish Council, which is the qualifying 

body and entitled to submit a Neighbourhood Plan for its own Parish.  It has been 

prepared by the NP4Yaxham Working Group, a sub-Committee of the Parish Council9, 

and reported regularly to the meetings of the Parish Council.  The Working Group 

comprised of 12 residents, supported, where necessary, by professional consultants, 

and has reported regularly to the Parish Council10 and to residents via reports in 

periodic Newsletters, the free thrice yearly Yaxham Village Amenities Newsletter 

delivered to every home, posters in the Parish Council Notice Boards, on the 

NP4Yaxham Website (www.np4yaxham.com)on the parish website 

(www.yaxham.com), the Village Hall website (www.yaxhamvillagehall.co.uk), and 

NP4Yaxham Facebook page, Streetlife (www.streetlife.com), Twitter and via 

information e-mails sent out to a large number of residents.  The work has involved 

developing an Evidence Base, building on the comprehensive “Your Yaxham” 

Community Led Plan (CLP) completed on 201311, reviewing national and local planning 

policies (existing and emerging), and carrying out extensive public consultation from 

September 2015 to June 2016.  Further detail on consultations can be found in the 

separate “Consultation Statement”12.   

 

The data for the Neighbourhood Plan  

1.9 Data has been collected from various sources, each of which is referenced as to 

source.  This is set out in the Evidence Base – see www.np4yaxham.com.   

 

The Plan and Supporting Documents 

1.10 In accordance with legislation, the finalised Neighbourhood Plan is accompanied by 

three supporting documents:  

1. Statement of Basic Conditions, including 

Appendix 1 LPA SEA Screening Determination 

Appendix 2 NP4Yaxham Sustainability Statement 

2. Consultation Statement – Revised December 2016 

Appendix 1 Regulation 14 Consultation & Responses 

Appendix 2 Previous Consultation & Reponses  

3. Evidence Base 

Appendix 1 ENV3 Local Green Spaces Review &  

ENV4 Surface Water Flooding 

Appendix 2 STR1 Strategic Gaps Field Work 

These documents and other information are available at www.np4yaxham.com.   

                                                           
9
 Under section 102(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended - Planning Practice Guidance, 

Neighbourhood Planning Para. 15 Ref ID: 41-015-20160211 www.planninguidance.communities.gov.uk  
10

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/agendas-and-minutes.html & http://www.yaxham.com/pages/Minutes  
11

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html Your Yaxham CLP, 2013 
12

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html   

62

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/
http://www.yaxham.com/
http://www.yaxhamvillagehall.co.uk/
http://www.streetlife.com/
http://www.np4yaxham.com/
http://www.np4yaxham.com/
http://www.planninguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://www.np4yaxham.com/agendas-and-minutes.html
http://www.yaxham.com/pages/Minutes
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 4 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

1.11 When considering development proposals, local planning authorities will take a 

positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development 

in the NPPF.  The LPA will work with applicants and the local community to find 

solutions which mean that proposals can be approved wherever possible, and to 

secure development that improves the economic, social and environmental 

conditions in the area.  Paragraph 8 of the NPPF stresses that these should not be 

undertaken in isolation because they are mutually dependent; therefore a balanced 

assessment against these three dimensions is required13. 

 

1.12 Planning applications proposing sustainable development within Yaxham Parish that 

accord with strategic development plan policies in place at the time and, where 

relevant, with policies in this Neighbourhood Plan, will be recommended for approval 

by the Parish Council, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

 

1.13 Government regulations require the LPA to undertake a Sustainability Assessment for 

the development of its emerging Local Plan to ensure that its policies support 

Sustainable Growth.  The LPA is undertaking this as part of its emerging Local Plan14.  

 

1.14 In order to demonstrate that NP4Yaxham contributes to achieving sustainable 

development, the Working Group commissioned a sustainability review of its policies, 

resulting in the Sustainability Statement, Appendix 1 of The Statement of Basic 

Conditions.  This gives consideration to the sustainability questions which form part of 

the framework for the emerging Breckland Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal.  The 

Sustainability Statement should be used for information purposes only in order to 

better understand how the NP4Yaxham represents sustainable plan-making15.  

 

1.15 The methodology used for the Sustainability Statement is based on the Sustainability 

Appraisal framework for the emerging Breckland Local Plan to guide assessment 

against the objectives set out.  Against each of the sustainability objectives, 

consideration has been given as to whether each of the NP4Yaxham policies will have 

a positive effect i.e. will help to meet the objective, no effect or an adverse effect.  

 

1.16 Most of the policies have either no effect on the sustainability objectives, or a positive 

effect.  The area where there are the most marked positive effects is within the topic 

area of cultural heritage and landscape, and this is due to the fact that the majority of 

the Neighbourhood Plan’s policies focus on maintaining the character and landscape 

setting of the parish as protecting these assets is the predominant focus of the plan.  

                                                           
13

 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/  
14

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications  
15

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/statement-of-basic-conditions.html Appendix 2 Sustainability Statement 

63

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications
http://www.np4yaxham.com/statement-of-basic-conditions.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 5 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

1.17 The conclusion of this review is that the NP4Yaxham does demonstrate that it 

contributes to sustainable development. 

 

Strategic Environmental Assessment 

1.18 “There is no legal requirement for a neighbourhood plan to have a sustainability 

appraisal as set out in section 19 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  

However, a qualifying body must demonstrate how its plan or order will contribute to 

achieving sustainable development.  A sustainability appraisal may be a useful 

approach for doing this and the guidance on sustainability appraisal of Local Plans 

should be referred to.” 16 

 

1.19 Breckland District Council has consulted on NP4Yaxham Draft Policies and provided a 

“Neighbourhood Planning Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening Report” as 

to whether the NP4Yaxham requires a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA).  The 

full Report is included in the Statement of Basic Conditions.  It concludes as follows:  

“6.4. Having reviewed the criteria, the [Breckland] Council has concluded that the 
emerging Neighbourhood Plan for Yaxham is not likely to have any significant 
environmental effect and accordingly will not require a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment.  The main reasons for this conclusion are:  

   The Neighbourhood Plan for Yaxham does not allocate any sites for development.  

  The Neighbourhood Plan for Yaxham seeks to avoid or minimise environmental 
effects when determining development proposals.  

  The Neighbourhood Plan for Yaxham is unlikely to affect any designated sites in 
the vicinity or lead to other environmental effects.” 

 

Five Year Land Supply 

1.20 The NP4Yaxham Working Group is aware that the Government expects councils, such 

as Breckland District Council, to have a continuing five years supply of housing land 

with planning permission.  In order to assist in making decisions on housing proposals, 

Breckland District Council has adopted the following approach:  
 

“.....Paragraphs 47 and 49 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) state 
that where an authority does not have an up to date five year housing land supply (at 
present the District figure is 3.3 years), the relevant local policies for the supply of 
housing as referred to above should not be considered up-to-date and that housing 
applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. 
 

The Government defines sustainable development as having three dimensions. These 
dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles: 
- economic, in terms of building a strong economy and in particular by ensuring that 
sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places; 

                                                           
16

 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/  Planning Practice Guidance - Strategic environmental 
assessment and sustainability appraisal, Paragraph: 027 Reference ID: 11-027-20150209 

64

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 6 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

- social, by supporting, strong vibrant and healthy communities by providing the supply 
of housing required to meet future need in a high quality environment with accessible 
local services, and;  
- environmental, through the protection and enhancement of the natural, built and 
historic environment.  
Paragraph 8 of the NPPF stresses that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation 
because they are mutually dependent; therefore a balanced assessment against these 
three dimensions is required..................” 17 

 

Planning Policies and Parish Action Points 

1.21 The core of a Neighbourhood Plan is the planning policies.  These set out what will 

need to be taken into account by: developers in making their planning applications; 

the Parish Council, in commenting on those applications; and by Breckland Council 

when determining those planning applications and deciding whether or not to grant 

planning permission.  

 

1.22 Only the policies have any weight when determining planning applications; the 

supporting text is for explanation and it is only these policies that are assessed against 

the Basic Conditions.  

 

1.23 In addition to the Planning Policies it became clear during the consultations with the 

parish that issues connected with planning matters should be raised.  The NP4Yaxham 

therefore includes what we have termed “Parish Action Points” (PAP).  These cover 

issues about which the parish feels strongly and wishes to see action.  These are wider 

than requirements relating to future housing development.  They may also not be 

considered as strictly planning matters by Breckland.  However, many residents have 

strongly indicated the need to have services and infrastructure in place to meet 

current demands as well as the cumulative issues arising from the myriad of likely 

development in the Mattishall-Yaxham-South Dereham corridor.  

 

1.24 Key to most of these issues is that they are matters that the Parish Council, or other 

groups within the parish, can work or lobby for without waiting for or requiring new 

planning proposals.  These are for the consideration of Yaxham Parish Council and 

other parish organisations to take forward.  The final section of NP4Yaxham proposes 

the creation of the NP4Yaxham Action Group to help facilitate this process.  Parish 

Action Points are therefore not Planning Policies and are not required to be assessed 

against the Basic Conditions.   

                                                           
17

 www.breckland.gov.uk  

65

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 7 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

2 A Portrait of the Parish of Yaxham 
 

Setting the Context 

2.1 Yaxham is a small rural parish situated in the district of Breckland in mid Norfolk.  Map 

1 shows the boundaries of the civil parish which also represent the Neighbourhood 

Plan designated area.  Map 2 sets the civil parish in relation to its immediate 

neighbours within Breckland District and Map 3 shows Breckland at the centre of the 

county.  In part, the centrality of Yaxham explains part of its attraction to residents 

and its popularity with tourists to explore the wider county.  

 

2.2 The parish is situated in open agricultural countryside, on the northern end of the 

Brecks, which is highly valued and extensively used by residents.  The small rural 

agricultural nature of the parish is clearly shown in Aerial Photo 1.  The population 

recorded in the Census of 2011 was of some 772 individuals, within 340 households18.  

Subsequent small scale in-fill development has increased the number of households to 

around 360 (based on YVAA newsletter deliveries).  A mile to the north is the market 

town of Dereham (parish and town boundaries abut).  The parish is bisected 

north/south by the B1135 Wymondham Road and east/west by the Norwich Road.  

Norwich is approximately 15 miles to the 

east, with the market town of 

Wymondham 9 miles to the south and 

the large village of Mattishall 3 miles to 

the east.  The privately run Mid-Norfolk 

Railway (MNR) runs trains from Dereham 

to Wymondham Abbey through Yaxham 

Station, on the old Norfolk Railways line 

first opened in 185719. 
 

2.3 The civil parish of Yaxham comprises three settlements – the village of Yaxham and 

the two hamlets of Clint Green and Brakefield Green.  The settlement of Yaxham lies 

in the north west of the parish with some 205 dwellings (Map 5, Aerial Photo 2).  The 

settlement of Clint Green in the north east of the Parish with some 105 dwellings 

(Map 6, Aerial Photo 3).  The much smaller settlement of Brakefield Green, some 6 

dwellings, is in the south-east corner of the parish.  The balance of the remaining 

dwellings are (or were) individual farmsteads.  Aerial Photo 1 illustrates the sparsely 

populated countryside that makes up the centre and most of the parish, surrounding 

small focused settlements.  

                                                           
18

 www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/resource/view?resourceId=1261  Yaxham Parish Profile Code E04006196 and at 
http://www.np4yaxham.com/evidence-base-documents.html  
19

 www.mnr.org.uk  

MNR Yaxham Railway Station 

66

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/resource/view?resourceId=1261
http://www.np4yaxham.com/evidence-base-documents.html
http://www.mnr.org.uk/


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 8 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

Map 2 Yaxham Civil Parish in Mattishall Ward of Breckland District Council 

 
Source: www.Breckland.gov.uk 

 

2.4 Yaxham is clearly distinct from Dereham and villages such as Mattishall to the east, 

Westfield to the west and Whinburgh to the south.  Yaxham has limited services, but 

has access to more in the neighbouring Dereham and Mattishall.  
 

Map 3 The District of Breckland in the County of Norfolk 

 
Source: Ordnance Survey, 2009 

Boundary Key: 

Ward    

Parish 

District 

Yaxham 

BRECKLAND 

Yaxham 

North 

North 

67

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 9 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

Aerial Photo 1. View of the civil parish of Yaxham (Boundary Marked in Blue) 

A small rural parish comprising three small settlements set in sparsely populated 

open countryside 

 

68

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 10 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

2.5 In 2013 the parish undertook the “Your Yaxham” CLP20 which has provided much of 

the foundation for the Neighbourhood Plan.  The Working Group has consulted widely 

and this input forms the basis of the Plan.  The portrait of the parish gives a factual 

snap-shot of the make-up of the community.  This sets the vision of how Yaxham sees 

itself and how Yaxham wishes to develop during the Plan period – 2016-2036 – and 

from this flows the objectives and principles that govern the approach to the planning 

policies, significant statements and parish action points.  Finally, the future 

implementation and monitoring of the Plan is set out.  
 

Map 4 – Indication of The Tud River Valley Boundaries (green) north of Yaxham 

    
 

2.6 Defining the River Tud Valley in Map 4 is based on contour lines.  The river descends 

from 45m in the west to 35m in the east on the map.  The indicative boundaries of the 

Tud River Valley shown here broadly follow declining contour lines.  Whilst the true 

fluvial watersheds are further apart these contours give an indication of where the 

inclines become more pronounced down to the river itself.   

 

2.7 The northern and southern river valley boundaries are indicated on Map 4 in green 

and are derived as follows:  
RB1 – is the northern indicative boundary starts in the west at the 55m contour, skirts 

existing settlement of Dereham and then follows the 50m contour line and descends 

to the 45m contour line past Dumpling Green. 

RB2 – is the southern indicative boundary line starts at the 50m contour line and skirts 

the existing settlement of Yaxham round to the Norwich Road and on to the 45m 

contour line past Clint Green and then to the 40m contour line past Mattishall. 

                                                           
20

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html Community Led Plan, 2013  

I---1 kilometre--->I 

69

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 11 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

2.8 The Tud Valley to the north of Yaxham (see Map 4) is particularly important to the 

parish, representing a green gap of open farmland preserving the highly prized clear 

identity of Yaxham as a small, but vibrant rural community in its own right and not a 

suburb of nearby Dereham its much larger neighbour 21.  The valley is also ecologically 

important as it includes a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) at Badley Moor, part 

of the Norfolk Valley Fen Network Special Area of Conservation (SAC).  In addition 

there are a number of County Wildlife Sites (CWS) within the valley.  CWS’s are 

areas of land recognised as being, at least, of county importance for their nature 

conservation value; this is defined by the presence of important, distinctive and 

threatened habitats and species.  The areas in the Tud River Valley that falls within the 

Parish of Yaxham include: pasture south of Watering Farm (CWS 2168), Manor Farm 

Marsh (CWS 662), and “Look East” Orchard (CWS 2200)22.   

 

2.9 To the south there is the ancient woodland of Yaxham Wood which is another CWS 

(2039).  Various trees within the Parish are covered by Tree Preservation Orders 

(TPO)23.  To the East, between the settlements of Clint Green and Mattishall, there are 

SSSI’s at Mattishall Moor and Rosie Curston’s Meadow.  These areas are of national 

importance and designated based on their nature conservation/geological value24.  

 

2.10 To preserve the rural ‘feel’ the area is uncluttered by street furniture and signs, and 

there are no street lights.  This has helped to conserve its essentially rural character, 

and to preserve the dark skies of Norfolk25.  There has been little development outside 

the two main settlements in order to preserve the impressive open rural and 

agricultural nature.  Likewise the similar open countryside exists to the east and 

represents a clear geographical and visual break with the much larger village of 

Mattishall.  In turn the clear break between the two main settlements of Yaxham and 

Clint Green is prized for the open rural nature of the area and the feeling of space 

within the civil parish.  

 

2.11 The surrounding landscape is gently rolling and, due to its relatively elevated position 

and predominantly arable land cover, is open with good long range views.  It is 

characterised by well contained dispersed settlements and the presence of a 

distinctive field and water drainage pattern delineated by hedgerows.  The area is 

vulnerable to losing its character as a result of sprawl from Dereham and insensitive 

development not respecting the historic built character, and there is the risk that 

future loss of vegetation such as hedgerows would open up the landscape further.  
                                                           
21

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html  
22

 http://www.nbis.org.uk/CWS, 
http://www.nbis.org.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Designated_WildlifeSites_2015_600dpi.pdf , 
http://www.nbis.org.uk/sites/default/files/documents/CWSinBreckland2013.pdf 
23

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/breckland-council.html Breckland Tree Preservation & Conservation 
24

 Joint Nature Conservation Committee, 2015 http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-23  
25

 Light Pollution as a Statutory Nuisance: A How to Guide, 2010, Campaign to Protect Rural England 

70

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html
http://www.nbis.org.uk/CWS
http://www.nbis.org.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Designated_WildlifeSites_2015_600dpi.pdf
http://www.nbis.org.uk/sites/default/files/documents/CWSinBreckland2013.pdf
http://www.np4yaxham.com/breckland-council.html
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-23


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 12 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

2.12 Up to the mid-1960’s Yaxham was a small largely agricultural community.  The 

predominant reason for living in Yaxham was that you were employed in farming in 

Yaxham or worked in nearby Dereham which had a significant manufacturing base 

with Hobbies, Crane Fruehauf and Metamec which employed hundreds of local 

people.  Employment has changed significantly, is more wide-ranging, from one-

person home-based activities to a couple of small local businesses, farming and 

commuting (as far afield as Cambridge)26.  

 

2.13 Since the mid ‘60’s planned changes have doubled the size of Yaxham.  There was 

estate development in the 1960’s; the Council built St Peter’s Close in 1966, and the 

privately built Elm Close adjacent to The Elms around 1969.  There has also been 

extensive infill and conversion of farm and other buildings since.  In addition, there is a 

significant range in housing tenure, types of housing and economic standing.27 

 

2.14 The 2013 CLP identified the major changes that the parish had gone through in recent 

decades.  Perhaps the most striking fact was that almost half the residents had lived in 

Yaxham for less than 10 years, whilst more than a third, had lived here for more than 

25 years with a number born-and-bred within the parish and its immediate vicinity.  

This in itself goes a long way to explain many of the stresses and strains within the 

community as long-term residents have seen huge changes in the make-up of the 

parish and may be more reticent about further change, whilst most recent residents 

may come with new ideas and ways of doing things28.  

 

The Built Environment - 

Development over time 

2.15 The settlement of Yaxham was 

centred on the area around St 

Peter’s Church which dates, in part, 

to Saxon times.  This is adjoining the 

north-south Dereham-Wymondham 

Road, and east-west Norwich Road 

between Westfield and Mattishall. 

 

2.16 Yaxham is home to 5 listed buildings and a listed table tomb, most of which are 

contained within the Conservation Area which centres on St Peter’s Church (Grade I 

listed), dating in part to Saxon times (British Listed Buildings, 2016).  Its fine round 

tower marks it out as one of Norfolk’s 100 round tower churches (Norfolk Round 

Tower Churches, 2015).  Within the Church yard to the south-west corner of the porch 

                                                           
26

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html  
27

 www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/resource/view?resourceId=1261 Yaxham, E04006196, 
28

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html Community Led Plan 

St Peter's Church 

71

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html
http://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/resource/view?resourceId=1261
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 13 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

is the “Table Tomb” (18th Century – Grade II Listed) with fielded stone panels and 

Baroque corner pallisters.  Close by is Willow Farm House (late medieval with 16th and 

17th Century additions – Grade II listed), Baronia Cottage (1611 – Grade II listed).  

Yaxham House (1820 – Grade II listed) is the Rectory built by the Rev “Johnny” 

Johnson, cousin of William Cowper29.    
 

Map 5 Yaxham LDF Settlement Boundary (red) & Conservation Area Boundary (            ) 30 

 
2.17 Between the two main settlements is Yaxham Mill.  Historically this was the centre of 

the milling of cereals for the parish.  Yaxham tower mill was built by William Critoph in 

1860.  The 48 foot, six storey tarred tower had a 

ground diameter of 20 feet that narrowed by 2 

feet per floor culminating with an ogee cap and a 

ball finial.  The four double shuttered sails drove 

3 pairs of under-driven stones.  In its heyday the 

mill was providing flour to the adjacent bakery.  

The site included workers' cottages, the bakery 

and the miller's house (Norfolk Windmills, 2015).  

The mill and its buildings are now split between 

holiday cottages, a pub/restaurant (closed and 

for sale for over a year, and so has an uncertain 

future, but registered as a Community Asset) and 

bed and breakfast – the latter being centred on 

the mill itself, an iconic building on Yaxham’s skyline31.  

                                                           
29

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/np4y-documents.html Yaxham Heritage Register 
30

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications - Site Specific Policies & 
Proposals DPD 2012 

Yaxham Mill c 1900 

North 

St Peter’s 

The  
Elms 

Yaxham House 
Church Room 
Village Hall Willow 

Farm 

Baronia 
Cottage 

MNR Yaxham 
Station 

Recreation 
Field 

72

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/np4y-documents.html
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 14 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

2.18 Yaxham Station opened on 15th February 1847 at the height of “Railway Mania”.  This 

line, running north-south between Dereham and Wymondham led to the 

development of housing along Station Road and around the Railway Station32.  
 

Aerial Photo 2: The Settlement of Yaxham 

 
 

2.19 Yaxham has a high proportion of brick-built residences, with newer properties being 

constructed using more modern methods.  Limited estate development has occurred 

in the Parish.  The first was the Council built St Peter’s Close, 1966, and the second 

privately built Elm Close adjacent to The Elms around 1969.   

 

2.20 In Clint Green (see Map 6, Aerial Photo 3) there is the clear linear development of 

cottages and individual properties fronting the Norwich Road running east to 

Mattishall.  The exceptions to this are Well Hill running to the south and Paper Street 

to the north.  The majority of building in Clint Green has taken place since the 1960s33.  

 

2.21 Brakefield Green is the smallest of the settlements, comprising some 6 dwellings 

developed around Holland’s Hall (Grade II*) dating from late 16th Century. 

 

2.22 In general, less than 10% of the homes are outside the three main settlements34.   
 

                                                                                                                                                                                     
31

 http://www.norfolkmills.co.uk/Windmills/yaxham-towermill.html  
32

 www.mnr.org.uk  
33

 Land Use Consultants, 2007 
34

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html Community Led Plan, 2013 

73

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.norfolkmills.co.uk/Windmills/yaxham-towermill.html
http://www.mnr.org.uk/
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 15 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

35

 
 

Aerial photo 3: Settlement of Clint Green 

 
 

2.23 Within the whole of the Parish smaller developments have taken place on a more 

piecemeal basis such as at Stranton Avenue, Peters Way and Andrews Close.  Outside 

these areas most other properties are centred on local farms, or are infill36.  

                                                           
35

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications  - Site Specific Policies & 
Proposals DPD 2012 

Map 6 Clint Green LDF Settlement Boundary (red) 

North 

Yaxham Primary 

School 

74

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 16 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

2.24 The housing stock shows a wide range of styles and sizes, with: 51% detached homes, 

26% semi-detached homes, 8% terraced homes, 4% flats (converted granary) and 1% 

mobile home.  79% of dwellings are privately owned (above the Breckland and 

national averages).  There are few privately rented properties (7% versus 15% 

nationally) with social housing managed primarily by Peddars Way Housing 

Association, part of the Flagship Housing Group, accounting for 11% of the housing 

stock (although all bar 2 of the 46 units are in the settlement of Yaxham i.e. 22% of the 

dwellings in Yaxham settlement are social housing).  Although the most common type 

of dwelling is 3 bedroomed (39%), Yaxham has a high proportion of 4 or more 

bedroomed houses (30% versus 22% for Breckland).  The proportion of one and two 

bedroomed dwellings (31%) is lower than the Breckland average of 34%37. 

 

2.25 There is an increasing risk of surface water flooding in and around the parish road and 

lanes network, with run off from fields and un-cleared ditches being a contributory 

factor, as witnessed again during the rains in July 2016 with key roads flooded and 

unpassable38.  There is risk as to sewerage capacity.  There are a high number of 

private sewerage systems – cesspits, septic tanks and bio-disk systems serving many 

private houses.  Such systems require regular emptying and maintenance, and run the 

significant risk of inundation at times of high levels of surface and groundwater, 

potentially leading to the contamination of drainage ditches and water courses.  This 

issue is considered a serious concern relating to future development39. 

 

2.26 The Parish experiences little crime: most residents, 99.2%, feel safe living here40. 

 

People 

2.27 Compared to elsewhere in Breckland and nationally there is a high proportion of 

retired people – 25% are over 65 compared with a Breckland average of 21%.  

Conversely, the parish has a lower proportion of children: 0-4 years of age 5% versus 

6% nationally, 5-15 years of age 13% versus 17.7% nationally.  The largest disparity 

versus national figures is in 15-29 year olds with a figure of 12% versus 18% in 

Breckland and 20% nationally.  This may be partly explained by the higher than 

average retired population who do not have young children41. 

 

2.28 The ethnic mix of the Parish shows 99% of the Parish are classified as British, with 99% 

having English as their first language and 97% were born in the UK. 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                     
36

  http://www.breckland.gov.uk/content/document-library-publications Preferred Directions Part 1 2015 
37

 www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/resource/view?resourceId=1261 Yaxham, E04006196, 
38

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-1-env3--env-4-review.html  ENV3 Surface Water Flooding 
39

 Environmental Maps - Yaxham Parish http://www.magic.gov.uk/, http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-1-
env3--env-4-review.html ENV3 Surface Water Flooding 
40

http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html, Community Led Plan, 2013 
41

 www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/resource/view?resourceId=1261 Parish Profile, Yaxham, E04006196, 

75

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/content/document-library-publications
http://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/resource/view?resourceId=1261
http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-1-env3--env-4-review.html
http://www.magic.gov.uk/
http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-1-env3--env-4-review.html%20ENV3
http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-1-env3--env-4-review.html%20ENV3
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html
http://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/resource/view?resourceId=1261


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 17 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

2.29 The predominant religion is Christianity with 73% professing to be Christian, the Parish 

is served by St Peter’s Church and the Congregational Chapel in Clint Green42.  

 

Facilities and Economic life 

2.30 The Village Hall and Recreation Field are on land on a long lease (999 years) from the 

Diocese of Norwich and managed by the Trustees of the Yaxham Village Amenities 

Association (YVAA), of which all 

residents are members.  Many of 

the parish’s active clubs and 

societies hold their meetings and 

events in the Village Hall, 

including: the WI (Women’s 

Institute), Good Companions, and 

lace making group.  It is also hired 

on a regular basis by outside 

organisations such as the Farm Machinery Club and The Poultry Club all meet 

regularly.  The Hall is often used for parties, wedding and funeral receptions, fund 

raising events and coffee mornings. It is also used as a polling station.  There are 

regular table tennis, Tumble Tots, keep-fit and Pilates classes.   

 

2.31 The Village Hall is at the edge of the Recreation Field – a much valued green resource 

within the parish.  During the season, football is played most weeks and during the 

summer many community events take place including vintage engines, car-boot sales, 

the Big Lunch picnic and many more besides. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.32 By the Village Hall is the children’s play-

area which provides a safe external play 

area for children.  This is popular and 

much used, but is showing its age and is 

in need of modernising.  

  

                                                           
42

 http://www.dioceseofnorwich.org/financefiles/parish%20statistics/260304.pdf Getting to Know your Parish 

Yaxham Village Hall 

The Recreation Field    The Big Lunch Picnic 2015 

The Children's Play Area 

76

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.dioceseofnorwich.org/financefiles/parish%20statistics/260304.pdf


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 18 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

2.33 The Trustees of the Village Hall have plans for:  

 A new improved play area, replacing the current play space, planned to include: Flexi 

Swing, Multi-Play System, Switchback Run, Bigfoot Crossing and Junior Comet 

Roundabout.  The cost for this project is estimated to be £30,000 to £40,000. 

 A new “Trim Trail” at the Jubilee Field, Yaxham which is estimated at £65,000. 

 A new Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) The new “MUGA” would provide an area for a 

number of sports such as tennis, mini-tennis and netball43.  The cost for this project is 

estimated at around £100,000. 

 

2.34 It is intended that funds will be raised from grants and donations, and from property 

developers.  In the future plans may be considered to provide additional changing 

room facilities at the Village Hall for sports activities.  

 

2.35 The Church Room, adjacent to the Village Hall, which is held on a long lease (999 

years) from the Diocese of 

Norwich, is currently being 

renovated by the YVAA 

Trustees to provide a much 

needed smaller community 

meeting place44.  The 

anticipated cost of the 

renovation work alone is in 

excess of £200,000, with 

additional funding required 

for fixtures, fittings and 

equipment.  The Trustees 

are working to achieve Grant funding and will be launching a fund raising campaign.  

Once completed it will be used to host drop-in sessions for local residents, computer 

classes and smaller family events.   

 

2.36 Between Yaxham and Clint Green on the Norwich Road there is a small area of open 

land at Pinns Corner – see Maps 7 and 8.  This area lies at the centre of the parish 

rights of way network linking the three settlements of Yaxham, Clint Green and 

Brakefield Green.  In the last eight years the Yaxham Woodland Group has managed 

this land, on behalf of the Parish Council, to encourage wild native flora and fauna.  It 

has become a much valued community resource with activities at the site taking place 

every month including hedge-laying, wood-working, tree planting etc. for all age-

groups from school-age to more senior citizens45.   

                                                           
43

 http://www.sportengland.org/media/125397/multi-use-games-areas-part-one.pdf  
44

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html Community Led Plan, 2013 
45

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-1-env3-local-green-space-review.html Local Green Spaces Review 

The Church Room  

77

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.sportengland.org/media/125397/multi-use-games-areas-part-one.pdf
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html
http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-1-env3-local-green-space-review.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 19 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

Map 7 Pinns Corner - Location 

 

Map 8 Pinns Corner – Detail  

 
 

 

2.37 The parish primary school is the Yaxham Church of England (VA) Primary School.  It is 

situated in Clint Green and is the first 

choice for parents resident in Yaxham46.  

As a Church School, with a reputation for 

SEN (Special Educational Needs), it draws 

its pupils from a significantly wider area 

than the parishes of Yaxham and 

Whinburgh set out in its founding 

document.  The Primary School is currently 

reached its nominal capacity of 105 in September 201647.  At 105 pupils on roll it is at 

maximum capacity within guidelines for the 0.51Ha site48. 

                                                           
46

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html Appendix 2 Primary School Parent Consultation, 
December 2015 -  
47

  http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html Appendix 2 Yaxham Primary School Consultation 
Response, November 2015  
48

 Norfolk County Council submission to Breckland emerging Plan Consultation, January/February 2016, 
www.breckland.gov.uk 

The Primary School 

78

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 20 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

2.38 Although at capacity, Norfolk County Council, the Diocese of Norwich and the 

Governing Body do not support the expansion of the school.  The school’s planned 

annual admission number is 12.  The County Council said in its Local Plan submission 

(February 2016) “The forecasts are stable and indicate that catchment residents 

equate to around 10 per annual cohort.” and that “An additional development of 52 

dwellings would generate approximately 2 pupils in each cohort”.  On the face of it, 

the construction of 52 new dwellings after March 2015 would appear to be the limit 

that the school could sustain, without additional capacity forthcoming.49 

 

2.39 As the Governors have stated, their education policy is:  

“To support children in fully reaching their potential by providing educational facilities 

that support the needs of a growing population.  Yaxham has a Voluntary Aided 

Primary School that currently meets the needs of the village it serves.  The school 

supports a plan of sustainable growth appropriate to serve the village and the children 

from the catchment areas.  Housing and other development will be expected to 

contribute towards any improvements to the current education provision.”50 

 

2.40 Compared to the rest of Norfolk, a high proportion of Yaxham’s residents are 

economically active, in full or part time work, with an unemployment rate of below 

4%.  A number work in agriculture on local farms, or in other local businesses, with a 

few commuting as far as other market towns, to Norwich or Cambridge.  There is a 

significant number of businesses based in Yaxham – some 40 identified – around 1 

house in 10 is the base for a business.  Of these 10 are farmers farming land in the 

parish.  Of the non-farming businesses only 1 employs more than a couple of full-time 

staff (Yaxham Waters), whilst 26 are sole traders providing services ranging from local 

to national51.  

 

2.41 The main constraint for such businesses is the availability of high-speed broadband.  

Properties close to the BT Openreach junction box at the junction of Station Road (Box 

Number 30) and Dereham Road can access broadband download speeds of up to 38 

Mbps, and some up to 72 Mbps.  However, much of the parish experiences much 

slower speeds and many below 10 Mbps (considered to be the minimum level 

required) or even less than 2 Mbps.  This is seen by the residents as a major constraint 

on social and educational life and a key constraint on the economic development and 

prosperity (NP4Yaxham, 2015).  The advent of the EE mast in Toftwood has provided 

EE customers 4G and superfast (c. 40Mbps) in part of the parish52.  

 

                                                           
49

 Norfolk County Council submission to Breckland emerging Plan Consultation, January/February 2016. 
www.breckland.gov.uk  
50

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html  Governors’ Letter, April 2016 
51

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html Appendix 2 Business Survey, Jan/Feb 2016 
52

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html Appendix 2 Broadband Survey, March 2016 

79

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-other-documents.html
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 21 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

2.42 There is a poor environment for walking, with a limited network of footpaths and 

bridleways (Map 9 below), limited pavements and no facility for cyclists (Ordnance 

Survey, 2015).  Although walking is relatively popular, few people walk between the 

two settlements or to work.  This is principally because of the level and speed of traffic 

cutting through the parish to bypass congestion on the A47.  Whilst, the speed limit in 

the two settlements is 30mph (and 20mph as an advisory limit at the school), the 

speed limit entering/exiting and between the two settlements is 60mph.  The back 

lanes around the parish, no matter how narrow, also have their speed limits set at 

60mph.  This is a major concern of residents and explains much of the residents’ 

reluctance to walk or cycle, as well as the desire to see pavements and potentially 

cycle-paths to adjoining settlements53.  A proportion of parents with children at the 

Primary School have indicated their willingness to park at the Village Hall or at Pinns 

Corner and then walk to the school, if the pavements were cleared and speed limits 

reduced.  Any reduction in car use could also assist the car parking and traffic 

congestion at the primary school at the start and close of the school day54.  
 

Map 9 Limited Footpath Network (Footpaths in red, Parish boundary in blue) 

 
 

2.43 There is a regular bus service to Norwich, with three stops along the road from the 

parish boundary with Dereham, through to the boundary with Mattishall, although 

relatively few residents use the bus to get to work, principally in Norwich.  

Unhelpfully, the final bus from Norwich departs at 6.30pm.  By far the preferred way 

to travel to work is by car, and 92% of residents have access to a car, or a van55.   

                                                           
53

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html Appendix 2 Compendium of Surveys 
54

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html Appendix 2 Parents Survey, December 2015 
55

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html  Appendix 2 Compendium of Surveys 

North 

I<-----1 kilometre--->I 

Footpaths (FP) 

1 Mouses Bridge 

2 Clint Green to 
Cutthroat Lane 

3 Mill Lane to Low Lane 

4 St Peter’s to FP3 

5 Norwich Road to 
Whinburgh Road 

7 Brakefield Green 

CRF – Carriage Road 
Footpaths: 

8 Green Lane 

9 Pinns Lane 

10 Mouses Lane 

FP1 

FP2 

FP3 FP4 

FP5 

CRF8 

CRF9 
CRF10 

FP7 

80

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 22 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

3 Parish Consultation Response 
 

3.1 The NP4Yaxham Working Group has from the outset been very keen to reflect the 

views of residents.  The Community Led Plan questionnaire was delivered to every 

household and achieved a response rate of 76%56.  This provided a strong indicator of 

many of the issues 

concerning the residents – 

and many of these fall 

within the development of 

Yaxham.  These have been 

updated and issues were 

tested at parish 

consultation events in 

November and December 

2015, in January 2016 and 

in numerous surveys with 

up to around 30% of the 

parish regularly participating and commenting.  The NP4Yaxham Working Group 

analysed the responses from the various rounds of consultation.  The detailed findings 

and consultation responses can be found in the accompanying Consultation 

Statement57.  The following highlights reflect Yaxham residents’ express preferences: 

 

a) Protecting and enhancing the small rural nature of the parish was seen as the biggest 

aim of residents (98%).  There was strong concern at moves to urbanise our rural 

parish, with opposition to street-lighting (89%), traffic refuges (97%) and additional 

signage (98%). 

b) Ensuring that Yaxham maintains its distinct character and independence from the 

much larger urban market town of Dereham was viewed as important.  Support for 

the maintenance of the open visual geographical vista of the Tud River Valley between 

Yaxham and Dereham (92%), and discouraging the coalescence between Yaxham from 

Dereham (93%). 

c) Homes for young families and the retired were seen as the most important housing 

type needed.  A majority, (91%) felt these should be within a mixed environment of 

family homes, including the provision of affordable homes (46%), there was little 

appetite for apartments or flats (5%).  There was a general preference for small scale 

development (98%), up to 10 homes, rather than larger scale developments, and that 

density should reflect the immediate area and generally be no greater than 17.5 per 

ha (7 per acre) (95%). 

                                                           
56

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html Other Documents, Community Led Plan, 2013 
57

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html & Appendix 2 Compendium of Surveys 

Consulting on emerging policies... 

81

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 23 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

d) The lack of provision of adequate new local facilities to cope with a growing 

population is a concern.  There is a need for the sustainable development of the 

Primary School, Pre-School provision, access to GP surgeries and dentists, sewerage, 

potable water, superfast speed broadband, and mobile phone coverage.  

e) In terms of infrastructure for supporting housing growth, the most vital were medical 

facilities (87%), mobile phone signal (70%) and broadband (50%). 

f) For the economic future of the parish, as well as the community, the provision of 

superfast broadband and comprehensive mobile phone coverage for the whole parish 

was seen as very important. 

g) With regard to new employment smaller businesses were preferred over larger ones, 

with strong support especially for home-based businesses (87%).  

h) The need to address the traffic volume and speed of traffic within the parish was 

considered vital, with residents hoping to see a reduction in level and speeds of traffic 

through the parish (100%).  It was hoped to minimise traffic from new developments 

by encouraging greater use of public transport and walking (74%).  An improved road 

layout at the “Tesco Roundabout”, where access to Dereham was seen as already dire, 

was hoped for ahead of the advent of the proposal for 1,000-2,000 more homes and 

another supermarket on the old Cemex site.   

i) The main way of travelling within the parish is driving (61%).  There is a strong demand 

to address traffic speed and levels to make it safer for walking and cycling (68%).  This 

could also help address chronic parking problems particularly around the primary 

school at the start and end of the day (92%).  If more parents felt safe to walk or cycle 

with their children this would reduce the pressure on parking at the school (89%).  

j) Better footways or routes could increase walking and cycling activity in and around the 

parish and the implementation of a Green Lanes policy, with reduced speed limits, 

would encourage this. 

k) For journeys elsewhere outside the parish, especially journeys to places other than 

Norwich, driving is the preferred method, (61% car ownership), followed by the bus 

(15%).  Many use the bus service to Norwich at least occasionally (22%).  

l) There was very strong agreement concerning the importance of green spaces (93%), 

and the need to avoid adverse impacts on these, as well as protecting the landscape, 

protecting hedgerows and footpaths (93%).  

m) There was strong support for the built heritage and particularly the renovation of the 

Church Rooms being undertaken by YVAA (topped the parish “priorities” poll). 

n) There was also strong support for enhancing the existing play area on the Recreation 

Field (YVAA survey) and for the long-held desire for a new play area in Clint Green. 

 

3.2 From the consultation process, the Working Group identified the areas of concern, the 

objectives, principles and vision (planning and non-planning).  These set the basis for 

the formulation of planning policies and non-planning aspirational parish action 

points.  This has been the subject of further consultation with positive response rates 

of up to 96% from up to 30% of households responding.   

82

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 24 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

4 The Vision, Principles & Objectives 
 

4.1 The Vision 

a) The Neighbourhood Plan for Yaxham supports small-scale development, as it is to be 

welcomed for the long-term economic and social sustainability of the parish.  The Plan 

is designed to ensure that development is undertaken in a way that protects and 

enhances the small rural nature of the parish, within its surrounding agricultural and 

open countryside.  Its individual identity is valued by residents who appreciate being 

close to, but not part of, the market town of Dereham or village of Mattishall.  

Residents value highly the friendly, welcoming community spirit.  Both new and old 

residents wish to build on this to ensure future residents are a part of the community. 

 

b) Yaxham residents wish to retain the essential ‘small village feel’ of a sustainable rural 

community through the Plan period and beyond.  This can be achieved through small-

scale organic development that meets local housing and community needs and 

supports the rural economy.  Development should be: of the highest design and build 

standards, closely taking account of their surroundings, sympathetically looking to 

enhance their location in relation to the locality within the parish.  The close co-

operation between relevant authorities and developers to provide the necessary 

infrastructure ahead of development will be actively encouraged.  Specifically in 

relation to health, education, sustainable transport, drainage: co-operation will be 

essential, as these services are already under pressure.  

 

c) Small-scale economic and employment opportunities in the parish, including working 

from home, are and will continue to be an integral element of the sustainability of a 

vibrant community.  The encouragement and growth of such opportunities will 

support and foster local services, to aid this greater access to high quality and high 

speed mobile phone, broadband and other emerging technologies is required.  

Suitable opportunities, such as a new shop, cafe or pub (particularly in Clint Green), 

will be supported.  Such facilities would enhance the community by providing more 

opportunities for social interaction, employment and recreation locally. 

 

d) Travel by private car will continue to be the predominant way of travelling to, from, 

and around this part of the District.  Adequate parking for proposed new homes, new 

employment sites, new services and recreational facilities will be encouraged.  The 

aim is to reduce the need for on street parking, and its associated impingement on 

cyclists and pedestrians.  The reduction of car use for travelling to and from 

neighbouring settlements can be achieved through making walking and cycling safer 

through: lower speed limits, wider pavements, the installation of new 

pavements/footpaths and, where possible, cycle-paths.  This improved infrastructure 

would also contribute to a reduction in the parking and traffic congestion at the school 

at the start and end of the school day.  The present network of rural lanes and 

83

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 25 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

footpaths (Map 9) used for informal recreation needs to be preserved and enhanced, 

with the introduction of reduced speed limits under a “Quiet Lanes” Scheme to be 

encouraged.  The current public transport bus services enabling residents to travel to 

Norwich, Dereham and the Norfolk & Norwich University Hospital (NNUH), should 

extend to include an additional evening service to further reduce car use.  

 

e) The built environment and natural heritage of Yaxham is of vital importance and value 

to the Parish and should be protected, enhanced and retained throughout the Plan 

period.  The most highly valued countryside areas in Yaxham Parish need to be 

nurtured, recognised and conserved.  Thus, it will retain its character as a small rural, 

independent, inclusive, vibrant economically and socially sustainable community.  

 

Three Key Principles 

4.2 Sustainable development underpins the National Planning Policy Framework and is 

about positive growth within the community.  The three key principles of such 

development are also drawn from the CLP and the NP4Yaxham consultation process. 

 

Principle 1 – Environmental  

4.3 Yaxham maintains, and its residents value highly, its “village” feel as a small rural 

parish set in open agricultural countryside, close to, but separate from Dereham and 

nearby villages – sustaining its own primary school, village hall, small shop, cafe, 

chapel and church.  This “rural village” view underpins the whole approach of this 

Neighbourhood Plan.  Consultations have shown that Yaxham is a much valued place 

to live and residents appreciate the special qualities within the settlements.  At the 

same time, local residents accept that growth will continue, but they wish to minimise 

the impact of development and have a say how that development takes place.  

 

4.4 Each of the sites put forward for development potential in 2016 border existing 

settlements and there is great concern that large new developments of 30 plus homes 

could erode the very qualities that make this community special, if such developments 

are not carefully managed in terms of scale and design.  Residential or rural business 

development should seek to minimise the irreversible loss of undeveloped land and 

productive agricultural land.  

 

4.5 All new development should contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built 

and historic environment for future generations.  Measures to improve biodiversity, 

use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution and adapt to climate 

change will be required as well as avoiding allocating inappropriate development in 

flood-risk areas.  

 

4.6 Elm Close is a site with outline planning permission for housing development.  It is 

adjacent to the Conservation Area and the Grade II listed Baronia Cottage (1611) 

84

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 26 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

within the curtilage of The Elms.  New dwellings would be expected to enhance the 

historic environment and avoid eroding the quality and distinctiveness of the setting.  

 

Principle 2 – Economic  

4.7 Our aim is to enable the provision of new homes to meet the needs of all sections of 

the community in a manner that respects the character of a small rural village 

surrounded by open farmland.  The Plan also seeks to enhance the provision of, and 

protect, the existing small businesses and farming activities in and around our parish 

while at the same time protecting the countryside and supporting nature 

conservation.  

 

4.8 Connectivity within the parish through linking up existing footways and a cycleway 

into Dereham may increase the viability of small local businesses and encourage more 

start-ups.  Evidence from the consultations showed over 40 small businesses within 

the parish but also a large number of people commuting to work further afield.  

 

4.9 The Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan is not anti-development and accepts that housing 

growth is needed and new people and new businesses will come with it.   However it 

must be more than an exercise in meeting housing supply numbers by the addition of 

characterless estates on the rural fringes of our settlements and open countryside.  

 

Principle 3 – Social  

4.10 This Neighbourhood Plan seeks to build, extend and add to initiatives arising from the 

CLP to ensure that Yaxham continues to be a balanced, healthy and inclusive 

community and ensure Yaxham remains a special place that people choose to live, 

work and visit.  Housing should meet the needs of the present and future generations 

and by creating a high quality built environment where appropriate, there should also 

be accessible local services that reflect the community’s needs.  

 

4.11 The Neighbourhood Plan would seek to develop and improve local community 

facilities such as medical, educational, leisure and recreational to enable the good 

health and wellbeing of residents.  

 

4.12 The provision of a footway to link up to Footpath No 558 from a new development in 

Elm Close would enable safe walking to Station Road and the bus stop and also would 

provide easy access to community facilities such as Village Hall, Social Club, Church 

Room and St Peter’s Church, thus reducing the need to get in the car.  

 

4.13 Pre-school provision is seen as a much needed facility that is currently lacking, as well 

as the re-opening of the last pub in the parish which closed in mid-2015.  A play area 

                                                           
58

 See NP4Yaxham Map 9 on page 21 

85

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 27 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

in Clint Green and the upgrading of the children’s play area on the Recreation Field in 

Yaxham are seen as priorities and solutions can be found in NP4Yaxham Community 

Benefit Policy COM2 – Developer Contributions.  
 

Objectives 

4.14 Key Aims 

Objective 1: In the context of cumulative proposed developments in the Mattishall-

Yaxham-Dereham area to ensure sufficient infrastructure and facilities to meet the 

ongoing and future needs of the local community, including: sufficient primary school 

places, pre-school provision, primary health care provision, and that sufficient potable 

water and sewerage capacity are available to meet the needs of the expanding parish 

population.  See Parish Action Points (PAP) – PAP1, PAP7 & PAP8 

Objective 2: to maintain the independent and separate character and identity of the 

parish of Yaxham as a small rural and independent, close to, but separate from the 

neighbouring settlements of Dereham and Mattishall.   

See Policies/PAP – STR1, PAP 2, HOU3, HOU4 

Objective 3: to establish clear Non-Coalescence Gaps between Yaxham and Dereham, 

Yaxham and Mattishall, and within the parish of Yaxham between the two main 

settlements of Yaxham and Clint Green.  See Policy – STR1 & PAP2 

 

4.15 Housing 

Objective 4: to resist those developments which do not meet the key principles, and 

to support small-scale, sustainable developments in keeping with the character and 

the parish within the settlement boundaries.  

See Policies – HOU1, HOU2, HOU3, HOU4 

Objective 5: to support good design, a diversity of housing types appropriate to local 

need and the use of sustainable materials and methods.   

See Policies/PAP – HOU5, HOU6, HOU7, PAP3 

 

4.16 Environment 

Objective 6: to seek to champion and enhance the “Dark skies” initiative in order to 

minimise light pollution and protect the small rural character of the parish. 

See Policies/PAP – ENV1, PAP4 

Objective 7: to conserve and enhance the historic built and environmental heritage 

within the parish. See Policies/PAP – ENV2, PAP5 

Objective 8: to maintain and protect the green spaces within the parish.  

See Policy – ENV3 

Objective 9: to protect and enhance the countryside, including wildlife habitats and 

sites of special interest. See Policy – ENV3 

Objective 10: to minimise the level of surface water/groundwater run-off in order to 

minimise the risk of local flooding and contamination of the drainage ditches and 

water courses including the River Tud. See Policies – ENV4, ENV5 

86

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 28 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

4.17 Economy 

Objective 12: to maintain and enhance the vibrancy of the parish by supporting 

existing local businesses, and encouraging small-scale new businesses, including 

home-working, consistent with a rural environment.  

See Policy – ECN1 

Objective 13: to work towards achieving the latest communications technology is in 

place including superfast broadband and 4G mobile phone network infrastructure for 

all parts of the parish to support local people, families, businesses and services.  

See PAP – PAP7. 

 

4.18 Transport 

Objective 14: within the parish to minimise the need for private car use by 

encouraging the use of alternative forms of transport. See Policy/PAP – TRA1 & PAP6. 

Objective 15: to promote and enable alternative forms of transport within the parish 

by making cycling and walking safer; specifically by creating and/or enhancing 

pedestrian walkways, cycle paths and “Green Lanes” and “Quiet Lanes” within the 

parish, and walkways and cycle paths between the two main settlements of Yaxham 

and Clint Green and with the neighbouring settlements of Dereham and Mattishall. 

See Policies/PAP – TRA1, ENV3, PAP6. 

Objective 16: to achieve the extension of the local bus service (Dereham - Norwich, 

running through the parish) into the evening. See PAP – PAP7. 

 

4.19 Community 

Objective 17: to encourage opportunities for cultural, leisure, community, sport and 

other activities, fostering social interaction and community spirit between all sections 

of the community.  See Policy – COM1. 

Objective 18: to protect and enhance the existing local play space in the settlement of 

Yaxham and to seek a new play space in Clint Green.  See Policy – COM2. 

Objective 19: to maximise the developer contributions to the community 

infrastructure within the Parish of Yaxham.  See Policy – COM2.   

87

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 29 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

5 Specific Policy & Parish Action Points  
 

5.1 It is clear from the consultation and from the Community Led Plan that the parish has 

many concerns and priorities that can be covered by planning policies.  But most 

people do not see the distinction between planning matters and those they see as 

part of the same picture, but cannot be part of the planning process.  To only focus in 

this Plan on matters that are purely planning matters would therefore only present 

part of the picture.  NP4Yaxham therefore includes two distinct sets of outcomes: 

Policies that relate to planning matters; and Parish Action Points that the community 

can seek to take forward itself.  

 

5.2 The following definitions need to be kept in mind in considering the following pages: 
 

THE PLANNING POLICIES (Denoted in Yellow) 
These set out what will need to be taken into account by developers in making their 

planning applications, the Parish Council in commenting on those planning applications, and 

by Breckland Council when determining those planning applications and deciding whether 

or not to grant planning permission.  Only the policies have any weight when determining 

planning applications; the supporting text is for explanation.  It is only these planning 

policies that are assessed against the Basic Conditions. 
 

PARISH ACTION POINTS (Denoted in Blue) 

These cover issues about which the parish feels strongly and wishes to see action.  These 

are wider than requirements relating to future housing development.  They may also not 

be considered as strictly planning matters by Breckland.  However, many residents have 

strongly indicated the need to have services and infrastructure in place to meet current 

demands as well as the cumulative issues arising from the myriad of likely development in 

the Mattishall-Yaxham-South Dereham corridor.  Key to most of these issues is that they 

are matters that NP4Yaxham Working Group or its successor will work with Yaxham Parish 

Council and other groups within the parish can work or lobby for without waiting for or 

requiring new planning proposals. Parish Action Points are therefore not Planning Policies 

and are not required to be assessed against the Basic Conditions. 

  

88

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 30 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

6 Strategic Planning Context  
 

Spatial Planning – Yaxham’s Rural Settlements 

6.1 The civil parish of Yaxham has a number of designated “rural settlements”: 

“…small rural villages that have few, or in some cases no, local services. These 

settlements are not capable of sustaining consequential growth as many are 

completely reliant on higher order settlements for services and facilities. The 

Sustainability Appraisal has identified that these settlements do not represent a 

sustainable option for significant expansion.” 

Spatial Strategy Policy SS1 in Breckland’s “Adopted Core Strategy and Development 

Control Policies Development Plan Document” 200959 

 

6.2 Yaxham’s settlements were not designated as anything else such as “Local Service 

Centre” (“LSC”) by Breckland, as it had insufficient services and its settlements have 

significantly less than 1,000 residents each or in aggregate.  As described, the parish of 

Yaxham is not a village – it is three separate settlements.  Since 2012 the parish has 

seen a marked reduction in local services: losing its two public houses, post office, a 

shop; and now also the primary school in the parish is over-subscribed.  At the same 

time organic growth has continued within the parish with 23 new dwellings in the 

period April 2011-March 2015.  However, Breckland’s 2015 emerging Local Plan Part 1 

Preferred Directions (Regulation 18 Consultation January-February 2016) Policy PD03 

expressly “promotes” Yaxham in its proposed settlement hierarchy to being an LSC60.   

 

6.3 Yaxham Parish Council and NP4Yaxham Working Group, based on parish 

consultation61, believe that Yaxham with its lack of services and three separate 

settlements should remain as rural settlements and that it does not “satisfy all five 

qualifying criteria” required by Breckland Council for its designation to be “elevated” 

to being a LSC62.  This Plan is therefore prepared on the basis of the designation of 

Yaxham parish within the existing “Core Strategy” SS1.  

 

Settlement Boundaries 

6.4 The settlement boundaries for settlements of Yaxham and Clint Green are referred to 

in these policies are as set out in Breckland’s “Site Specific Policies and Proposals 

Development Plan Document, 2012” – (see Maps 5 and 6)63.  Brakefield Green does 

not have a settlement boundary.  The settlement boundaries are subject to 

                                                           
59

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications  
60

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/2455/Documents-Library-Publications Emerging Local Plan 
61

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-2-previous-consultation.html   
62

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/input-from-the-lpa.html   
63

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications 

89

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/2455/Documents-Library-Publications
http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-2-previous-consultation.html
http://www.np4yaxham.com/input-from-the-lpa.html
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 31 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

amendment when the emerging Breckland Local Plan is finalised and adopted, at 

which point the settlement boundaries will be as set out in the new Local Plan. 

 

Cumulative Development 

6.5 The parish is not an island.  As is described in “A Portrait of Yaxham Parish”, Yaxham is 

a small parish drawing on many services and employment opportunities in nearby 

larger villages or towns and as far afield as Norwich.  Potential development in the 

wider area therefore has a direct effect on Yaxham.  In the emerging Local Plan, the 

local market town of Dereham shows allocated sites on the south side of the town 

towards Yaxham for up to 1,500 new homes.  To the east of Yaxham, the larger village 

of Mattishall had been allocated sites for up to some 200 new homes.  In Yaxham the 

allocated land provided for up to some 90 new homes64.  

 

6.6 In all, these allocated sites provide for cumulative development of up to 1,800 new 

homes, primarily on green-field sites.  This is a significant increase in an area where 

there are: existing major infrastructure/service constraints already; and where the 

bulk of these developments are on agricultural land, particularly located in the 

environmentally sensitive strategic gap of the Tud Valley between Yaxham and 

Dereham (see Strategic Gaps Policy STR1). 

 

Infrastructure and service constraints 

6.7 The main current issues include:  

- Road access to and from Yaxham and Dereham via the “Tesco” roundabout 

- Traffic “rat-runs” along the Norwich Road through Yaxham & Mattishall  

- GP Surgeries with closed lists in Dereham, and Mattishall Surgery under strain  

- Lack of sewerage capacity for the area  

- Primary school provision, local primary school at capacity65 

- Patchy provision of superfast broadband (>20Mbps)66 

- Poor to non-existent mobile-phone coverage in many parts of the parish, although 

at the other extreme a few dwellings can achieve 4G coverage following the 

turning on of the Toftwood EE 4G transmitter67. 

 

6.8 Particularly of note is that of primary school capacity.  As noted at 2.38 above, Norfolk 

County Council’s projection is that annual new pupil intake from within the catchment 

area will be at capacity with a further 52 new dwellings completed in the parish.  The 

County Council also notes that the school is at capacity for the size of its site.  This will 

need to be addressed if Yaxham is to sustainably see further significant development. 

                                                           
64

 Breckland Local Plan Part 2 Emerging Site Options, December 2015, and Local Plan Working Group meeting 
Reports Packs for 11th and 15th July 2016 at www.breckland.gov.uk  
65

 Norfolk County Council submission to Breckland Council’s emerging Plan Consultation 2016 
66

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-2-previous-consultation.html  
67

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-2-previous-consultation.html   

90

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/
http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-2-previous-consultation.html
http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-2-previous-consultation.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 32 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

6.9 The NP4Yaxham cannot provide planning policies for development outside the 

designated area of the civil parish of Yaxham, however it would be failing in its 

responsibility if it did not represent the views of residents as expressed through the 

community consultation process68, for the identified infrastructure and constraints. 

 

6.10 It is noted Breckland Council is considering this area in its emerging Local Plan through 

its forthcoming Local Plan Infrastructure Strategy and drawing on current reports such 

as the Interim Infrastructure Position Statement, December 201569, The Local Plan 

Dereham Transport Study70, and the forthcoming Local Plan Water Cycle Report71.  

However it is unclear how Breckland Council will take these matters forward. 

 

6.11 This Plan therefore sets out Parish Action Point PAP1 for the NP4Yaxham Working 

Group or its successor to work with Yaxham Parish Council, Breckland District Council, 

and, where appropriate, the neighbouring Town Council of Dereham, and Parish 

Councils of Whinburgh and Westfield, and other Neighbourhood Plan Groups, to seek 

to ensure that Yaxham’s interests and concerns are taken account of. 
 

  

                                                           
68

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html  
69

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications  
70

  http://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=573&MId=3961&Ver=4 Local Plan Working 
Group Meeting 11

th
 August 2016 Agenda, Agenda Reports pack and Supplementary Agenda. The Dereham 

Traffic Study.  This was originally indicated to be reporting in March/April 2016, but was not released until 11
th

 
August 2016. 
71

 It was originally planned for March/April 2016, but has been delayed.  Anglia Water was due to present 
progress on the Water Cycle Study at the Breckland Development Committee Meeting on 31

st
 May 2016, but 

this was postponed by Breckland and has yet to be re-scheduled 
http://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MId=3585&Ver=4  

PARISH ACTION POINT PAP 1 – CRITICAL INFRASTRUCTURE 

In order to promote economic development and basic quality of life in the Mattishall-

Yaxham-South Dereham area, Breckland District Council should recognise the important 

need to put in place in support of the proposed development the critical elements of 

infrastructure to enable the proposed development to be sustainable. 
 

NP4Yaxham Working Group or its successor will work with Yaxham Parish Council and 

other groups within the parish to work with other Parish and Town Councils to lobby/work 

with Breckland District Council, and any other relevant Authorities and Providers, to 

develop significant plans to address: 

- Road Traffic access to/from Yaxham and Dereham 

- Enhanced sewerage facilities at Mattishall 

- Sufficient GP Surgeries, dentists etc. 

- Sufficient Primary School capacity in Yaxham 

- The extension of superfast broadband and mobile-phone coverage 

91

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 33 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

7 Strategic Gaps 
 

7.1 The rural nature of the parish of Yaxham is of critical importance to parish residents, 

with 91% of respondents ‘strongly agreeing’ with the statement ‘I value Yaxham as a 

small rural village’72.   A key issue for the parish and its component settlements is 

therefore respecting the separate and distinct identity of the settlements of Yaxham 

and its immediate neighbours (Map 1 and Aerial Photo 1).  The coalescence of Yaxham 

with one or more of these could seriously undermine the sustainability of Yaxham 

other than as a suburb of a larger entity.  The open nature of surrounding countryside 

in which Yaxham is situated represents a clear visual break – with neighbouring 

settlements invisible from Yaxham, despite their proximity.  The sense of self of 

Yaxham’s settlements requires the preservation of such gaps, so that when you leave 

one settlement, such as Yaxham, you do not feel that you are immediately in the large 

market town of Dereham.  NP4Yaxham supports sustainable development and growth 

and seeks to guide development so as to respect these important geographical gaps.    
 

7.2 The Yaxham-Dereham Strategic Gap (Plan 10 p. 35).  By contrast with the small rural 

parish of Yaxham, Dereham is a large market town.  The contrast between urban and 

rural is striking.  The gap between the two is largely defined by the Tud River and its 

valley (see Map 4).  This is the source of the Tud River which flows east eventually 

joining the River Wensum and flowing into the River Yare.  It is of strategic importance 

to Yaxham in maintaining its rural village nature, as set out in Principle 1.  It is also 

environmentally sensitive73.  The two parishes directly abut to the north of Yaxham.  

The parish boundary in that direction is only 0.5km from Yaxham’s settlement 

boundary.  At its narrowest the gap is only 1km between the respective settlement 

boundaries, and only 0.75km of road with the National Speed Limit.  There is continual 

concern that Dereham’s urban boundary will extend south to the parish boundary and 

halve the gap.  The parish has seen the effective absorption of another village, 

Scarning to the west of Dereham, and does not wish to go the same way as it would 

seriously undermine the independent and distinct character of the parish.  The 

boundary of the Strategic Gap has been determined on the basis of an assessment of 

the sensitivity of this area to potential development pressures and extensive fieldwork 

to assess the physical characteristics of the gap. 

 

7.3 The Yaxham (Clint Green) -Mattishall Gap.  This is similarly highly valued as 

maintaining the separate and distinct identities of both the hamlet of Clint Green, at 

the eastern end of the parish of Yaxham, and the village of Mattishall.  This is open 

countryside looking out to SSSI’s at Mattishall Moor and Rosie Curston’s Meadow, to 

                                                           
72

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html Appendix 2 Compendium of Surveys 
73

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/evidence-base-documents.html Evidence Base 

92

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html
http://www.np4yaxham.com/evidence-base-documents.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 34 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

the south of the River Tud.  The gap is only 1.3km at its narrowest between Clint 

Green and Mattishall, and the parish boundary is 0.17km east of Clint Green.  

 

7.4 The Gap is within the parish between the two settlements of Yaxham and Clint Green.  

Whilst thinking of themselves as a single parish, the residents of both of the main 

settlements see Clint Green as having a very separate and distinct identity from that of 

the settlement of Yaxham.  The gap between existing settlement boundaries is only 

1km.  

 

STRATEGIC PLANNING POLICY STR1 – THE GAPS BETWEEN SETTLEMENTS  

1. The objective of this policy is to direct development in such a way as to respect and retain 

the generally open and undeveloped nature of the gaps between settlements to help 

prevent the coalescence and retain the separate identity of the settlements of Yaxham and 

Clint Green from the neighbouring settlements of Dereham and Mattishall and from each 

other.  

2. Within the Strategic Gap between Yaxham and Dereham defined on Map 10 development 

will only be permitted if:  

a) it is consistent with policies for development in the countryside and  

b) it would not undermine the physical and/or visual separation of Yaxham and Dereham 

and  

c) it would not compromise the integrity of the strategic gap, either individually or 

cumulatively with other existing of proposed development; and  

d) it cannot be located elsewhere.  

3. Development that would, individually or cumulatively with other development, 

substantially undermine the physical and / or visual separation of Clint Green and Mattishall 

or Yaxham and Clint Green will only be permitted where the harm would clearly be 

outweighed by the benefits of the development. 

  

93

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 35 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

Map 10 Strategic Gap (Green) between Yaxham and Dereham.  Civil Parish Boundary 

(Blue) of Yaxham. 

 

 
  

I<----------------------------1 kilometre------------------------------>I 

North 

94

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 36 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

7.5 For the Gaps between Yaxham and Dereham and Clint Green and Mattishall it will be 

helpful if similar arrangements were put in place as part of the Dereham and 

Mattishall Neighbourhood Plans.  NP4Yaxham will therefore provide the basis of 

working with the Town Council of Dereham and Parish Council of Mattishall 

respectively – see Parish Action Point PAP 2.  Any Gap or similar that is beyond the 

NP4Yaxham Area is therefore aspirational and not a formal part of the Strategic 

Planning Policy STR1.  

 

7.6 Please Note: Large-scale maps indicating the Gaps and the field work supporting them 

are available in Appendix 2 of the Evidence Base and in A3 format – with one map to a 

page.74 

 

 
 

  

                                                           
74

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-2---str1-strategic-gaps-field-work.html 

PARISH ACTION POINT PAP 2 – POSSIBLE SIMILAR GAPS BEYOND THE 

PARISH BOUNDARY 

NP4Yaxham Working Group or its successor will work with Yaxham Parish Council, with 

Breckland Council on its emerging Local Plan and with neighbouring Parish Councils in 

Dereham, Mattishall and Whinburgh & Westfield and with related Neighbourhood Plan 

Groups to seek to create Gaps within their parishes that mirror and abut where 

appropriate the Gaps within Yaxham. 

95

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 37 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

8 Housing 
 

Scale and location of new residential development 

8.1 The Consultation carried out in November 2015 found that residents have a general 

preference for small scale development, including in-fill and brownfield development, 

which is reflected throughout this plan75. 
 

 
 

Housing Density 

8.2 Local consultation has established a strongly felt need to keep future development 

consistent with current design and spatial allocation, in order to maintain the scale 

and character of the parish settlements76. 
 

HOUSING POLICY HOU2 – HOUSING DENSITY 

New residential development should have a density that is consistent and compatible with 

the existing prevailing density in the immediate area in order to reflect the local character 

and appearance.  In keeping with the generally low density within the parish, the density of 

new residential development will not normally exceed approximately 20 dwellings per 

hectare, unless there are material considerations which clearly justify a higher density, 

which may include the need for the development to be viable or the quality of the design of 

the proposal.  The need for an appropriate density is particularly important for proposals 

which are within or abutting the Conservation Area. 

                                                           
75

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html Appendix 2 Compendium of Surveys 
76

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html Appendix 2 Compendium of Surveys 

HOUSING POLICY HOU1 – LOCATION OF NEW RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

In principle, new residential development will be permitted on suitable sites within the 

settlement boundary.  Proposals for new residential development outside the settlement 

boundary will generally not be permitted unless: 

 They are specifically allowed by other policies in either this Neighbourhood Plan;  

 They fall within the categories of development which the NPPF identifies as 

appropriate for the countryside; or 

 It is a rural exception site for affordable homes; or 

 It is of an appropriate scale and design to the settlement and does not increase the 

size of the settlement by more than 10% of its existing size; or 

 It can be clearly shown that the benefits clearly outweigh the adverse impacts, 

especially those impacts on the strategic gaps, the rural landscape and the open 

countryside. 

Development within or outside the settlement boundary will not be permitted where it has 

a significant adverse impact, whether direct or indirect, on the Badley Moor SSSI or the Nar 

Valley Fens SAC. 

96

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 38 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

Scale of Residential Development 

8.3 With the exception of the two estate developments in the 1960’s, Yaxham’s two main 

settlements have evolved from collections of farms and cottages (and at one time a 

high number of ale-houses).  Throughout recent decades there has been a steady rate 

of new development of typically single houses with the occasional development of 

more, but always less than 10 to a development.  This has meant that the parish has 

achieved a balance of incremental growth and acceptance within the community – 

and explains largely why the residents value the parish77.   
 

HOUSING POLICY HOU3 – SCALE OF RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

Residential development that is of an appropriate scale commensurate with the existing 

development pattern and rural nature of the parish and its settlements will be supported.  

All developments will need to be designed to avoid or mitigate likely significant effects to 

the Norfolk Valley Fens SAC, both individually or cumulatively.  Development on a single 

site that would increase the size of the settlement by more than 10% will only be permitted 

if it is necessary to provide affordable homes, or to make the development viable, is clearly 

the most advantageous way of providing for local housing need, or it can be demonstrated 

in some other way that the benefits clearly outweigh any adverse impacts. 
 

8.4 The parish has seen steady small-scale development over the last few decades 

through in-fill and brownfield land development, including the conversion of barns 

and other buildings.  This has enabled the parish to grow and absorb new 

developments.  A high priority for the community is that new development continues 

in this organic manner. 
 

HOUSING POLICY HOU4 – EXISTING LAND USE 

When deciding between potential development sites, those sites that make use of 

brownfield land or which can be considered as in-fill should in general be given preference 

over sites that are on agricultural land or on land where new development would lead to an 

encroachment into the open countryside. 
 

HOUSING POLICY HOU5 – HOUSING MIX 

New residential development should provide a mix of housing types to meet local housing 

need, as evidenced by the latest published Strategic Housing Market Assessment or local 

housing needs survey.  The provision of smaller affordable dwellings with one or two 

bedrooms will be particularly encouraged.  
 

Housing Design 
8.5 NP4Yaxham requires those planning new development to demonstrate the highest standards 

of design in the context of the immediate locality within small rural settlements.   
 

                                                           
77

 www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/resource/view?resourceId=1261 Yaxham, E04006196, 

97

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/resource/view?resourceId=1261


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 39 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

HOUSING POLICY HOU6 - DESIGN 

The design of residential development should deliver high quality design and not adversely 

impact on the essentially rural character and appearance of the parish.  Proposals for major 

residential development of 10 dwellings or more will be accompanied by a Building for Life 

12 assessment and will be expected to show no red scores and the industry standard of 9 

green scores unless it can be clearly demonstrated that this is not possible for practical or 

viability reasons. 

Any new dwelling, redevelopment or extension to a dwelling should be carefully designed to 

avoid conflicting with adjacent properties or landscape and should overall help to maintain 

the rural character of the villages and parish. To achieve this: 
 

Development proposals should have regard to the height, layout, building line,  

massing and scale of existing development in the immediate area; 

• Houses of more than two storeys will be considered as inappropriate, unless they 

can be shown to contribute positively to the character and appearance of the area; 

furthermore, ridge heights of new buildings should be in keeping with the immediate 

surrounding buildings; 

• Rear gardens should be at least equal to the ground floor footprint of the dwelling; 

• Residents should be able to access the rear garden without going through the house; 

• Sufficient external space should be provided to enable refuse, recycling and compost 

to be stored out-of-sight. There should also be sufficient storage space for items 

commonly stored in garages; 

• The use of traditional materials common in the parish, especially those sourced 

locally and of low ecological/ environmental impact, is to be encouraged; 

• Existing natural features such as trees or hedgerows should be retained where 

possible, unless their removal results in an ecological gain or an improvement to 

green open space or important views. 

A degree of design variety within a development is essential, but it must take into account 

the design and detailing of adjacent buildings and the spatial, visual and historical context in 

which it resides. This is particularly important within or adjacent to the Conservation Area. 
 

Affordable Homes 

8.6 A need for affordable housing became apparent during consultation and from housing 

needs data.  In Breckland’s emerging Local Plan defines affordable housing as78:  

“Affordable housing is housing provided to those that are unable to meet their housing 

needs in the private sector. Government policy as set out in the NPPF defines 

affordable housing as ‘social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, 

provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by the market'. Intermediate 

housing provides the opportunity for local people, who are unable to afford open 

market prices, to access the housing market.”  

                                                           
78

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications Emerging Local Plan 

98

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 40 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

8.7 Continuity of affordable housing is also seen as crucial to the community’s ability to 

provide affordable opportunities in the future.  This is in line with local and national 

policy.  Breckland’s emerging Local Plan states:  
 

“Eligibility for affordable housing will be in line with the Council's allocation policies 

and Housing Strategy. Intermediate products such as housing for sale and rent at a 

cost above social rent, but below market levels, can include shared equity schemes and 

shared ownership and other low cost homes for sale and intermediate rent.”79 

 

8.8 Yaxham has a significant proportion of what has previously been known as social 

housing i.e. that which has been built with a public subsidy.  Within this the model is 

primarily for general rent and there is little/no shared-ownership.  As a result of this 

tenure structure the number of properties that become available for re-letting is low.  

Breckland has a housing allocation policy based on defining local need as having a 

connection with the district – it does not allow for more local community priority 

(Breckland Housing Allocation Policy 2015).  There is concern locally that there are not 

enough “affordable” homes available.  Breckland emerging Local Plan Policy preferred 

option provides for 36% of any new development of over 5 dwellings shall be 

“affordable” homes as defined above.  In addition the emerging Local Plan provides:  
 

“In line with the requirements of the NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework) 

affordable housing should include provisions to remain at an affordable price for future 

eligible households or for any subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable housing 

provision.”80 

 

8.9 Public consultation as part of NP4Yaxam has reinforced this point and has led to the 

development of the following policy and parish action point.  
 

HOUSING POLICY HOU7 – AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

Provision of affordable housing/shared ownership will be encouraged where this is 

commensurate with the scale and nature of need for such housing locally. 
 

PARISH ACTION POINT PAP 3 – AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

The community strongly believes that affordable housing within Yaxham should first be 

offered to local people i.e. those who have a connection with the parish through family, 

residence, education, employment etc.  NP4Yaxham Working Group or its successor will 

work with Yaxham Parish Council and other elected representatives to promote this 

objective as appropriate, and to report back to the community on progress made.  

                                                           
79

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications Emerging Local Plan 
80

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications Emerging Local Plan 

99

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 41 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

9 Environment  
 

Small Rural Village Nature of the Settlements of Yaxham 

9.1 In NP4Yaxham consultations statements valuing Yaxham’s settlements as small rural 

villages and hamlets or should remain as small rural villages and hamlets were agreed 

or strongly agreed by 98% by respondents81.  This was typified by comments such as82: 

 “A small village and close enough to town but still rural” 

 “The size and character of the village” 

 “being a small rural village, surrounded by countryside” 

 

Light pollution  

9.2 This is recognised as an increasing problem in the countryside.  The importance of 

Dark Skies is recognised as contributing to the tranquillity of the environment – see 

Breckland Development Plan Document 83 and Norfolk County Council Environmental 

Lighting Zones Policy84.  This sets the context for Policy ENV1 and PAP 4.  
 

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY ENV1 - DARK SKIES 

Artificial light is to be kept to a minimum, consistent with a small rural parish.  New 

development should therefore help to maintain and enhance local tranquillity and dark skies 

and in doing so should seek to avoid light pollution wherever possible.  
 

Where significant external lighting is proposed, such as street lighting and/or floodlighting, a 

Lighting Assessment will be expected to accompany any application submitted. Lighting 

Assessments should include details of the type and design of the lights proposed, the hours 

when they will operate, and proposed illumination levels. The report should also explain 

how the proposed lighting scheme has been designed to minimise light pollution and any 

mitigation measures that will be put in place. 
 

Any permitted lighting is likely to be limited to specific operating hours only and this and any 

other proposed mitigation measures from within the Lighting Assessment are likely to be 

secured via a planning condition. 
 

PARISH ACTION POINT PAP 4 – STREET LIGHTING 

It will be essential for NP4Yaxham Working Group or its successor to work with Yaxham 

Parish Council and other elected representatives of Yaxham to work to maintain and 

enhance the “dark skies” and the strong rural feel in Yaxham by avoiding the introduction of 

street lighting. New street lighting will therefore not be encouraged. 

                                                           
81

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html “Vision 2” Questionnaire, November 2015 
82

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html “Vision 1” Questionnaire, November 2015 
83

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications Core Strategy and Development 
Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009, Policy DC1 Protection of Amenity 
84

 www.norfolk.gov.uk  

100

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement1.html
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications
http://www.norfolk.gov.uk/


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 42 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

Conservation Area & Heritage Assets 

9.3 Yaxham is home to a Conservation Area (Map 5), which is subject to special planning 

controls through the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  

Historic England must be given notice of applications for works to a Grade I or II* 

listed building and for certain works to Grade II (unstarred) listed buildings85. 

 

9.4 In addition to the formally designated heritage assets (Listed buildings, Conservation 

Areas etc.), there are non-designated heritage assets within the parish that are of 

importance to the local community may have a wider significance.   
 

“The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset 

should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications 

that affect directly or indirectly non designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement 

will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of 

the heritage asset.” Paragraph 135 of the NPPF86. 
 

The non-formally designated heritage assets set out in the Yaxham Heritage 

Register87, as updated from time to time, are included as heritage assets for the 

purposes of the following policy. 
 

Map 11.1 Conservation Area and Heritage Assets 

 

                                                           
85

 Arrangements for handling heritage applications direction 2015 and National Planning Policy Guidance at 
Paragraph: 059 Reference ID: 18a-059-20140306 under conserving and enhancing the Historic Environment – 
consultation and notification requirements for heritage related applications. 
86

 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk  
87

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/np4y-documents.html Yaxham Heritage Register  

101

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://www.np4yaxham.com/np4y-documents.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 43 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

 

Map 11.2  Yaxham Heritage Trail 

 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY ENV2 – CONSERVATION AREA & HERITAGE ASSETS 

New development in the parish near or close to the following assets (as shown in the 

current Yaxham Heritage Register88): 

      -   In or adjacent to the Conservation Area; or 

      -   Near or close to  

  o  the six Listed Buildings,  

 o  the eleven Tree Preservation Orders, or 

 o  non-heritage assets in the parish, as listed in the current Yaxham  

Heritage Register, 

should take account of the historic fabric of the area and preserve or enhance the character 

or appearance of the Conservation Area, the Listed Buildings, protected trees and/or other 

heritage assets.  

In doing so a “Heritage Statement” shall be provided in support of all development 

proposals within or adjacent to the Conservation Area, Listed Buildings or other heritage 

assets.  Such Heritage Statements should outline the significance of any heritage assets 

affected and any adverse impacts that the development may have on heritage assets. It 

shall also include any proposed mitigation measures, as well as how the proposed 

development will contribute to the character and setting of the relevant Conservation Area, 

Listed Buildings and other heritage assets(s). 

                                                           
88

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/np4y-documents.html Yaxham Heritage Register 

102

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/np4y-documents.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 44 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

 
 

Green Infrastructure Policy - Green Heritage in Yaxham 
9.5 The parish has a limited number of open green spaces.  These are precious to the 

community and are important to the parish and need to be protected and enhanced.  

This policy proposes a number of important Green Spaces in the parish that are to be 

protected from development by the designation as Local Green Spaces in accordance 

with Paragraphs 76 and 77 of the NPPF89.  In each case the Local Green Spaces are 

integral parts of the settlement within their own part of the parish and are therefore 

regarded as special to the community.  The Local Green Spaces Review90 has tested 

each nominated site against the guidelines in the NPPF and has satisfied the following 

tests:  

1. It is in close proximity to the community it serves. 

2. It is special to the local community, by dint of being a place of beauty, historical 

interest, recreational value, tranquillity or richness of flora and or fauna. 

3. It is local in character and is not an extensive tract of land. 

 

9.6 The designated Local Green Areas, (see Map 12) in summary are:  

 

Site 1  Recreation Ground and Beech Avenue, in Yaxham.  It is in the centre of the 

largest settlement and therefore close to the community, it is easily accessible 

and has significant recreational value.  It is the main “Open Space” within the 

parish is the Jubilee Recreation Ground, in the parish it is used for a variety of 

outdoor games, children’s playspace and the proposed MUGA, public events, 

dog walking, car boot sales and village football.  Its designation as a Green 

Space would extend to cover the area to the west of the site, which includes 

the Church Room (currently subject to an ongoing renovation programme) and 

an avenue of beech trees covered by Tree Preservation Orders. 

                                                           
89

 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk  
90

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-1-env3-local-green-space-review.html Local Green Space Review  

PARISH ACTION POINT PAP 5 – HERITAGE ASSETS 
 

The community places high value on the heritage assets within the parish.  It is noted that 

since the Yaxham Heritage Register was compiled a number of the assets identified then 

have been replaced or ceased to exist (such as the old school, and the threshing barn at 

Yaxham Mill).  In addition there are notable buildings and other assets within the parish 

that should be added to the Register. 
 

NP4Yaxham Working Group or its successor to work with Yaxham Parish Council to 

consider undertaking or arranging for a group of residents to undertake on its behalf to 

produce and maintain an updated Yaxham Heritage Register to enable the community be 

aware of and cherish its heritage assets and for the purposes of informing Policy ENV3. 

103

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-1-env3-local-green-space-review.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 45 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

Site 2  Pinn’s Corner between Yaxham and Clint Green. This is an orphan piece of 

land cut-off when the road was straightened and widened.  In recent years the 

Yaxham Woodland Group under license from the Parish Council has 

maintained and enhanced this area for the benefit of the whole community.  It 

is within walking distance of both main settlements and is at the northern end 

of Pinns Lane footpath leading south towards Brakefield Green and forms part 

of Yaxham’s circular walk91.  It also links north to Cutthroat Lane via Low Lane 

and Green Lane. 

Site 3 Central Site – known locally as the Old Green and Village Pond, Yaxham.  This 

site is central to Yaxham village and falls within the conservation area, acting as 

a green lung to the surrounding properties.  It is highly valued for the open 

aspect it presents as the approach to Church Lane and St Peters Church, to the 

north is the listed property Willow Farmhouse. 

Site 4 Parochial Church Charity Land, Yaxham – triangle of land between Stone Road 

and Norwich Road.  This piece of land is grazed and gives a clear and open view 

towards the old Yaxham Mill. 

 

Green Infrastructure Policy - Rights of Way & Footpaths 
9.7 Comments raised by residents during the consultation included a general desire to see 

greater connectivity between the different parts of the Parish and especially between 

the two main settlements of Yaxham and Clint Green, then onto the surrounding 

villages.   

 

9.8 The current footpaths and right of ways connect to form a circular walk of some 3 

miles (See Yaxham Heritage Trail Map 11.2 and Footpath Map 9), however, they do 

not connect into a wider system of public right of ways. These footpaths, along with 

cycle-paths and bridleways, should be developed to form part of a coherent network 

and aim to encourage pedestrian alternatives to using through roads.   

 

9.9 The Parish seeks to encourage new and improved rights of way such as footpaths and 

bridleways connecting Yaxham with surrounding villages and the countryside, 

specifically to include enhancing the links between Yaxham and Clint Green and onto 

Mattishall.  These will contribute to the establishment of a Yaxham Parish Green 

Infrastructure Network comprising a variety of green infrastructure assets including: 

 Local Green Spaces 

 The Open Space designated Jubilee Playing Field and children’s play area 

 Assets of biodiversity value e.g. SSSI’s, CWS’s and local Nature Reserves 

 The Yaxham Heritage Trail 

 Green lanes and footpaths and bridleways  

                                                           
91

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-1-env3-local-green-space-review.html Local Green Space Review 

104

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-1-env3-local-green-space-review.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 46 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

Green Infrastructure Policy – Hedgerows 
9.10 In recent years the Parish Council has pursued a policy of protecting and augmenting 

hedgerows.  Where possible all hedgerows in Yaxham should therefore be retained in 

situ within development proposals wherever possible. In certain circumstances, it is 

understood that some hedgerow realignment may be necessary in order to ensure 

safe and suitable access. However, in such cases it will be expected that any hedgerow 

lost is replanted with a native species mix to promote local biodiversity and also that 

new or realigned hedgerows are reintegrated into any existing adjacent hedgerows.  
 

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY ENV3 – GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE:  

Local Green Spaces Designation  

In line with the NPPF Paragraph 77 and PPG92 NP4Yaxham designates the following local 

green spaces: 

Sites 1-4 as marked on map 12 

1. Recreation Ground and Beech Avenue, in Yaxham.   

2. Pinns Corner between Yaxham and Clint Green.  

3. Central Site – known locally as the Old Green and Village Pond, Yaxham.   

4. Parochial Church Charity Land, Yaxham – triangle of land between Stone Road and 

Norwich Road. 

Development will only be permitted on the sites designated as Local Green Spaces where 

it is consistent with the character and use of the spaces. 
 

Rights of way & footpaths 

New developments will be required to contribute to the provision of improved pedestrian 

links which will help to develop and coherent network connecting different parts of the 

parish, where the legal requirements for such contributions are met.  
 

Hedgerows 

In order to minimise further opening up of the landscape, all road fronting hedgerows in 

Yaxham affected by development requiring consent should be protected and, wherever 

possible, enhanced. 

Any hedgerow lost as a result of such development will be expected to be compensated 

elsewhere within the site, if possible, or elsewhere in the vicinity. Supplementary planting 

which strengthens the existing network of hedgerows will also be supported. 

Proposals that would lead to the enhancement of ecological network will be encouraged, 

particularly where they would further support the management of the County Wildlife 

Sites and improve habitat connectivity. 

  

                                                           
92

 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk  

105

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 47 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

Map 12 Local Green Space Designation 

 
 

Flood Risk 

9.11 Several areas in Yaxham, including the main roads through the parish, have suffered 

surface-water flooding in recent years.  Surface water flooding happens when 

rainwater does not soak into the ground or drain away through the normal drainage 

systems, which locally have a limited capacity, but lies on or flows over the ground 

instead.  It is particularly problematic during heavy rainfall events, the frequency of 

which has been on the rise in recent years, and again in June 201693.  In wet periods 

standing water is often to be seen in pasture to the north of the parish and abutting 

the River Tud.  It is likely that there will be an increasing risk of surface water flooding 

in the face of climate change.  There is therefore significant concern that future 

development should not add to the flood risk within the parish.  The following maps 

supplied by Norfolk County Council indicate that whilst fluvial flooding is not 

significant (Map 14), surface water flooding (Map 13) can be, particularly north of the 

Norwich Road as water makes its way down the valley side to the River Tud.   

                                                           
93

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-1-env3--env-4-review.html ENV4 Surface Water Flooding Review 

North 

I<----------------------------1 kilometre--------------------->I 

106

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/appendix-1-env3--env-4-review.html%20ENV4


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 48 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

Map 13 Surface Water Flood Risk Map – Norfolk County Council 

 
 

Map 14 Fluvial Water Flood Risk Map – Norfolk County Council 

  

North 

North 

107

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 49 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY ENV4 – SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT PLANS 

All development within a surface water flood risk area as shown on the Environment 

Agency’s website maps and all developments of 5 properties or more and any 

development in excess of 0.5 ha will need to be accompanied by a Surface Water 

Management Plan which should seek to demonstrate that the proposal will not result in 

any increase in the risk of surface and/or groundwater flooding. Any mitigation measures 

set forth within Surface Water Management Plans to reduce the risk of surface water 

flooding are likely to be secured via a planning condition. 

A surface water drainage solution will need to be identified and implemented prior to the 

construction of hard standing areas to protect both existing and future development. 
 

Sewerage Provision 

9.12 The parish has a high proportion of dwellings, 20% +, on private sewerage 

arrangements94.  There is always the risk with such facilities that they can become 

inundated with surface/ground water flooding or a higher water-table during periods 

of prolonged rainfall.  With its network of drainage ditches leading to the River Tud 

there is a recognised risk of consequent contamination in the event that such facilities 

are overwhelmed.  
 

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY ENV5 – SEWERAGE PROVISION 

All new development will be expected to connect to mains sewerage unless evidence is 

produced that it is unviable through a Viability Assessment and/or consultations with 

Anglian Water. If mains sewerage is not viable then an effective and sustainable private 

sewerage system plan shall be agreed in advance of development commencing and must be 

in place prior to the occupation of the first dwelling. 

 

  

                                                           
94

http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html Appendix 2 December 2015 Survey  

108

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 50 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

10. Economic Development 
 

10.1 Until recently, Yaxham’s economic basis was largely agricultural. Today employment is 

more wide-ranging from one-person home-working, a few small local businesses, 

farming, and commuting as far afield as Cambridge.  A quarter of the 40 local 

businesses are farmers and there is only one business that employs more than two 

employees – with most farming and non-farming enterprises being single individuals 

(over 75%) mainly working from home.   There are a number of tourist oriented 

businesses such as furnished holiday lets and the lodge park at Yaxham Waters.  In all 

nearly one in ten households are involved in running their own businesses – a 

remarkably high number.95 
 

10.2 The growth in home-working or home-based working has meant that the parish 

provides a small number of local economic opportunities for businesses to be based 

here – whether their customers are local, across the UK or international.  Key to this is 

achieving the provision of fast broadband services and comprehensive 3G (at least) 

mobile coverage.  The parish is keen to encourage modest local economic 

development that provides local opportunities should therefore be encouraged – 

including the encouragement of micro-businesses (often sole traders based at 

home)96.   
 

10.3 The aim of Policy ECN1 is to promote economic development that is of a scale 

proportionate to the size and function of Yaxham, and to make any adverse impacts of 

economic development acceptable in planning terms.  

 

10.4 Integral to any such development should be sufficient land to provide for all vehicle 

parking needs of staff and visitors, so as to eliminate any adverse impact of over-spill 

parking on surrounding residential roads or lanes.  

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT POLICY ECN1 - NEW ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

New economic development that comprises a micro or small business will be encouraged 

and supported in principle.  Planning permission for any proposal for an employment 

generating use, including the expansion of existing businesses, will be granted where it can 

be demonstrated that it will: 

 not have an unacceptable effect on residential amenity; 

 not have an unacceptable effect on the transport network; 

 be able to accommodate all parking within its site; 

 not have any other unacceptable environmental impacts, including impacts on the 

historic environment; and 

 not conflict with other development plan policies. 

                                                           
95

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html Appendix 2 Business Survey Jan/Feb 2016 
96

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html Appendix 2 Business Survey Jan/Feb 2016 

109

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 51 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

11 Transport 
 

Level & Speed of Traffic 

11.1 A major concern within the parish is the level and speed of traffic.  Road safety fears 

are a major obstacle to persuading many Yaxham Primary School parents to leave 

their cars at home and walk or cycle with their children to school97.  The community 

would therefore like to see: 

 

 
  

                                                           
97

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html Appendix 2 School Parent Survey Dec. 2015 

PARISH ACTION POINT PAP 6 – CAR REDUCTION STRATEGY – MAKING THE 

PARISH MORE “WALKABLE” AND PEOPLE-FRIENDLY 

Given the high concerns about the volume and speed of traffic, there is a real 

opportunity to work towards helping to achieve healthier lifestyles as well as a reduction 

in the carbon-footprint of the parish and is being actively encouraged by Norfolk Get 

Active Scheme (Active Norfolk, 2016). 

Such actions could include: 

 A reduction in the speed limit between the two main settlements of Yaxham and 

Clint Green from 60mph to 40mph; 

 The aim to reduce the number of speeding drivers by greater use of speed 

awareness measures; 

 Footpaths on Norwich Road cleared or undergrowth or widened so that users can 

walk side by side; 

 A reduction in the speed limit on back roads such as Cutthroat Lane, Spring Lane 

and Paper Street from 60 mph to 40 mph or lower (possibly through being 

designated “Green Lanes” or “Quiet Lanes”; 

 The provision of footpaths along Station Road to the edge of the parish and 

combined with a cycle path along Dereham Road from Yaxham to Dereham; 

 The inclusion of footpaths in developments or contributions for such footpaths; 

and  

 To encourage parish and primary school parents to walk and cycle within the 

parish.   
 

NP4Yaxham Working Group or its successor will work with Yaxham Parish Council and 

other elected representatives to work with the Highways Authority, Breckland District 

Council and others such as the primary school and the Diocese of Norwich, to seek to 

achieve these aims. 

110

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 52 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

 

TRANSPORT POLICY TRA1 – TRAFFIC AND SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT 

All new developments should include consideration of the need to promote sustainable 

transport and minimise the generation of traffic. Proposals that include measures to 

facilitate walking and cycling by residents will be considered favourably. Importantly, new 

development will be expected to connect with the existing footway network where 

possible so as to facilitate walking. Any adverse impacts arising from the residual traffic 

generated should be mitigated where this is viable and the measures are of a scale that is 

commensurate with the development. 

 

TRANSPORT POLICY TRA2 – PARKING PROVISION 
Where parking provision is made to the front of the property, its impact on the street 

scene should be mitigated by appropriate boundary treatment and planting and, where 

possible the provision of an equal area of landscaped front garden.  In the interests of 

crime prevention and protecting the rural character of the area rear parking courts will be 

discouraged. 
 

Secure and convenient cycle storage should be provided of a quantity consistent with the 

number of bedrooms to encourage increased cycle usage. 

 

  

111

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 53 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

12 Community Benefit 
 

Provision of Facilities and Services 

12.1 Yaxham has a number of useful everyday services and facilities as detailed in the 

“Portrait of the Parish”: 
 

COMMUNITY BENEFIT POLICY COM1 – EXISTING PARISH-BASED COMMUNITY 

SERVICES 

Where applications for change of use are submitted involving a potential loss of existing 

facilities they will only be permitted where the developer can demonstrate: 

1) They will be satisfactorily relocated to elsewhere in the parish; or 

2) Adequate other facilities of the same service offering exist within a reasonable 

walking distance of the majority of Yaxham residents to meet local needs; or 

3) No reasonable prospect of continued viable use which can be demonstrated  

 through: 

 a) Twelve months of marketing for the permitted and similar uses, using an 

appropriate agent; and 

 b) Confirmation that it has been offered on a range of terms (including price) 

agreed to be reasonable on the advice of an independent qualified assessor. 
 

 
 

Open Space/Play Areas 

12.2 Yaxham is currently shown as having approximately the right amount of open space 

for general recreation commensurate with its population (with the Recreation Field at 

1.53 ha).  However, it is significantly deficient in children’s play areas within the parish 

– 0.05ha versus 0.61ha NPFA Standards98 as there are no such facilities in the eastern 

                                                           
98

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications Open Space Parish Sched. 2015  

PARISH ACTION POINT PAP 7 – COMMUNITY SERVICES OUTSIDE THE PARISH 

By the nature of a small rural parish such as Yaxham, its residents are dependent on 

services provided by a myriad of providers beyond the parish boundaries, including, but 

not limited to: 

- Refuse, Water & sewerage, Education, Medical, Highways, Bus Services, Broadband 

& Mobile Telecoms 
 

NP4Yaxham Working Group or its successor will work with Yaxham Parish Council and 

other elected representatives to work with the relevant authorities, organisations and 

companies to ensure that the service infrastructure is developed to meet the cumulative 

demands of the anticipated development of Yaxham, Dereham, Mattishall and the 

surrounding area as appropriate, and to report back to the community on progress made. 

112

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 54 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

settlement of Clint Green99.  This would accord with proposals in the emergingLocal 

Plan which state:  

 

“In terms of children’s play areas, all dwellings in housing areas should be within 100m 

of a local area of play (LAP), 400m of a local equipped area for play (LEAP) and 1000m 

of a neighbourhood equipped area for play (NEAP) as recommended by FIT.” 100 

 

12.3 The parish priorities are, depending on where new development takes place include:  

• Enhanced children’s play space on the Recreation Field in Yaxham; 
• A new children’s play space in Clint Green; 
• A recreation space in Clint Green. 

 

12.4 The parish priority is to enhance the existing play area in the settlement of Yaxham 

and to create a new children’s play area in the settlement of Clint Green.  It is not to 

have small areas of grass called “open space” and “children’s play area” as tokens in 

any new development, which would not benefit the whole community.  The parish 

requires that the LPA and developers instead to provide money or land to facilitate 

the three priorities set out101.  
 

Community Priorities for Developer Funding (s.106/CIL) 

12.5 In the event of developments being of a size to trigger the payment by the developer 

of s106 or CIL payments then the parish has a strong presumption that those 

payments be used within the parish.  The following Community Action Policy sets out 

the parish priorities identified from consultation102.  

 

12.6 The priorities relating to the developer funding towards local infrastructure (involving 

s106 agreements) will have to satisfy the legal tests set out in Regulation 122 of the 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations (2010 as amended). All infrastructure 

requirements must now be compliant with the legal tests set out in the CIL 

Regulations and be: 

• Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

• Directly related to the development; and 

• Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 

12.7 If during the Plan the District Council is minded to prepare a Community Infrastructure 

Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule rather than continue with the existing planning 

obligations (S106) mechanism for securing developer funding, then the priorities set 

out in Policy COM 2 would need to be reflected in the District Council’s emerging CIL 

Regulation 123 List (list of infrastructure which CIL will be eligible to fund).  
                                                           
99

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications Open Space Parish Sched. 2015  
100

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications Preferred Direction Part 1 2015 
101

 http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications  Preferred Direction Part 1 2015  
102

 http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html Appendix 2 Compendium of Surveys 

113

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/Documents-Library-Publications
http://www.np4yaxham.com/consultation-statement.html


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 55 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

 

COMMUNITY BENEFIT POLICY COM2 – DEVELOPER FUNDING PRIORITIES 

Where, as a result of a new development there is the facility for funds to be provided by the 

developer for the local community, whether through s.106, Community Infrastructure Levy 

or other arrangements the following would apply:  

Commutation of play areas/open-space planning conditions; 

1. For developments in or close to the settlement boundary of Yaxham (see Map 5)  

             that these should be commuted into off-site equivalent financial contributions to the 

             upgrading of the children’s play area on the Recreation Field. 

2. For developments in or close to the settlement boundary of Clint Green (see Map 6)  

             then the provision of a new children’s play area on site of any new development, or  

             off-site, if deemed appropriate. 

To provide: 

Community Facilities  

 Funding towards the Regeneration of the Church Room – current estimated costing 

£200,000 

 Outdoor Learning Space at Yaxham Primary School 

 Pre-school provision – to be assessed during the life of the Plan 

Open Space Projects 

 Improved Safe Play Space at Yaxham Village Hall – current estimated costing £35,000 

 Provision of “Trim Trail” at Jubilee Field, Yaxham – current costing estimated £65,000 

 A new Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) The new “MUGA” would provide an area for a 

number of sports such as tennis, mini-tennis and netball – current cost estimated at 

around £100,000 

 Provision of Safe Play Space in Clint Green – current estimated cost £65,000 - £100,000  

Transport Projects 

 Provision of footpath, cycle-way along Dereham Road from Yaxham to Dereham  

 Provision of footpath along Station Road, Yaxham  
 

PARISH ACTION POINT PAP 8 – EDUCATION 

Yaxham Primary School is at its physical capacity and with up to 52 new dwellings its 

planned annual admissions is likely to be filled from with its catchment area.  NP4Yaxham or 

its successor will therefore work with Yaxham Parish Council and other elected 

representatives to work with the relevant authorities and developers to enable: 

  The sustainable development of the parish primary school to enable primary age 

children from the parish to attend their local school – an integral element of the 

community; 

  To seek to address or alleviate the chronic parking problems and congestion around the 

school at the start and close of the school day; and 

  To seek to establish a pre-school facility on or close to the Primary School. 

  

114

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com  Page 56 np4yaxham@gmail.com  

13 Monitoring/Implementation – Future Directions Plan (FDP) 
 

13.1 This Plan is for 20 years from 2016.  It shall be regularly reviewed to ensure it is in 

conformity with Breckland’s Development Plan Document and emerging Local Plan 

(once adopted) and with the NPPF.  The emerging Local Plan, proposes; 

 

“11.3 The purpose of monitoring and review is to assess the delivery and 

implementation of the new Local Plan. The Breckland Authority Monitoring Report 

provides a robust and effective review and monitoring approach. The proposed 

policies in this Preferred Options document, when fully developed at the Publication 

Plan stage, will be complemented by a monitoring framework to assess their 

effectiveness through robust monitoring mechanisms. This will allow the 

performance of the policies to be assessed, and to inform any changes which may be 

required to ensure delivery of the Plan” (Breckland Council, 2015, p. 156). 

 

13.2 The NP4Yaxham sets out planning policies for applicants for planning permissions, and 

the Parish Council and the LPA to formally take account of.  It identifies Parish Action 

Points that the parish has indicated it wishes to be achieved, and the priorities for the 

use of any s106/CIL or other developer monies may be put to within the parish.  From 

this fact a number of points arise within the parish for the Parish Council:  

1. To ensure that it considers all planning applications in the light of the NP4Yaxham 

and to what extent a planning application complies with or fails to comply with 

the NP4Yaxham and any positive or detrimental effects that follow from this;  

2. Together with other parish organisations to keep under review whether the 

planning policies set out are effective or amendments need to be considered; 

3. Together with other parish organisations to work together to achieve the Parish 

Action Points identified within NP4Yaxham. 

4. To consider establishing and funding an NP4Yaxham Action Group to take forward 

the issues identified in the NP4Yaxham and to carry out periodic reviews of its 

performance and to identify how best to advance the issues set out. 

5. As a minimum the Parish Council will initiate a formal review of the NP4Yaxham 

every five years and report on its findings to the LPA. 

 

PARISH ACTION POINT PAP 9 – NP4YAXHAM ACTION GROUP 
For the Parish Council to consider initiating, funding and support the formation of a group of 
residents – NP4Yaxham Action Group: 

 Monitor and review the Planning Policies set out in the Plan and where appropriate 
initiate amendments or additions to it; and  

 To bring together the Parish Action Points in this Neighbourhood Plan into a formal 
Neighbourhood Action Plan for Yaxham; and 

 To keep residents updated as to the progress of the PAP’s; and 

 At the Annual Parish Meeting annually report to the Parish Council and residents on 
the progress made and to suggest any recommendations or alteration to NP4Yaxham. 

115

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


“NP4Yaxham”  Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan June 2017 
 

www.np4yaxham.com   np4yaxham@gmail.com  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

116

http://www.np4yaxham.com/
mailto:np4yaxham@gmail.com


BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Gordon Bambridge, Portfolio Holder for Growth

To: Cabinet, 30th May 2017

Author: Matthew Hogan, Strategic Housing Manager

Subject: Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-21

Purpose: To consider the Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 for 
adoption    

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Cabinet considers the Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 for 
adoption

1. Background

1.1 The Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy is a major policy item for the council. 
The strategy will set out the council’s strategic approach, areas of focus and ambitions for its 
housing agenda over the period 2017-2021 for wide range of housing matters, including; 

 The ambitions that the council has for housing growth across the district
 How we will respond to government changes to housing policy, including how we will 

support the delivery of government policy objectives in way that ensures that locally 
identified needs are met and planned for

 The means through which we will support the delivery of improvements to the private 
housing stock

 How we will seek to add to housing supply, including through the council’s direct 
investment in new housing and activity in relation to addressing long term empty 
homes

 How we will align our housing ambitions with the wider health agenda, including our 
strategic approach to addressing fuel poverty

 How we will meet the needs of specific groups, such as older people, those with 
dementia and members of the armed forces

 How we will seek to prevent and mitigate homelessness, including how we will identify 
and support those at greatest risk of losing their accommodation

 The steps that we will take to support our residents in preparation for planned reform to 
the welfare benefits system

The role and purpose of the Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy is as follows: 

 To define the council’s strategic housing priorities and define the agenda in relation to 
housing and homelessness over the next four years. 

 To define a strategic direction from which housing and planning policy can be 
developed

 To assist in providing strategic clarity to partners, investors and commissioners. 
 To provide an opportunity to align the council’s housing and homelessness agenda 

with broader corporate and strategy priorities, such as those within the Breckland 
Corporate Plan 2015-19.

117

Agenda Item 12



 To set out a suite of priority activities and work streams that will provide a framework 
for delivery of the strategy.

2. How has the strategy been developed?

2.1 A number of key activities have taken place in relation to the creation and development of a 
Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy. These activities include the following:

a. A full review and assessment of prevailing and emerging national policy in relation to 
housing, homelessness, planning and welfare reform

b. A review of evidence, specifically focused upon evidence in relation to demographics, 
housing demand, housing need, the existing stock and homelessness

c. Two themed workshops with a range of external partners; one workshop with a focus 
on the challenges and opportunities in relation to the prevention and alleviation of 
homelessness, and another in relation to the challenges and opportunities in relation 
to improving the existing housing stock. 

d. A number of discussions with professional bodies, such as the National Builders 
Federation which supports small and medium-sized developers

e. Input and feedback on the draft document from the council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission in October 2016. 

f. A full 28 day public consultation on a draft strategy, which attracted comments on the 
document from key partners, members of the public and employers. 

g. A further policy review, to ensure that the strategy reflects and responds to the latest 
prevailing national housing policy matters, including the Homelessness Reduction Act 
and the February 2017 Housing White Paper. 

3. The outcome of the public consultation process    

3.1 A draft version of the Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 was made 
available for a period of public consultation during January and February 2017. As part of the 
consultation process, the document was made available and promoted in the following ways; 

a. Through the council’s website and social media
b. Through a press release which attracted media attention
c. Workshop sessions with partners
d. Presentations to partners involved in affordable housing development
e. Distribution to professional bodies, such as the National Landlords Association and 

the Federation of Master Builders
f. Distribution to parish councils
g. Shared with local employers

The public consultation exercise on the strategy generated a positive response from members 
of the public, partners and employers. A significant proportion of consultation submissions 
received were supportive of the strategy, and were positive concerning its areas of focus and 
ambitions. Specifically, the consultation process highlighted the importance of (and collective 
agreement on) a number of key themes within the document, including but exclusive to the 
following; 

 Agreement amongst partners concerning the need to focus on supporting those with 
complex needs that experience a repeat cycle of homelessness

 Agreement concerning the need to strengthen partnerships between public, private 
and voluntary sectors in order to prevent homelessness and support vulnerable 
people to remain in their own home

118



 Agreement concerning the future importance of debt advice and worklessness as a 
strategic focus for the authority in preventing homelessness

 Agreement concerning the need to ensure that appropriate and tailored support is in 
place to assist serving and former members of the armed forces that are in need of 
accommodation

 Agreement with the assessment of a need to increase the supply of smaller units of 
accommodation

This process has shaped and supported the creation of the Breckland Housing and 
Homelessness Strategy 2017-21.

4. What is the structure of the document, and what does the strategy say?

4.1 The Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 consists of three sections; 

 Section One provides an analysis of the national and local policy context relating to 
housing. 

 Section Two provides a snapshot of the housing market in Breckland, along with 
information regarding housing needs and specific housing issues. 

 Section Three covers the detail of the individual strategic priorities, and is broken 
down into three sub-sections. Each sub-section covers one of the three overarching 
objectives of the strategy; those being as follows: 

 Priority One: ‘Preventing homelessness’
 Priority Two: ‘Improving health outcomes by improving our housing’ 
 Priority Three: ‘Supporting housing growth’

Under each of these three objectives we provide details of the key priorities that the council 
will focus upon over the next four years in order to work towards achieving these objectives.

4.2 Priority One: Preventing Homelessness

Priority One sets out the council’s strategic approach in relation to how it intends to alleviate 
and prevent homelessness. In that respect, ‘priority one’ of the document forms the authority’s 
statutory homelessness strategy. The strategy makes specific reference to the following:

 Making partnership development a cornerstone of our strategic approach to 
preventing homelessness. Informal partnerships focused on homelessness already 
exist between agencies across Breckland and Norfolk. However, in order to deliver a 
fully joined-up approach and address the challenges to successfully preventing 
homelessness over the lifespan of this strategy, these partnerships need to be further 
strengthened and developed. The strategy proposes that the council will take a lead 
in driving forward partnerships across the district and the county, drawing upon 
similar partnership models used elsewhere across the UK. 

 A focus on preparing households for welfare reform and preventing homelessness by 
focusing upon debt and budgeting advice.

 A focus on making supporting access to employment and skills training a key strand 
of our strategic approach to preventing homelessness

 A focus on supporting those with complex, multiple needs from experiencing repeat 
homelessness

 A commitment to supporting recognising the contribution of serving and former 
members of the armed forces

 An ambition to adopt the principles of the Homelessness Reduction Act prior to the 
statutory implementation of the legislation

119



 Linked to our ambition to develop a pathways approach for those leaving supported 
housing, a further ambition to explore the creation of a ‘tenant accreditation scheme’ 
aimed at those leaving supported housing. 

 Our strategy for supporting victims of domestic abuse, and a commitment to explore 
ways to support with the rehabilitation of perpetrators of domestic abuse

4.3 Priority Two: Improving health outcomes by improving housing 

Priority Two relates to the existing housing stock, supporting a good quality private rented 
sector, and breaking the relationship between housing and health. The strategy makes specific 
reference to the following: 

 An ambition to explore how the council may develop a focussed and needs-based 
service to deliver both grant adaptation work, together with a holistic ‘handyperson’ 
service, as a means of helping vulnerable people to live safely, comfortably and 
independently in their own home, in addition to providing targeted support to those 
experiencing fuel poverty and dementia.

 A commitment to target our activity in relation to fuel poverty in the areas where there 
is evidence of highest need, through a targeted programme working with a range of 
partners, including Clinical Commissioning Groups

 Details of how we plan to support those with dementia, alongside other initiatives 
designed to support the growing needs of an ageing population

 A recognition of the important role that the private rented sector plays in meeting 
housing need and demand in Breckland, specifically in relation to shared single 
person accommodation, and a commitment from the council to look at how it supports 
and encourages the growth of a good quality private rented housing sector. Alongside 
this, the strategy sets out a commitment to focus our housing enforcement policies 
and mechanisms on tackling rogue landlords and addressing unsafe and sub-
standard accommodation.

4.4 Priority Three: Supporting Housing Growth

‘Priority Three’ relates to the need to continuing to ensure a strong supply and wide range of 
new housing to meet the identified housing needs of the district. The strategy makes specific 
reference to the following: 

 A clear ambition to develop a local plan that supports a strong supply of new housing, 
making the positive case in favour of the need of new accommodation to meet 
housing need and demand

 A focus on ensuring that our housing and planning policies are viable, flexible, and 
attract inward investment in new housing

 An ambition to explore how the council can play a more direct role in investing in new 
housing, including how the council potentially holding and managing housing as an 
commercial investment

 Support for the delivery of new initiatives that are designed to support households into 
home ownership, such as the Starter Homes and Rent to Buy initiative

 An ongoing council commitment to develop policy and partnerships that maximise the 
supply of low cost rented housing in the district

 A commitment to supporting initiatives that promote the growth of Custom and Self 
Build housing across the district of Breckland

 A focus on how the council will work with partners to understand and plan for meeting 
the needs of an ageing population

 A commitment to develop policy that supports the delivery of small developments of 
rural housing where local and parish-specific need has been identified

120



 A commitment to focusing effort on how Breckland Council can support small and 
medium house builders and developers, with a view to helping them to make a 
positive and continued contribution to the supply of new housing across the district

 A commitment to focusing on how the council can return long-term empty homes to 
use

It should also be noted that, since the draft strategy was presented to Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission in October 2017, progress has been made towards the delivery of a number of 
actions within the document. This includes, but is not exclusive to, progress of the following 
actions; 

 Progress towards the creation of two Early Intervention Hubs across the district
 Work to strengthen the relationship between housing team officers and charities 

involved in supporting members of the armed forces
 A service review of the council’s Housing Advice and Homelessness Service, with a 

focus towards providing a more holistic range of advice concerning access to 
alternative forms of housing options

 Work towards an business case for a Breckland Handy Persons Service
 Ongoing work toward the adoption of a Local Plan, and work to ensure that housing 

policies within the Local Plan are viable, deliverable and attract inward investment
 Commissioning research in conjunction with Norfolk County Council concerning the 

demand and need for supported housing designed to meet the needs of an ageing 
population

5. How will the strategy be monitored and delivered?

5.1 The strategy contains a suite of key actions that the authority will pursue over the lifetime of 
the strategy in order to deliver on the key strategic aims and objectives of the document. The 
authority’s Strategic Housing Manager will take ownership for the delivery of the strategy. 
Regular reporting on the progress made with the delivery of actions contained within the 
strategy will be captured and reported upon through the council’s performance management 
system. 

5.2 Furthermore, it should be noted that officers will continue to monitor future shifts and 
changes to national government policy in relation to housing and homelessness and the 
impact of such changes upon aims, ambitions and actions contained within the strategy.

6. OPTIONS

6.1 Do nothing (Not recommended). Under this option, the document will not be adopted by 
the authority. 

6.2 That Cabinet considers the Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 
for adoption (Recommended Option). Under this option, the strategy will be adopted by 
the authority. 

7. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

7.1 To enable the Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 to be adopted by the 
authority.  

8. EXPECTED BENEFITS

121



8.1 The Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 will fulfil the following function 
and provide the following benefits: 

 The strategy will play a major role in defining the council’s strategic priorities and 
define the agenda in relation to housing and homelessness over the next four years. 

 The strategy will define a strategic direction from which housing and planning policy 
will be developed

 The strategy will assist in providing strategic clarity on the housing priorities for 
Breckland to partners, investors and commissioners. 

 The strategy will provide an opportunity to align the council’s housing and 
homelessness agenda with broader corporate and strategy priorities, such as those 
within the Corporate Plan.

 The strategy will set out a suite of priority activities and work streams that will provide 
a framework for delivery of the strategy.

9. IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

9.1.1 The strategy itself does not generate any carbon footprint / environmental implications. The 
specific actions associated with the strategy may have implications in these areas, but they 
will be dealt with through individual reports, business plans and processes that will flow from 
the strategy. 

9.2 Constitution & Legal

9.2.1.The strategy itself does not generate any constitutional and legal implications. The specific 
actions associated with the strategy may have implications in these areas, but they will be 
dealt with through individual reports, business plans and processes that will flow from the 
strategy. 

9.3 Contracts

9.3.1 The strategy itself does not generate any contractual implications. The specific actions 
associated with the strategy may have implications in these areas, but they will be dealt 
with through individual reports, business plans and processes that will flow from the 
strategy. 

9.4 Corporate Priorities

9.4.1 The principle purpose of the Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy is to define 
the housing priorities and activities that will support the delivery of the Council’s overarching 
strategic aims and ambitions, such as those included within the Corporate Plan. 

9.5 Crime and Disorder 

9.5.1 It is the view of the author that there are no known implications. 

9.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

9.6.1 The strategy itself does not generate any equality, diversity and/or human rights 
implications. The specific actions associated with the strategy may have implications in 
these areas, but they will be dealt with through individual reports, business plans and 
processes that will flow from the strategy. 

122



9.7 Financial 

9.7.1 The strategy itself does not generate any financial implications. The specific actions 
associated with the strategy may have implications in these areas, but they will be dealt 
with through individual reports, business plans and processes that will flow from the 
strategy. 

9.8 Health & Wellbeing

9.8.1 The strategy defines how the council's housing agenda will make a positive contribution to 
the delivery of wider activity in relation to Health and Wellbeing. 

9.9 Reputation 

9.9.1 In order to protect against any reputational issues, the council will ensure that the content 
and delivery of the strategy is kept under continuous review. 

9.10 Risk Management 

9.10.1 The strategy itself does not generate any risk management implications. The specific 
actions associated with the strategy may have implications in these areas, but they will be 
dealt with through individual reports, business plans and processes that will flow from the 
strategy. 

9.11 Safeguarding

9.11.1 The strategy itself does not generate any safeguarding implications. The specific actions 
associated with the strategy may have implications in these areas, but they will be dealt 
with through individual reports, business plans and processes that will flow from the 
strategy. 

9.12 Staffing

9.12.1 The strategy itself does not generate any staffing implications. The specific actions 
associated with the strategy may have implications in these areas, but they will be dealt 
with through individual reports, business plans and processes that will flow from the 
strategy. 

9.13 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

9.13.1 The strategy has been developed following an extensive process of engagement with key 
partners, employers and members of the public, including a 28 day period of consultation in 
January/February 2017.  

9.14 Transformation Programme

9.14.1 The strategy itself does not generate any transformation implications. The specific actions 
associated with the draft strategy may have implications in these areas, but they will be 
dealt with through individual reports, business plans and processes that will flow from the 
strategy. 

10 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

10.1 All wards

123



11 ACRONYMS 

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Matthew Hogan, Strategic Housing Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764524
Email: matthew.hogan@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix A Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-21

124

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Breckland Housing and 

Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

125



2 

 

SECTION 1 - INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW 

Why does Breckland need a Housing and Homelessness strategy? 

The Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy is a key strategic document for the council. Our strategy is one 

that sets out the council’s policies, commitments and programme for a wide range of housing matters, including:  

• How the council will assist those in housing need, such as the homeless and those living in fuel poverty 

• The council’s priorities for delivering new homes, including homes delivered through the market and homes 

to support those in housing need  

• How the council will seek to improve the existing housing stock to support the health and wellbeing needs of 

residents 

• How the council will seek to prevent households from experiencing homelessness, and the support that we 

will seek to provide if they do 

• How the housing agenda in Breckland over the next four years will contribute towards delivery of the wider 

ambitions in the council’s Corporate Plan, such as our ambitions in relation to the growth of the economy, 

supporting vulnerable people and improving health.  

Furthermore, the council has a statutory duty to prepare a strategy setting out how it will seek to prevent 

homelessness across its administrative area. The Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 is designed 

to meet and exceed this statutory duty.  

Who is the Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy for? 

The Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy is intended to benefit everyone who lives in Breckland. It does 

not only focus upon addressing housing need, but it also focuses upon the role that housing will play in meeting the 

wider aspirations of the district, including economic and social ambitions.  

What period of time does it cover, and when will it be reviewed? 

The Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy covers the four-year period from 2017 until 2021. The policies 

contained within the strategy will be monitored and reviewed annually with our partners to ensure that they remain 

relevant to the housing agenda in Breckland. This process will lead to the production of an annual report that will set 

out progress made against each policy objective. 

Structure of the document 

The Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy consists of three sections. It is structured along the following 

lines: 

• Section One (Pages 2- 5) provides an analysis of the national and local policy context relating to housing and 

homelessness 

 

• Section Two (Pages 6 – 10): provides a snapshot of the housing market in Breckland, along with information 

regarding housing needs and specific housing issues. 

 

• Section Three (Pages 11 – 31): this section is broken down into three sub-sections. Each sub-section covers 

one of the three overarching objectives of the strategy. Under each of these three objectives we provide 

details of the key priorities that the council will focus upon over the next four years in order to work towards 

achieving these objectives. 

 

The strategy includes a glossary of terms (pages 32 – 33). An annual action plan will be produced which will support 

the delivery of the priorities, aims and objectives of the strategy.  

 

 

 

 

126



3 

 

National Strategic Context 

Housing policy is changing at a significant pace at a national level. Since the General Election in May 2015, central 

government has altered the housing landscape through a number of significant policy changes to the financial and 

legislative framework that sits around the housing sector. This includes proposed changes to the National Planning 

Policy Framework, proposed changes to the rent regimes for affordable housing providers, the introduction of 

various reforms through the Housing and Planning Act 2016, and more recently the publication of the government’s 

housing white paper entitled ‘Fixing our broken housing market’.  

The recent changes build upon previous changes to housing and planning policy introduced under the previous 

government between 2010 and 2015. During this period the coalition government bought about significant changes 

to the funding mechanism for low cost rented housing, introduced major reforms to the welfare system in the UK, 

and sought to promote and incentivise housing growth through the introduction of both the National Planning Policy 

Framework and the New Homes Bonus scheme.  

The following provides a summary of the direction of travel in relation to housing policy at a central government 

level:  

• An overarching ambition to build one million new homes by the end of the current parliament. The 

government’s recent housing white paper sets out a ‘supply-side’ approach achieve this aim, with a strong 

focus on removing the barriers to accelerating housing delivery.  

• A focus on making local authorities responsible for ensuring the delivery of new housing, as opposed to local 

authorities simply allocating land and issuing planning permissions.  

• A strong commitment towards supporting home ownership, including a policy ambition to support more 

employed households out of the private rented sector and into home ownership. This includes the 

introduction of the new Starter Homes scheme, which will provide first time buyers under the age of 40 with 

a 20% discount on the open market value of a new home. The government has committed to have 200,000 

new Starter Homes either built or started by 2020, with funding set aside to deliver 60,000 of these. The 

government has also set out plans to extend the ‘Right to Buy’ scheme to housing association tenants, 

providing social tenants the ability to purchase their home at a discount. 

• An emphasis on diversifying the number of organisations involved in the delivery of new housing. This 

includes supporting small and medium-sized developers with finance through the government’s £2bn Home 

Building Fund, alongside proposed changes to the National Planning Policy Framework that seek to make it 

simpler for developers to obtain planning consent on sites typically developed by small and medium sized 

developers 

• A focus on increasing the level of self and custom build housing activity within the UK, with an ambition to 

mirror the levels of self and custom build housing seen in other developed European countries 

• A desire to see local authorities play a more activity role in the direct delivery of new homes, including the 

provision of market housing for sale and rent 

• An emphasis on encouraging housing associations to revisit their investment priorities and encourage them 

to provide a broader range of housing types, and no longer focus largely upon meeting the needs of those 

who require low cost rented housing.  

• An emphasis on the need for social housing to be more effectively managed, including through the use of 

fixed-term tenancies to ensure that low cost rented housing is prioritised for the most vulnerable 

• A welfare reform programme with a focus on reducing expenditure on housing subsidy for low income 

families, whilst incentivising households to access employment or to work additional hours. This includes the 

introduction of the Universal Credit system, the lowering of the ‘benefit cap’ to £20,000, and plans to reduce 

the housing benefit entitlement of people aged between 18 and 25.  

127



4 

 

• Through the Homelessness Reduction Act, plans to legislation in order to broaden both the statutory duties 

placed on local authorities with regards to preventing homelessness, alongside the support that local 

authorities will be required to provide homeless households.   

• Plans to devolve revenue budgets for supported housing to local authorities, with a view to giving local 

authorities greater control and influence over the type and quality of supported housing in their area. The 

government refers to this as giving local authorities an ‘enhanced commissioning role’ for supported 

housing.  

• Plans to improve the professionalism of the private rented sector, through the introduction of a range of 

mechanisms designed to address rogue landlords, encourage landlords to formulise their business 

arrangements, and provide private tenants with consumer rights.  

• A focus on addressing fuel poverty and improving energy efficiency in private housing stock by utilising 

sources of private finance, principally achieved through the Energy Company Obligation 

 

Local Strategic Context 

• Breckland Corporate Plan 2015-19 

The Breckland Corporate Plan sets the council’s vision and ambitions for the district over the period between 2015 

and 2019. The corporate plan sets our overarching vision, that being that ‘Breckland is a place of opportunity and 

ambition for all’, along with identifying four key cross-cutting corporate priorities. Those four priorities are set out 

below: 

o To support Breckland to develop and thrive 

o To provide the right services, at the right time in the right way 

o To develop the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth 

o To enable stronger, more independent communities 

The Corporate Plan identifies a number of ‘critical activities’ that will support the delivery of corporate priorities and 

our overarching vision. The council’s housing agenda will play a significant role in supporting the delivery against the 

following ‘critical activities’: 

o To develop and implement a local planning and development structure that achieves substantial and 

continued growth (Priority One) 

o To work towards delivery and maintenance of a five year housing land supply (Priority One) 

o To ensure that council services are accessible, customer friendly and responsive to residents and 

business needs (Priority Two) 

o To develop our commercial approach in a consistent way to secure our financial position by exploring 

opportunities to increase income (Priority Two) 

o Develop our organisation to be business ready, community focused and a partner of choice (Priority 

Two) 

o Ensure that our regulatory services are consistent and effective and that the Council is legally compliant 

(Priority Two) 

o To work with partners on supporting older people to remain active, participative and live independently 

within the community (Priority Four) 

o To enable the effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs (Priority Four) 

o Work with current and new partners to deliver council services which improve the opportunities for 

vulnerable residents and families with complex needs (Priority Four) 

o Lead and support the Breckland Health and Wellbeing Partnership to address key local health, care and 

wellbeing issues (Priority Four) 

128



5 

 

The Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 will set out how we will ensure the delivery of these 

critical activities and the broader priorities associated with the Breckland Corporate Plan 2015-19.  

• Breckland Local Plan 

The Breckland Local Development Framework sets out the spatial vision and broad growth ambitions of Breckland to 

2026. Breckland Council is presently producing a new single Local Plan, with a plan period extending to 2036. The 

Breckland Local Plan is being developed within the context of the following guiding principles and strategic 

objectives;  

o To deliver housing that meets the needs of the community and local economy through the concentration of 

development in the Strategic Urban Extensions of Attleborough and Thetford and where services and 

facilities can be supported within or adjacent to the market towns of Dereham, Swaffham and Watton and 

the local service centres, whilst giving recognition to the need for small scale and appropriate development 

in rural areas to support rural communities and services; 

o To support the development and maintenance of a balanced housing market and a variety of decent, 

affordable housing which meets the needs of all local people and supports economic and community 

development; 

o To encourage high quality, sustainable and safe design for places and spaces, in both the private and public 

realm, and which respects the character and local distinctiveness of Breckland’s communities; 

o To improve the health and well-being of our communities by reducing health inequalities, promoting healthy 

living and supporting locally accessible, high quality health care; 

o To include technical design standards for new homes.  

There is a strong relationship between this housing strategy and the Local Plan; the Breckland Housing and 

Homelessness Strategy sets the broad tone for many of the housing and growth-related policies that will emerge as 

part of the process of developing the Local Plan, specifically in relation to affordable housing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

129



6 

 

SECTION 2: HOUSING IN CONTEXT IN BRECKLAND 

This section is designed to set the scene in relation to the housing across the district of Breckland. It highlights key 

trends in relation to the demographics, the housing market, housing need, housing demand, stock condition and the 

factors that drive homelessness in Breckland. These key trends and statistics will play an important role in identifying 

key areas of focus for priorities and actions that will emerge from the strategy.  

1. Demographic analysis 

The population of our district is growing, generating a need for new housing. Statistics from the census 

demonstrate that our population grew by 7.47% to 130,491 between 2001 and 2011, representing a rate of growth 

faster than the national average over the same period. Our most recent post-census estimates, taken in 2014, 

suggest that our population now stands at around 134,000. This represents a further 2.2% increase on the 

population levels in 2011. By 2036 our population is anticipated to increase to 153,100, representing 12,500 

additional households compared with 2011 figures.   

Our population profile is older than average, and the percentage of older people is anticipated to grow. 48% of our 

population is aged over 45, compared with 42% nationally. Furthermore, we have higher than average numbers aged 

65+ compared with the UK on a whole. In terms of projections, by 2032 the number of households aged over 90 is 

anticipated to increase by 131%. In terms of specialist housing provision, Norfolk has one of the lowest levels of 

Extra Care Housing per head of population when compared with other regions across the country.  

Dementia and disability rates are on the rise. The rates of dementia in the population of Breckland is anticipated to 

increase by 58% over the next 16 years, with rates of physical disability also anticipated to increase by similar levels 

over the same time period. The number of residents with mental health problems is anticipated to rise by 1% over 

the lifetime of this strategy, and the number of residents under the age of 65 living with a disability is anticipated to 

increase by 4% by 2032. 

We have a larger ‘white other’ population than Norfolk and the UK as a whole. This reflects growth over the past 

decade in the rates of new communities settling in the district from Portugal and Eastern Europe, driven largely by 

employment opportunities associated with agriculture and factory work. This inward migration includes single 

workers and young families. There is anecdotal evidence of local firms recruiting single people from across Europe to 

undertake factory work, generating a need for single person accommodation.  

There are a number of notable population trends associated with health and wellbeing in Breckland. Health data 

covering 2015 from Public Health England suggests that the rate of excess winter deaths in Breckland is higher than 

the average for England. Whereas there is little evidence to conclusively explain this trend, we do know that our 

population is older than national averages and that excess cold is a common ‘hazard’ within our housing stock. 

Health data also suggests that obesity rates are higher in Breckland than the national average, as are rates of 

diabetes. These health trends have the potential to generate to influence the demand on housing services locally, 

specifically in relation to the need for adapted accommodation, and/or minor works to support people to live 

independently in their own home.  

2. Housing need, housing demand and market signals  

14,300 new homes are required in Breckland over the next 20 years, at a rate of c.600 a year. Our 2015 Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), which considers future population growth and other trends to understand the 

future housing needs of the district, identified a need for 597 new homes per annum over the next 20 years to meet 

the needs of the district of Breckland, driven by population growth and household formation. A 2017 refresh of this 

study has provided further evidence of a need for this level of new housing per annum.  

130



7 

 

The market for new housing in Breckland is strong, with capacity to absorb additional supply. Our evidence 

suggests that Breckland is a district where the market for new housing is strong; a total of 619 new homes were 

delivered over 2015/16, and house prices have risen by 12% between 2011 and 2015 suggesting that demand for 

new housing continues to outstrip supply. Our evidence also suggests that demand is such for new homes that there 

is significant capacity within the market to ‘absorb’ a greater number of homes than which are presently being 

delivered. However, in order to continue to meet projected future need, the rate of house building across Breckland 

needs to continue.  

Affordable housing plays an important role in meeting the accommodation needs of the district. Our evidence 

suggests that, in order to meet the needs of our district, there is a need for around a third of new housing to be 

affordable housing. This is driven by an average affordability ratio of 7.4 to 1, which means that the average house 

price in Breckland is over seven times that of the average salary for those residing within the district, compared with 

a national affordability ratio of 6.5 to 1 (meaning the price of a home nationally is six and a half times that of the 

average salary).  

Our private rented sector is growing in size, and plays an in important role in meeting housing need and demand 

locally. The private rented sector makes up around 15% of our housing stock, and the sector has grown by nearly 6% 

between 2001 and 2011. Our SHMA tells us that 8,200 households privately rent in Breckland. Evidence suggests 

that 2,580 of these households are supported by housing benefit, suggesting that the private rented sector plays an 

important role in meeting the needs of those who would be entitled to affordable housing. Furthermore, our SHMA 

tells us that around 2200 households in rented accommodation in Breckland are a) not renting through choice and b) 

would have the financial capacity to access different forms of low cost home ownership. Finally, 3500 households 

are renting through choice without any financial assistance from the state. This suggests that the private sector plays 

an important role in the housing market in Breckland, both in terms of meeting the needs of those are waiting to 

access affordable housing and also supporting those who rent through choice. Furthermore, it also tells us that there 

is scope to support many households into low cost home ownership. 

Certain groups are more likely to experience affordability issues that others. Our evidence from the SHMA tells us 

that certain groups across Breckland are more likely to struggle to meet their housing needs without assistance in 

the form of housing benefit and/or affordable housing. Specifically, this includes all single person households 

(especially those under 25 years of age), couples under the age of 35 with one child, and 86% of lone parent 

households aged between 25 and 34. This evidence needs to feed into our strategic response to new housing 

development, fuel poverty and homelessness.  

There is a present and future need for accommodation designed to meet the needs of older people. Our evidence, 

albeit limited at this time, suggest a gross need for new accommodation specifically designed to meet the needs of 

older persons. This includes Extra Care Housing, supported housing for those with dementia, and sheltered housing 

in a rented and leasehold basis. Limitations concerning our existing evidence base will require us to work with 

partners to undertake a more detailed analysis of these needs, including analysis of the most appropriate locations 

for this type of housing provision.  

There is a need to ensure that the needs of the gypsy, traveller and show persons are met. In 2016 the authority 

commissioned a Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople study as a means of providing an evidence to support 

the process of developing a new Breckland Local Plan. The new study was commissioned following changes to the 

national definition of ‘gypsy and traveller’ in 2015. This new definition focuses around distinguishing between those 

who are actively travelling, and those who have permanently ceased to travel. The new Gypsy, Traveller and 

Travelling Showpeople study identified a need for 10 additional residential pitches before 2036 (7 of which will be 

required early in the local plan period), alongside a need for 2 additional plots for travelling show people. Our 

emerging Local Plan sets out our approach to meeting this need.  

131



8 

 

Existing Housing Stock 

Our housing stock is weighted towards larger housing stock when compared with the national average. Nearly 

47% of the existing housing stock in Breckland is detached housing, and the number of rooms per household is 

higher in Breckland than the national average. Our district has a higher percentage of three, four and five bed homes 

than the national average, and a lower percentage of two and one bed properties compared with England as a 

whole. This has implications for those looking to enter into the market for smaller homes, such as those looking to 

access the housing ladder for the first time or those looking to downsize.  

The condition of our housing stock compares well when compared nationally, but there is still work to do. Around 

85% of our housing stock meets the ‘Decent Homes Standard’, compared with the UK average of 74%. Our evidence 

suggest that this is largely due to the age profile of our housing stock, which is weighted more towards newer post-

1981 housing compared with national averages. Challenges remain, however. Around 6% of our housing stock 

contains a ‘category one hazard’ (which is defined as a hazard which has the potential to significantly impact upon 

the health of the occupants), and 82% of these hazards relate to ‘excess cold’ linked to poor insulation, inefficient 

heating systems and a lack of draft-proofing.  

A high proportion of rural residents are classed as being in Fuel Poverty. Our evidence suggests that in some wards 

of the district, as many as 14% of households can be are defined as being ‘fuel poor’. This is especially the case in 

many of the rural wards across Breckland. Fuel poverty is less prevalent in the towns, with the exception of certain 

parts of Thetford where fuel poverty affects around 9% of residents. To be ‘fuel poor’ means that your income is 

lower than average, but your fuel and heating costs are higher as a result of being off-gas and/or due to a lack of 

measures to keep homes thermally insulated and warm. Furthermore we know that hazards such as ‘excess cold’ are 

more prevalent in the older housing stock in Breckland. This evidence of high need in particular areas in particular 

house types will guide our strategic response to addressing fuel poverty.  

Houses in Multiple Occupation play an important role in meeting housing need across Breckland. Houses in 

Multiple Occupation (more commonly known by the abbreviation ‘HMO’) are shared forms of accommodation 

where a house or flat has been let to a number of individual parties, each of which occupy a single room. Our 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment has identified that HMOs play an important role in the housing market across 

Breckland, specifically in terms of meeting the accommodation needs of single people, including those who have 

relocated to the district for employment. We estimate that there are approximately 250 Houses in Multiple 

Occupation (HMOs) across Breckland. However, we do not know enough about their location and their condition. 

Consequently, supporting good quality single person accommodation whilst better understanding and identifying 

poor quality and hazardous housing will be a key theme of our strategic work in relation to the private rented sector.  

There are approximately 450 empty homes across Breckland. Over the past few years, the council has made a 

significant impact of reducing the number of empty homes in the district. This includes through our ‘Restore’ 

scheme, which has provided grants to empty home owners to return their properties to use as affordable housing. 

However, our evidence suggests that there are still approximately 450 empty homes across the district, which 

equates to a figure similar to the total number of new homes built in the district during 2014/15. This represents an 

untapped supply of useable housing that, if brought back into use through further proactive work with empty home 

owners, would make a significant contribution to the availability of housing across the district.  

3. Homelessness 

Despite an increase in prevention work, the demand on homelessness services remains high. Working in 

conjunction with partners, Breckland Council prevented 223 households from experiencing homelessness during 

2015/16. The council’s Housing Advice and Homelessness service dealt with over 1,306 individual housing advice 

132



9 

 

cases during that same period, with the demand on the service expecting to remain high throughout the lifespan of 

this strategy. 

The loss of private rented accommodation is the main cause of homelessness in Breckland, as is the loss of 

housing association accommodation. Our evidence suggests that the most common cause of homelessness in 

Breckland is the loss of a private rented tenancy, caused by landlords issuing notice to tenants. The loss of a housing 

association accommodation is also a major cause of homelessness, often as the result of rent arrears, anti-social 

behaviour and other tenancy breeches. This evidence suggests that more needs to be done to prevent homelessness 

amongst these groups, including exploring how we assist households leaving private rented accommodation back 

into private accommodation before they become homeless. This evidence also suggests that we need to work closer 

with housing associations to identify and support tenants at risk of homelessness before it occurs.  

Eviction from family accommodation is a major cause of homelessness. The second highest cause of homelessness 

in Breckland is eviction from the accommodation of family or friends, accounting for around 20% of all homelessness 

applications to the authority over the past three years. This is often the result of young people leaving their family 

home as a result of family breakdown and/or a lack of space, or sometimes as the result of families living with 

friends on a temporary basis following the loss of their previous accommodation elsewhere.  

Domestic Abuse is a key cause of homelessness in Breckland. Our statistics show that domestic abuse was the 

cause of around 10% of instances of recorded homelessness across Breckland over the past three years. Our 

strategic approach to preventing homelessness needs to look at how we support those experiencing domestic abuse. 

This involves looking at how we ensure that those fleeing abusive relationships are supported in finding a place of 

safety, and/or supporting victims in exercising legal powers that allow them to remain in their own home, free from 

harassment and intimidation.    

There is evidence of a local link between worklessness and housing problems. There is anecdotal evidence to 

suggest that around eight out of ten households who experience homelessness in Breckland have also experienced 

challenges in relation to employment, skills and worklessness. This is especially in relation to single person 

households and young people. The importance of focusing on worklessness and skills as a means of addressing 

homelessness is heightened by the government’s welfare reform agenda; proposed changes to the benefits system 

will make it increasingly difficult for out of work households to meet their housing costs.  

Young households are more likely to experience homelessness than other age groups in Breckland. Over the past 

three years around 30% of recorded instances of homelessness in Breckland have involved households aged 

between 16 and 25, mirroring national trends. We also know that national research suggests that those who 

experience homelessness at a young age are more likely to experience long term issues throughout later adulthood. 

Furthermore, looking forward, it is this group who are likely to be significantly more affected by planned changes to 

the welfare system. This includes reductions in the housing benefit entitlement of social housing tenants under the 

age of 35, and plans to restrict housing benefit entitlement to those aged 18-21.  

Planned reforms to the welfare system will have a significant impact on out of work families across Breckland. As 

part of the Budget in the summer of 2015, the government announced plans to lower the ‘Benefit Cap’ from £26,000 

to £20,000. This places a limit of the total value of financial assistance that households can claim from the state in 

the form of welfare benefits. Our analysis suggests that the lowering of the cap will have a significant impact on 

certain groups across Breckland, specifically out of work families with three or more children who are residing in 

both the social and private rented sector. Data from the Department from Work and Pensions suggests that over 100 

existing households have been affected locally since the introduction of the cap during 2016. Some larger families in 

the private rented sector will see a reduction in income of up to £290 per week. Without support to reduce their 

outgoing and maximise their income, including through support to find employment, these households will be 

133



10 

 

exposed to greater risk of experiencing hardship and homelessness. Our strategic approach to homelessness will 

need to help prepare households for these changes.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

134



11 

 

SECTION THREE: DEFINING THE PRIORITIES AND IDENTIFYING KEY ACTIVITIES 

The last two sections of this strategy have focused on national policy, local strategy, and the evidence in relation to 

the context surrounding housing in Breckland. A number of key overarching themes have emerged from this 

analysis; a focus on the need to support housing growth as a means of meeting a range of housing needs, a focus on 

improving the housing stock in order to improve health and wellbeing outcomes, and a need to work proactively in a 

number of areas to prevent and alleviate homelessness.  

This allows us to define three key priorities for this strategy, those being the following:  

• Priority One: Preventing homelessness 

• Priority Two: Improving health outcomes by improving our housing  

• Priority Three: Supporting housing growth 

The following section of this strategy is structured along the lines of these three key priorities. Under each key 

priority are a number of themes, which themselves are supported by a number of actions.  

PRIORITY ONE: PREVENTING HOMELESSNESS 

Developing an effective partnership approach to preventing homelessness 

The effectiveness of agencies in preventing homelessness is hugely dependent upon the ability of those agencies to 

work closely and in partnership. Homelessness is a complex problem, and as a result the successful prevention of 

homelessness requires the sharing of skills, the sharing of expertise, and effective and joined-up communication 

between a wide-range of stakeholders. These key stakeholders include private and social landlords, voluntary sector 

agencies, Children and Adults Social Care services, hospitals, prisons and the police.  

Informal partnerships focused on homelessness already exist between agencies across Breckland and Norfolk. 

However, in order to deliver a fully joined-up approach and address the challenges to successfully preventing 

homelessness over the lifespan of this strategy, these partnerships need to be further strengthened and developed. 

The introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act, with its broadening of the duties that will be placed on local 

authorities to prevent homelessness, further necessitates the need for agencies involved in supporting people at risk 

of homeless to work in a joined-up way.  

Consequently, Breckland Council will take a lead on developing network of strategic and operational partnerships 

that will form the cornerstone of our approach to preventing and alleviating homelessness.    

We will;…  

• Develop a Breckland-wide homelessness forum, with a view to taking the lead on the creation of a wider 

strategic homelessness prevention partnership with key statutory, private and voluntary agencies across 

Norfolk 

• Work with partner accommodation providers across the private, public and voluntary sector to develop a 

shared pre-eviction protocol, helping to flag-up those at risk of homelessness before crisis occurs 

• Develop stronger partnerships with private landlords, to better support them in supporting their tenants 

before tenancy failure occurs 

• Work towards a method of sharing information between partners on vulnerable service users, with a view to 

preventing repeat homelessness and managing risk amongst vulnerable clients 

Debt and homelessness 

135



12 

 

Debt is a major underlying cause of homelessness nationally and locally. We have anecdotal evidence to suggest that 

a high number of those experience housing difficulties and homelessness also experience issues relating to debt. This 

is reflected in the numbers of households that the council deals with where there are issues in relation to rent 

arrears, mortgage arears and defaults on consumer credit.   

In order to prepare households for the impact of planned welfare reforms there is a need to ensure that vulnerable 

households receive the support necessary to assist them in maximising their income, reducing their outgoings and 

better managing their finances. These reforms include the introduction of Universal Credit, which will see 

households receive their welfare entitlements in a single monthly payment, with an expectation that households will 

budget accordingly to meet of their essential costs such as housing. There is a fear that many households may 

struggle with this requirement, generating a need for appropriate support to be available for those who are 

particularly vulnerable.  

There is also a need to raise awareness about the challenges associated with debt, especially amongst young people. 

Consequently, tackling long standing issues around debt and supporting households with access to budgeting advice 

will form a key part of our strategic approach to preventing homelessness for the lifetime of this strategy. 

We will;…  

• Seek to commission new debt and budgeting advice services, with a focus on helping those at risk of 

homelessness as a result of debt to better manage their finances in a sustainable way 

• Review our policies in relation to Discretionary Housing Payment, with a view to ensuring that those seeking 

short-term support with accommodation costs access debt and budgeting advice in the first instance 

• Build our relationship with, and promote the use of, organisation that offer alternative savings vehicles, such 

a credit unions. This is with a view to helping people become more resilient to sudden and unexpected 

changes in income that often lead households into debt and homelessness.  

• Make debt and budgeting support a key feature of the service provided by the council’s Housing Advice and 

Homelessness Service, as a means of preventing and alleviating homelessness in a sustainable way. The 

authority will use individual bespoke action plans (an requirement of the Homelessness Reduction Act) to 

provide tailored support to homeless to those at risk of homelessness on accessing debt and budgeting 

advice.   

• Work with our partners to develop programmes to raise awareness of debt issues within schools, with a 

focus on debt education and preparing young people to start thinking about their housing options 

Worklessness and homelessness 

Supporting households out of welfare dependency and into employment is also a key ambition of various strands of 

national government policy. There is also a strong link between worklessness, skills, dependency upon welfare and 

homelessness.  

There are a number of national policy changes that will impact upon those who are experiencing worklessness. 

These include the introduction of Universal Credit, seeks to ensure that households who enter into employment are 

always better-off than those who remain on welfare, and reductions in the level of welfare entitlement that out-of-

work households are entitled to receive. This includes the national introduction of a £20,000 ‘welfare cap’, which 

limits the total value of financial assistance that a family can receive in terms of welfare benefits, alongside 

reductions in the entitlement of out of work households in relation to benefits to cover housing costs.  

For many households, especially larger families in the private rented sector and for single people under 35 years of 

age, these reforms will compel many to seek employment in order to cover their basic living costs. Consequently, 

136



13 

 

supporting households out of both short and long-term worklessness will form a key focus of our strategic approach 

to addressing homelessness as a council.  

We will;…  

• Make promoting access to employment a key feature of the service provided by the council’s Housing Advice 

and Homelessness Service as a means of preventing and alleviating homelessness in a sustainable way. The 

authority will use individual bespoke action plans (a requirement of the Homelessness Reduction Act) to 

provide tailored support to homeless to those at risk of homelessness on accessing employment.   

• Through our Economic Development team, develop a number of programmes aimed at supporting people 

into work, including supporting young people in obtaining apprenticeships through to assisting those who 

are affected by the loss of jobs at key employers within the district.   

• As part of our wider economic development programme, promote initiatives that support vulnerable people 

in developing their digital skills as a means of supporting vulnerable people in the process of obtaining 

employment that utilise ICT skills, and also to assist in online job searches.  

• Develop mechanisms within our housing allocations policy that support and incentivise those who are 

undertaking education, employment or training, by awarding them additional priority for housing.  

Complex needs and homelessness 

Homelessness is often the result of a range of more complex underlying issues, ranging from social exclusion, 

financial deprivation, poor mental health, repeat offending and substance abuse. Those with complex underlying 

needs are more likely to experience homelessness, with many with such needs becoming homelessness on a repeat 

basis as underlying complex issues fail to get addressed.  

Those with complex needs require a significant intervention from a range of services to help address these issues 

and bring about a sustainable resolution to their ongoing issues. However, these complex needs cannot be 

sustainably addressed in isolation; supporting those with multiple issues requires the right level of support to be 

delivered in a joined-up way across a range of partners. This requires agencies to work in partnership around the 

need of single individuals, and for the right services to be commissioned in the right locations to meet the needs of 

the most vulnerable.  

In order to support the most vulnerable and prevent repeat homelessness, supporting the needs of those with 

complex issues will be a key focus of our activity in relation to homelessness prevention going forward.  

We will;…  

• Working with Norfolk County Council, develop two Early Intervention Hubs that will host and deliver a range 

of joined-up services that are designed to meet complex and multiple needs. The Early Intervention Hubs will 

host services ranging from housing advice services, welfare benefits teams, police and fire services, housing 

associations, Children’s Social Services and voluntary agencies. This is with a view to deliver joined-up and 

cohesive services that enable those with complex needs to be more effectively support with multiple, often 

interrelated issues.  

• Establish a multi-agency Vulnerable Adults Panel, chaired by the council’s Housing team, to develop joined-

up action plans for those with complex housing-related needs 

• Work with commissioners to improve the availability of services designed to support those with complex 

needs, with a specific focus on increasing the availability of mental health services and prioritising 

investment in supported housing services for those with the most complex needs 

Supporting those who are serving, or have served, in Her Majesty’s Armed Forces 

137



14 

 

Her Majesty’s Armed Forces make an incalculable contribution to the defence of the realm. However, many serving 

and former members of the armed forces often struggle to access accommodation that is suitable to meet their 

needs. Specially, those who sustain injuries and disability through their service are often heavily dependent upon 

social housing to meet their ongoing needs when they leave the forces.  

Breckland Council is proud to be a signatory to the Armed Forces Covenant, which commits the authority to 

supporting serving and former members of the armed forces and their families. This commitment is reflected in our 

Housing and Homelessness Strategy.  

We will;…  

• Continue to ensure that serving and recently discharged members of the armed forces are given additional 

priority for permanent accommodation through the council’s housing register.  

• Keep under constant review the need for specialist accommodation to meet the needs of serving and former 

armed forces personnel and their families. 

• Strengthen our existing partnerships with the likes of SSAFA and Help for Heroes to ensure that, through our 

Housing Advice and Homelessness service, we ensure serving and former armed forces personnel and their 

families obtain the support and assistance that they need to prepare for, and adapt to, civilian life.  

Ensuring the provision of effective housing support services  

Across Norfolk, housing support services (such as hostel accommodation for homeless households, and ‘floating 

support’ for those who require support to maintain their accommodation), are commissioned and funded by Norfolk 

County Council. At the time of writing this strategy, Norfolk County Council has unveiled plans to reduce the amount 

of funding available for housing support services across the county, with plans to commence withdrawing current 

levels of funding from late 2017.  

Given the importance of housing support services in preventing and mitigating homelessness, Breckland Council is 

presently engaged in discussions with Norfolk County Council to understand and shape the commissioning priorities 

at a county level, in addition to liaising with providers of supported housing in Breckland in order to assist them in 

planning for the proposed reductions in funding.  

The Government is also consulting on the design of the national mechanism for the funding for supported housing. 

Currently, the rental element of supported housing is funded through the welfare system via housing benefit. The 

government is proposing to change this from April 2019, and is consulting on plans to devolve funding directly to 

local government. Breckland Council is, and will continue to be, engaged in the ongoing work at a central 

government level around the future design of the funding mechanism for supported housing.  

We will:... 

• Work with our local partners to understand, plan for and mitigate the impact of any proposed county 

reductions in available funding for housing support services, including the impact upon current residents 

• Work with Norfolk County Council to influence their plans for housing-related support services in Norfolk, 

with a view to focus on seeking to ensure that Breckland’s strategic priorities concerning the prevention of 

homelessness (including repeat homelessness), dealing with complex needs, and supporting those with 

mental health issues are at the centre of service provision going forward.  

• Proactively engage with and support central government in their consultation on the future design of 

supported housing funding, with a view to seeking to influence the design of a system that places local 

authorities in greater control over the quality and shape of supported housing provision in their area.  

138



15 

 

• Through our work around strengthening partnerships, we will work with neighbouring authorities to monitor 

gaps in housing related support services resulting from any reductions in funding or services, with a view to 

then identify funding opportunities that will enable unmet needs to be met.  

Facilitating access to the right housing solution 

Ensuring that those in need of accommodation access the right housing solution to best meet their needs is a vital 

part of any strategic approach to preventing homeless. The recently passed Homelessness Reduction Act places a 

greater emphasis on local authorities to work closely with those at risk of homelessness to ensure that they receive 

the right support to access the right housing solution at the right time. The Act proposes to place a specific 

requirement on local authorities to work with homeless households to developed tailored action plans that address 

the needs of that household with regards to housing and homelessness, ensuring that they access the most 

appropriate accommodation and housing services to meet their needs.  

Furthermore, with pressures continuing to grow on the supply of available affordable housing within the district, we 

need to find alternative mechanisms to prevent homelessness and meet housing need. In order to achieve this, our 

services need to be better designed to assist those with a housing need in accessing the right type of intervention, be 

that low cost home ownership, debt advice, a tenancy in the private rented sector, or priority for social housing. 

Facilitating access to the right housing solution is also especially important for those residing in supported 

accommodation which is designed to support vulnerable individuals in the transition towards independent living. 

Too often, individuals leaving supported accommodation do not have suitable accommodation to transition into. On 

some occasions, households leaving supported accommodation have ended-up experiencing street homelessness, 

unravelling the good work of the individual and their supported accommodation provider.  

There is also a need to ensure that the existing supply of social housing in Breckland is prioritised effectively, 

ensuring that a scarce resource is accessed by those in the greatest need. This involves working with partners to 

ensure that housing goes to those in the highest need, and those who can meet their needs through means other 

than social housing are enabled to do so.  Developing ‘pathways’ out of supported accommodation for vulnerable 

people, along with exploring new and innovative ways to better utilise the housing stock available to support 

vulnerable households, will form a key part of our strategy going forward.  

We will;…  

• Seek to adopt the principles of the Homelessness Reduction Act prior to its statutory implementation, 

ensuring that all customers of the council’s Housing Advice and Homelessness Service receive bespoke and 

holistic advice concerning their housing options.  

• As part of our approach as a provider of housing advice, to actively promote low cost home ownership as a 

viable housing option for to those who are seeking alternative accommodation through the housing register, 

but have the financial capability to access products such as shared ownership, ‘rent to buy’ or Starter 

Homes.  

• Develop a Discharge of Homelessness Duty policy, focused on enabling the authority to house certain 

homeless households in the private rented sector where it is suitable, appropriate and sustainable to do so 

• Review our housing allocations policy to ensure that priority for scarce affordable housing is prioritised to 

those in the highest need 

• Seek to facilitate the creation of an online housing services directory, designed to promote the services that 

exist and assist those in need of support and advice in accessing the right services to meet their needs.  

• Work with partner agencies and commissioners to develop a ‘pathways approach’ to move-on for vulnerable 

households living in supported accommodation, seeking to ensure that those successfully leaving supported 

accommodation access accommodation of a type and quality that supports them in continuing to live 

independently.  

139



16 

 

• Explore the creation of a ‘tenant accreditation scheme’, designed to support vulnerable households in 

accessing the private rented sector 

• To support single people in accessing accommodation, promote the government’s ‘rent a room’ scheme, 

which provides tax free income to households who rent out spare rooms in their accommodation.  

• Implement policies that support the supply of good quality, single person accommodation across the district, 

be it new build accommodation through the planning system in conjunction with developers and housing 

associations, and/or good quality accommodation in the private rented sector 

• Review our Strategic Tenancy Strategy in partnership with our housing associations partners, with a view to 

promoting the use of fixed term tenancies as a means of making the best use of high demand housing stock, 

such as one and two bed affordable rented housing 

• Work with private landlords and other partner agencies to undertake a review our Rent and Deposit 

Assistance Scheme, in order to ensure that the scheme continues to act as an effective tool to facilitate 

access to the private rented sector for households at risk of homelessness.   

Preparing for Welfare Reform 

The government’s welfare reform agenda, specifically the introduction of Universal Credit, generates both 

opportunities and challenges in relation to the prevention of homelessness.  Our ability to help vulnerable 

households prepare for Universal Credit and other reforms will be central to our success or otherwise in our 

ambitions to prevent homelessness. Many of the wider ambitions set in this strategy, such as a focus on addressing 

debt, helping households obtain budgeting advice, and supporting mechanisms that enable household to escape 

worklessness, will all play a strong role in supporting households in preparing for welfare reform. However, there are 

a number of key activities that we need to understand in order to directly prepare for the impact of welfare reform.  

These include building a close relationship with the DWP as the scheme is rolled-out, supporting those with online 

applications for Universal Credit (applications for Universal Credit are ‘digital by default’), and helping landlords 

prepare for the introduction of the reforms.   

We will;…  

• Continue to maintain a strong working relationship with the Department of Work and Pensions as future 

phases of Universal Credit are rolled-out across Breckland. This includes working with the DWP to facilitate 

the provision of the necessary services to support vulnerable households in the transition towards Universal 

Credit through ‘partnership agreement’ arrangements.  

• Working with partners and through the council’s ‘digitalisation’ programme, we will introduce initiatives that 

support digital access amongst vulnerable households, helping prepare them for the digital aspects of the 

Universal Credit application process. This includes the creation of an ‘assisted digital hub’ in Dereham, which 

will provide vulnerable households with support in applying for housing and benefits online.  

• Work with social and private landlords to help them to prepare for the wider roll-out of Universal Credit. This 

will include facilitating the sharing of best practice between landlords, developing joined-up initiatives 

between housing providers, and supporting tenant profiling activity that helps identify those vulnerable to 

proposed changes to the welfare benefits system  

Supporting those affected by domestic abuse 

Unfortunately, domestic abuse is an all too common cause of homelessness in Breckland. Our evidence suggests that 

around 10% of all recorded instances of homelessness within Breckland relate to domestic abuse, leading to many 

families seeking alternative accommodation within and outside of the district. Domestic abuse can take many forms, 

ranging from physical abuse through to emotional, financial and sexual abuse. It is a subject matter that impacts 

upon both men and women. Acting in accordance with the legislation that supports homeless households, district 

councils such as Breckland Council provide the ‘safety net’ for those who need to retreat to a place of safety.  

140



17 

 

Supporting victims of domestic abuse requires strong partnership working between district and council local 

authorities, the police, housing providers and the voluntary sector. Local authorities commonly play a role in ‘Multi 

Agency Risk Assessment Conferencing’ meetings (known by the abbreviation ‘MARAC’), where agencies discuss and 

share information about high risk individuals and formulate individual strategies to support victims. Remedies for 

supporting victims of domestic abuse range from legal mechanisms such as injunctions and non-molestation orders, 

through to accommodation-based approaches involving moving to refuge or improving the security of a victim’s 

existing accommodation (which is known as ‘target hardening’).  The authority has a strong track record in 

supporting victims of domestic abuse. For example, in January 2016 through working with two neighbouring local 

authorities, Breckland Council secured £100,000 in government funding to help bolster the support services available 

to victims of domestic abuse. This funding will be used to provide support to the most vulnerable victims, including 

those with mental health issues, and those victims who are not eligible to access public funds but who are financially 

reliant upon their abuser.   

In addition to supporting victims, many successful strategies that seek to reduce domestic abuse also focus on how 

to support perpetrators. These strategies include ways of addressing the vast range of underlying issues that may 

cause such behaviour, such as anger management, mental health, substance misuse and/or debt. Those who abuse 

often become homeless as a result of their actions, and later experience a further deterioration in their social and 

economic wellbeing.  

Tackling and reducing domestic abuse will form a key part of our strategic approach to addressing homelessness. We 

will re-evaluate the approach that we take to supporting victims of domestic abuse whilst they are living within an 

abuse relationship, plan for how we support them when they come to flee, and make supporting perpetrators of 

domestic abuse a key feature of our strategic approach to the matter. 

We will;…  

• Building upon recently awarded funding to deliver additional support services for the most vulnerable 

victims of domestic abuse in Breckland, we will work with partners, commissioners and central government 

to continue to improve the availability of advocacy services for those experiencing domestic abuse in 

Breckland.  

• As part our broader approach to safeguarding, play a proactive role in supporting ‘Multi Agency Risk 

Assessment Conferencing’ meetings, helping to identify strategies to support individual victims of domestic 

abuse that reside within the district 

• Review our approach to ‘targeting hardening’, with a view to devising a programme that will enable those 

who have experienced harassment to remain safe and comfortable within their own home 

• Work with partners and commissioners to improve the availability of advice, support and services for those 

who are perpetrators of domestic abuse, seeking to prevent domestic abuse from occurring in the first place 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

141



18 

 

PRIORITY TWO: IMPROVING HEALTH OUTCOMES BY IMPROVING OUR HOUSING  

Supporting vulnerable households to remain independent in their own home 

The suitability of accommodation is a major factor in when it comes to helping vulnerable, frail and elderly 

individuals remain independent in their own home. Furthermore, ensuring that elderly and disabled households 

have access to suitable, appropriate and hazard-free accommodation helps to prevent trips and falls in the home, 

improving health outcomes and reducing costs to the public purse. 

Local authorities play a vital role in helping individuals to remain independent in their own accommodation, be that 

through the provision of statutory Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) to deliver physical adaptations, or through other 

schemes such as handy persons services which deliver minor but essential repairs that help keep homes warm and 

hazard-free.  

As a council we have a longstanding track record of supporting vulnerable to remain independent in their own home. 

Our Integrated Housing Adaptations team, which is a partnership between the council and Norfolk County Council, 

has been running since 2012. The scheme sees ooccupational therapy staff working together with local authority 

housing teams to provide a joined-up housing adaptations service in one place. 

However, despite closer working between occupational therapy teams and housing officers, the demand for services 

to support people to live independently in their own homes continues to grow.  Last year we saw 265 number of 

applications for DFGs, with 125 completed thus far in between July 2015 and June 2016 albeit with around a further 

207 applications in the pipeline. This has resulted in a significant waiting list for new adaptations, leading to the risk 

of delayed assessment potentially resulting in a hospital admission or extended discharge.   

It is also the case that our existing service works on a mainly responsive basis. Little is presently done to identify 

those who, if they received a low-level intervention now, would be less dependent upon emergency health services, 

respite care, or more extensive home adaptation work in the future. Furthermore, the availability of services to 

provide low level intervention outside of the DFG process is relatively limited across Breckland, meaning that the 

necessary targeted intervention work to identify and support vulnerable people who require preventative measures 

to keep them safe in their own home is lacking. This is despite the government commitment to almost doubling the 

funding available to better integrate housing, health and social care.  

In response to the continued likely growth in demand for these services as our population continues to age, 

Breckland Council will explore developing a focussed and need-based service to deliver both grant adaptation work, 

in addition to exploring the creation of a chargeable but trusted handyperson service to carry out minor adaptations 

and repairs which if left unaddressed could result in injury or illness. Such adaptations include fitting hand rails, 

removing trip hazards, excluding draughts and improving home security. This proactive service would also look to 

identify any additional welfare needs such as a need to maximise income through unclaimed benefit entitlement, 

supporting those experiencing fuel poverty, or potentially exploring alternative housing options if it were deemed 

that the property was inappropriate for need. In summary this holistic service would ensure that the District is 

supporting people to remain independent within their own homes whilst proactively identifying those who without 

intervention would be at risk of illness of injury because of their housing situation which if left unaddressed would 

require medical attention.   

In addition to the statutory DFG grant, the council also offers a discretional grant to fund home adaptations to 

promote independence and support people to remain in their own home. The ‘Reable’ grant programme has been 

running since 2012 and is designed to significantly streamline the process of installing lower value adaptation works 

(such as level access showers and stairlifts) than the statutory and highly prescriptive DFG process. At present the 

council limits the value of works completed under the ‘Reable’ programme to £7,500. However, in order to improve 

142



19 

 

the efficiency of the council’s approach to adapting the homes of vulnerable people, we will review the threshold 

that we apply to the scheme and explore the scope to bring more extensive adaptations into the ‘Reable’ process.  

We will;…  

• Explore developing a focussed and needs-based service to deliver both grant adaptation work together with 

a holistic ‘handyperson’ service, with a focus on helping vulnerable people to live safely, comfortably and 

independently in their own home. The ambition will be for this service to proactively identify vulnerable 

individuals who would benefit from minor adaptations to remain independent in their own home, alongside 

providing a timely, effective and efficient service for the delivery of major adaptations under the council’s 

Disabled Facilities Grant programme.  

• Review our ‘Reable’ grants programme, with a view to exploring how to extend the reach of the programme 

beyond smaller adaptations such as level access showers and into more extensive adaptations, with a view 

to improving the efficiency and effectiveness of the council in adapting the homes of vulnerable people.  

Tackling ‘fuel poverty’ and addressing ‘excess cold’ as a hazard 

Excess cold is the most common ‘hazard’ identified in the private housing stock across Breckland by the council’s 

housing enforcement team. Around 6% of our housing stock has a hazard of some kind, and 82% of these hazards 

relate to ‘excess cold’. Linked to this, we know of the difficulties that households on low incomes face in heating 

their homes, and we also know poor health resulting from fuel poverty is a factor in increasing winter pressures on 

the NHS.   

We also know that there a broader issues across Breckland in relation to affordable warmth given the rural and ‘off-

gas’ nature of large parts of the district, alongside a small number of specific wards and estates where there are 

significant issues in terms of fuel poverty, linked with financial exclusion and poor housing.  

Government funding is available for improvements to housing stock. The present round of the government’s Energy 

Company Obligation scheme (or ‘ECO’ as it is more commonly known) is available until March 2017, with the 2015 

Comprehensive Spending Review committing funding for the next round until 2022. The existing funding round 

supports three individual programmes; an ‘emissions reduction’ programme aimed at improving roof and wall 

insulation, a community programme aimed at supporting those reliant upon district heating systems, and a ‘home 

heating cost reduction’ programme aimed at those defined as low income and vulnerable households.  

However, in order to leverage in such funding it requires the local authority to play an enabling role, identifying 

areas of high need and working with local stakeholders such as property owners, housing associations and local 

people to identify projects and liaise with funders. For this reason, delivering ECO funding into communities is a 

challenging task. There is also a need to undertake such work in conjunction with Clinical Commissioning Groups as a 

means of recording the positive impacts that investment in improvements to the fabric of our housing stock can 

have on health outcomes.  

Our work in addressing fuel poverty and improving the thermal warmth of the housing stock across Breckland will be 

critical to our success or otherwise of our ambitions to improve the health of our residents. As a consequence, 

addressing fuel poverty and improving the thermal efficiency of the homes of the most vulnerable will be a key 

strand of our strategic aim to break the relationship between housing and health.  

We will;…  

• Develop a detailed evidence base concerning fuel poverty, poor housing, poor health outcomes and 

economic deprivation, with a view to identify localities where a targeted approach to fuel poverty is 

required. 

143



20 

 

• Strengthen and develop a targeted fuel poverty programme aimed at addressing fuel poverty in areas where 

there is evidence of high levels of need. We will seek to do this by working with key local stakeholders and 

partners, such as housing associations, private landlords and Clinical Commissioning Groups to leverage in 

sources of local, regional and national funding to support improvements to the fabric of poor quality and/or 

under-insulated housing, with an overarching aim to support improvements in the health outcomes amongst 

vulnerable residents. Our new handy persons service will also play a vitally important role in supporting 

vulnerable people with improving the thermal efficiency of their homes by undertaking minor adaptations, 

such as draught proofing.  

• As part of our Housing Options and Advice service, seek to improve the availability of advice to vulnerable 

people on how they heat their home efficiently and effectively, with an aim of reducing heating costs, 

reducing hardship and improving health. 

Supporting those with dementia 

The prevalence of dementia within the population both locally and nationally is projected to increase significantly 

over the short, medium and long term. As set out earlier in this strategy, dementia rates in Breckland are anticipated 

to increase by 58% over the next 16 years, and around 2,500 households across Breckland are affected by one or 

more family member with dementia.  

To help those who are living with dementia, Breckland Council has already piloted a new initiative with a 

neighbouring authority called the ‘Forget Me Not Grants’ scheme. The programme, which has been developed in 

conjunction with the South Norfolk Clinical Commissioning Group, helps people living with dementia to maintain 

suitable and safe homes by providing grants of up to £1000 to make adaptions and improvements to the home.  

A number of the actions across this strategy will contribute towards supporting those with dementia, namely the 

ambition to facilitate the delivery of new older persons and specialist accommodation, and plans to commission new 

services that support to prevent vulnerable people experiencing trips and falls in the home. However, in order to 

assist those who live with this condition, we will make initiatives designed to support those with dementia form a 

key focus of our strategic work in relation to housing over the lifetime of this strategy.  

We will;…  

• Working with partners, ensure that ‘dementia-friendly design’ forms a central component of design for new 

and forthcoming specialist older persons accommodation, ensuring that good and sensitive design supports 

improved health outcomes for those living with the condition  

• Within with our partners and through a handy persons scheme, continue to develop and support the 

delivery of initiatives that support people to adjust to living with dementia in their own homes, such as the 

‘Forget Me Not Grants’ scheme.  

Supporting the growth of a good quality private rented sector 

The private rented sector plays an invaluable contribution to meeting the housing needs of the residents of 

Breckland. Our evidence suggests that over 8,000 households live in the sector across the district, and that the sector 

across Breckland grew by 6% between 2001 and 2011. The private rented sector in Breckland meets the needs of 

those who require financial support through housing benefit to meet their housing costs, helps support our economy 

by providing accommodation to transient workers employed in seasonal work, and is a tenure of choice for many 

professional employed households who work across the district.  

Specifically, there is a weight of evidence to demonstrate that multi-let properties (also known as Houses in Multiple 

Occupation, or more commonly by the abbreviation ‘HMO’) play an invaluable role in meeting the need for single 

person accommodation across Breckland. Our Strategic Housing Market Assessment has identified that, due to the 

144



21 

 

shortage of single person accommodation across the district and recent changes to the welfare benefits system, the 

importance of HMO accommodation as a source of housing will continue to grow. Consequently, Breckland Council 

is committed to supporting responsible landlords who provide good quality accommodation and treat their tenants 

fairly and professionally.  

The authority is also committed, however, to addressing rogue landlords; those landlords who provide 

accommodation of a poor and unsafe standard, and who do not provide their tenants with an appropriate level of 

service and support. This commitment is shared with central government, which has recently introduced a range of 

new powers and mechanisms designed to address rogue landlords by supporting the rights of tenants as consumers, 

improving the fire safety of private rented housing, and protecting tenants from retaliatory eviction where they raise 

legitimate complaints about the quality of their accommodation with their landlord and/or the local authority. The 

government is also consulting on powers and mechanisms to ‘blacklist’ rogue landlords and changes to the ‘fit and 

proper person test’ for HMO licence holders.  

The need to appropriately regulate private rented accommodation is especially important when it comes to the 

matter of HMOs; the risk of death by fire in shared accommodation is statistically sixteen times higher than in the 

general housing stock, and local authorities have a statutory role to play in regulating the HMO sector. This statistic 

is one of the reasons why Breckland introduced an ‘additional licencing scheme’ for Houses in Multiple Occupation in 

2013.  

Consequently, the authority will review its approach to regulating the private rented sector, finding ways to support, 

encourage and incentivise good landlords who let good quality accommodation, alongside ways of identifying and 

addressing poor quality landlords and their accommodation. This includes reviewing our housing enforcement 

policies, and also reviewing how we operate our selective licencing scheme for HMOs.  

We will also seek to introduce initiatives that build the relation between private landlords, the local authority and 

key partner agencies. There are two reasons for this; firstly, given the importance of the private rented sector in 

meeting housing need and demand across Breckland, the strength of our relationship with the private rented sector 

will become increasingly important going forward, especially when it comes to supporting homeless and vulnerable 

households in accessing the private rented sector. Secondly, this is because there is a huge amount of change 

occurring at a national level that will affect private landlords across Breckland, including new requirements for 

landlords to check the immigration status of their tenants, changes to the legal processes concerning protection of 

tenant deposits, and wholesale changes to the welfare benefit system through the introduction of Universal Credit. 

We want to support landlords in preparing for these changes, helping to landlords to support both their tenants and 

their business.  

We will;…  

• Launch and host a quarterly Breckland Private Landlord Liaison and Networking Event, with a focus on 

providing a forum through which private accommodation providers can learn about and receive support 

with national, regional and local changes that will impact upon them, their business and their tenants. The 

forum will also present an opportunity for the council to build a more effective relationship with those 

operating the private rented sector across Breckland.  

• Develop a HMO intelligence partnership alongside agencies such as the police, the Gangmasters Licensing 

Authority and the Fire and Rescue Service, with a view to identifying, inspecting and regulating high risk and 

poor quality HMO accommodation across Breckland.  

• Develop a Place based and proactive enforcement team to engage with Private Landlords and where 

necessary provide an end to end enforcement service. This will include the licencing of HMOs, addressing 

empty properties and enforcing on unauthorised gypsy and traveller encampments.  

145



22 

 

• Review and refresh our Housing Enforcement Policy, alongside our fees policy for our ‘additional licencing 

scheme’ (which requires all HMOs in Breckland to be covered by a licence), to ensure that our approach to 

the regulation of the private rented sector supports good landlords who work within the law, deters and 

addresses those who let unsafe and unsuitable accommodation, and protects vulnerable tenants at risk of 

retaliatory eviction 

• Working across internal and external partners, develop and promote a ‘whistleblowing’ initiative that seeks 

to help tenants understand their rights and responsibilities, alongside developing a clear mechanism that 

enables tenants to understand how and where to report the activity of rogue landlords. 

• Undertake a programme of activity to raise awareness of tenants consumer rights, including through 

promoting awareness of the recently introduced Letting Agent Redress scheme, which affords private 

tenants with recourse in the event of a dispute with their landlord 

• Play a proactive role in supporting central government in establishing and maintaining the planned ‘register 

of rogue landlords’, which will support work to address rogue landlords operating within the district and 

those who move their operation between local authority areas 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

146



23 

 

PRIORITY THREE: SUPPORTING HOUSING GROWTH 

Planning for a strong supply of new housing 

There is a wealth of evidence to suggest that there is a need to continue to support a strong supply of new housing 

across Breckland to meet existing and future needs. The Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2015, 

which is one of our key pieces of evidence in relation to future housing needs, has identified a need for at least 

14,300 new homes in Breckland between 2012 and 2036 driven by population and household growth. In terms of 

present demands for new housing, market signals in relation to the recent and continued growth in the cost of 

housing to buy and rent suggests that the demand for new housing continues to outstrip supply. 

The local picture in relation to the need for additional housing reflects similar trends across the national picture in 

relation to housing requirements. The government has made significantly boosting housing supply a key political aim 

of the current parliament. To achieve this, the government has introduced a range of pro-growth changes to national 

housing and planning policy. These include changes to make it easier for developers to obtain planning consent on 

brownfield sites, measures to support delivery of housing on small sites, and a heightened emphasis on local 

authorities adopting deliverable Local Plan documents that allocate appropriate levels of land to support housing 

growth over the next five years and beyond.  

Housing growth is already planned for many parts of the district, most notably through the Thetford Sustainable 

Urban Extension (which will provide around 5000 homes over the next 20 years) and an Attleborough urban 

extension which will deliver 4000 homes over a similar period and beyond. These developments will make a 

considerable contribution to meeting future housing supply, in addition to supporting a wider economic growth 

strategy linked to the A11 ‘tech corridor’. Future land allocations that are coming forward through the process of 

creating and adopting a new Breckland Local Plan will also make a significant contribution to meeting the future 

housing need of the district.  

In addition to allocating land to support housing growth, there is also a need to ensure that our housing policies are 

viable, deliverable and attract inward investment in new housing. This means ensuring that our policies include 

appropriate flexibilities to take account of viability constraints related to specific development schemes, whilst also 

ensuring that our housing ambitions and requirements as a whole, as set out in the Local Plan, are deliverable.  

Supporting the sustainable growth of new housing is a key priority for Breckland Council. 

We will;…  

• Develop a Breckland Local Plan that supports a strong supply of new housing across the district for each and 

every year of the strategy and beyond, allocating appropriate levels of development land in sustainable 

locations that will support the delivery of the district’s housing requirements over the next five years and 

beyond.  

• Through the process of developing a Breckland Local Plan, ensure that we adopt housing policies that are 

flexible, viable and attract inward investment in new housing across Breckland, as a means of supporting 

new housing growth as opposed to constraining it. 

• Work with key partners, including the New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership, the Homes and Communities 

Agency and Norfolk County Council, to support the delivery of new infrastructure to support the delivery of 

new housing at the required rate of pace to meet the needs and demands of the district.  

• Develop a Brownfield Sites Action Plan, aimed at identifying and bringing forward derelict and under-utilised 

brownfield land for housing across Breckland by channelling investment. 

• Seek to increase the supply of good quality market rented accommodation by working with private and 

public-sector partners to attract new inward investment into the private rented sector  

147



24 

 

Direct council-led investment in new housing  

In order to bring about the delivery of new housing to meet the needs and demands of local people, local authorities 

across the country are starting to take a more direct approach to supporting the delivery of new housing in their 

districts. This includes local authorities playing a role in directly investing in and delivering new housing to meet a 

range of housing needs, from affordable housing through to market rented accommodation and homes to buy. 

There are several different ways that local authorities are approaching this; some are entering into joint venture 

arrangements with development partners, some are setting up wholly-owned companies to build and hold new 

housing as an asset, and some are doing both.  

The shift in the role local authorities are starting to play in driving housing growth was partially triggered by a key 

government review into the way councils can better support the growth of a wider range of housing types. The 2015 

Elphicke-House ‘Review into the local authority role in housing supply’ made a number of recommendations to local 

and central government on how councils could become more effective in driving housing delivery. One major 

recommendation of the report related to the use of council-owned delivery vehicles to build, hold and/or manage 

new housing, including private housing for rent.   

Breckland Council is already bringing forward new housing development through ‘Breckland Bridge’; an innovative 

joint venture with a commercial development partner, the Land Group. This arrangement is seeing public sector land 

and private sector expertise to bring forward housing that is sold on the open market, in addition to much needed 

affordable housing, whilst providing the partnership with a commercial return.   

Our ambition, however, is to explore how in addition to developing new housing, the authority can look to acquire 

and retain ownership of a portfolio of new market housing for rent. This will enable the authority to meet housing 

need and demand, see additional investment channelled into new housing across Breckland, and also enable the 

authority to meet its corporate ambitions to develop a commercial approach across the council.  

The authority also holds a capital budget for investment in new affordable housing, including monies received by 

developers as part of development obligations. In addition to prioritising these funds for strategically important 

types of affordable housing provision (such as housing provided by specialist providers), we will also explore how the 

council may be able to directly invest these funds into affordable housing.  

Exploring how the council can directly invest in the supply of new housing across the district of Breckland will be a 

key theme of our strategic approach to housing over the lifetime of this strategy.  

We will;…  

• Explore the business case for establishing a vehicle that will enable the council to directly invest in a portfolio 

of new housing designed to meet a range of needs, be it through joint venture arrangements with others 

and/or through a wholly council-owned company model.  

• Explore how we can utilise these delivery mechanisms to directly invest in new affordable housing across the 

district over the lifetime of the strategy 

• Seek to work with partners to utilise council ‘s.106’ funds available for affordable housing to support the 

continued supply of low cost rented housing across Breckland 

Supporting households into affordable home ownership 

Supporting households into home ownership is a key focus of current government policy and investment decisions in 

relation to housing. Various government initiatives, from new products such as the new Starter Homes initiative 

through to more traditional products such as shared ownership are all designed to help those who wish to own their 

home get on to the housing ladder. To support this aim, the Homes and Communities Agency has made available 

148



25 

 

£5.6bn in grant funding to support the Shared Ownership and Affordable Homes Programme 2016-21, alongside 

£2bn to support the delivery of Starter Homes on brownfield and under-utilised development sites.  

These products have the potential to play an important role in the housing market across Breckland, both by 

supporting first time buyers on to the ‘housing ladder’ and also by assisting households out of the private rented 

sector, creating capacity within the private rented market that can be used to support households looking for rented 

accommodation. For example, our Strategic Housing Market Assessment has found that there are around 2,100 

households living in the private rented sector across Breckland with a desire and financial ability to access the 

housing market through low cost home ownership products. Products such as Shared Ownership and ‘rent to buy’ 

housing are ideally suited to assist such households in accessing the housing ladder.  

Driven by central government policy and local evidence of need, supporting aspiring households into home 

ownership will form a key part of our housing strategy moving forward.  

We will;…  

• Create housing and planning policies that bring about the delivery of homes that support households into 

home ownership, such as the government’s Starter Homes scheme along with shared ownership, shared 

equity and ‘rent to buy’ housing.   

• Work extensively with the Homes and Communities Agency and our housing association partners to secure 

inward investment from the Homes and Communities Agency in relation to shared ownership housing, 

Starter Homes and emerging innovative housing tenures such as ‘rent to buy’ housing.  

• Work with housing association partners to ensure that they can meet their obligations to support their 

tenants into home ownership through Right to Buy, whilst seeking to ensure that the pool of low cost rented 

accommodation within the district is maintained and supported.  

Supporting the supply of affordable rented housing, specifically in relation to smaller units of housing such as one 

and two bed homes. 

Whereas a large emphasis of national government policy is focused on supporting home ownership, there is a 

continued important role for low cost rented housing to meet the needs of those for whom home ownership is not a 

viable housing option. This is acknowledged by the government, who in the November 2016 Autumn Statement 

made available a further £1.4bn to support the delivery of low cost rented housing. To demonstrate this, our 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment has identified that around two thirds of all future affordable housing 

development needs to constitute low cost homes to rent in order to meet the needs of those who cannot afford to 

buy or rent in the private sector. 

The scale of the challenge to deliver low cost rented housing going forward will be significant. Despite the availability 

of grant to support the capital cost of providing new affordable rented housing, the government has imposed a 1% 

rent reduction on all general needs affordable rented housing from April 2016 with a view to reducing the size of the 

national housing benefit bill. This has impacted upon the revenue that housing associations derive from their rented 

housing, impacting upon development viability and investment plans. In order to continue to deliver rented housing, 

housing associations are now looking to ‘cross-subsidise’ their development programmes. This means that whereas 

in the past the focus of many of Breckland’s housing association partners would primarily focus on delivering rented 

housing, many will now need to focus on delivering a wide range of housing products (e.g. market sale and rent) in 

order to offset lost revenue.  

Furthermore, in February 2017 the government has unveiled plans to all market housing sites deliver a minimum of 

10% affordable home ownership units. Consequently, this will likely see fewer low cost rented housing units 

149



26 

 

delivered through planning obligations, with more affordable homes delivered in the form as shared ownership or 

‘starter home’ accommodation.  

In order to continue to drive delivery of low cost rented housing, the council will be required to maintain and build 

upon the strong relationships that it already has in place with housing associations. It will also require the council to 

consider how we balance our policy requirements, such as the need to increase the supply of new rented housing, 

with our need to ensure that our partners can maximise the opportunities to deliver new homes.  

There is evidence of a district-wide need for a range of types of affordable homes to be delivered over the next 20 

years. However, there is a notable and immediate shortage of smaller homes to rent in the affordable sector across 

Breckland. This is driven by an affordable rented housing stock that is heavily weighted towards three bed homes, 

along with the impact of welfare reform measures such as the removal of the spare bedroom subsidy. The lack of 

supply of smaller accommodation for rent has an impact upon the ability of the council to discharge duties owed to 

homeless families and individuals with complex needs, and also the ability of the council to support vulnerable 

individuals leaving supported accommodation with help in moving towards independent living. In addition to seeking 

ways of adding to new supply to overcome these challenges, we will also seek to identify ways to ensure the 

effective use of our existing supply of affordable housing, ensuring that those in the highest need for low cost rented 

housing access it above others who are able to meet their housing need through other means.  

We will;…  

• Develop planning policies that protect the continued supply of low cost rented housing through the planning 

system, specifically in relation to smaller rented properties for which there is a significant need, whilst 

maintaining our support for other affordable housing tenures such as low cost home ownership and Starter 

Homes.  

• Work with registered providers, developers and the Homes and Communities Agency to maximise 

opportunities to bring forward low cost housing for rent in the absence of government grant, including 

seeking to ensure that the capital receipts from housing association ‘Right to Buy’ sales are re-invested in 

new rented housing within the district where appropriate.  

• Work with developers, partner housing associations and manufacturers of off-site constructed housing to 

develop a design model for cost-effective one and two bed low cost, good quality housing 

• Work with our partner housing associations to promote the use of fixed term tenancies, with a particular 

focus on high demand and low supply housing, as a means of ensuring that the supply of low cost rented 

housing in Breckland is used effectively and prioritised to those in the greatest need. 

• Work with partner housing associations to identify opportunities to deliver shared accommodation within 

new and existing social housing stock, as a means of increasing the availability of accommodation for single 

people (specifically single people under the age of 35).  

Supporting self and custom build housing 

Another key focus of government policy is concerning the growth of self-build and custom-build housing. Custom 

and self-build housing plays a pivotal role in supporting housing supply in many European counties, where up to 60% 

of new homes are delivered through custom and/or self-build routes. In the UK custom and self-build housing is still 

very much a niche area of development, accounting for around 7% of all housing development.  

The approach to self and custom build housing can take many forms, ranging from an approach where individuals 

build their own home on serviced plots made available by the local authority, through to individuals simply designing 

the internal layout and design of a ‘shell’ built by a developer. There is also a niche area of self-build entitled ‘self-

refurbishment’, where prospective homeowners refurbish and modernise existing housing.   

150



27 

 

The constraints of self and custom build housing development are often linked to matters such as access to suitable 

sites, access to affordable sources of finance, and a lack of custom build activity amongst mainstream housing 

developers.  

In order to support the development of custom and self-build housing in the UK, the government has legislated 

through the Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 to place a duty on local authorities to maintain a register 

of individuals who wish to build their own home, along with a duty to measure and understand the need and 

demand for self-build housing plots. Alongside this, the National Custom and Self Build Association has unveiled a 

toolkit to support local authorities to drive the growth of sector. The toolkit advocates a range of interventions that 

local authorities can explore to support the sector, ranging from simply supporting, advising and assisting with calls 

for land, through to providing council-owned land and loan finance to support developments.  

Custom and self-build housing has an important role to play in supporting new housing growth, supporting the 

retention of character through good design and, crucially, it can provide a cost-effect way to support individuals on 

to the housing ladder. Local authorities have a crucial role in facilitating self and custom build. Consequently, 

supporting the self and custom build housing agenda will be a key priority for this strategy.   

We will;…  

• Develop, maintain and promote a ‘Self and Custom Build Register’, with a view to better understanding the 

demand across Breckland. We will then seek to utilise this evidence to develop policy and initiatives that 

respond to locally identified needs.  

• Look to support those seeking ‘self-refurbishment’ opportunities as part of our strategic approach to 

returning long-term empty homes to use 

• Develop planning and housing policies that support the supply of custom and self-build housing, where need 

and demand has been identified. This includes the emerging policy within the local plan concerning a criteria 

based approach to releasing very small sites for development in villages.  

• Explore opportunities to bring forward council-owned land for custom and self-build housing plots 

Meeting the needs of an ageing population, and those with specialist accommodation needs 

Our evidence suggests that over the next 16 years, the number of individuals in Breckland aged over 90 years of age 

is projected to increase by 131%, and the number of individuals aged 85-89 is anticipated to rise by 81%. Dementia 

rates are anticipated to rise by 58% over the same period. In an ageing population with people living with complex 

medical and health difficulties for longer, this creates a need for housing solutions designed to meet the needs and 

aspirations of older people.  

The range of housing solution to meet the needs of an ageing population are wide ranging. They include traditional 

sheltered housing for rent or for leasehold sale, through to Extra Care housing that provides both support and care 

to help vulnerable and elderly individuals to live independent lives.  

Norfolk is a county with a disproportionately low supply of specialist accommodation designed to meet the needs of 

older and disabled households, such as Extra Care Housing. Breckland has two Extra Care Housing schemes, which is 

a relatively low number of schemes when compared with other authorities of a similar size and with a similar age 

structure. Consequently, planning to meet the needs of the ageing population will be a key focus of activity over the 

2016-20 period.   

We will;…  

• Undertake research in conjunction with Adult Social Care services within Norfolk County Council to 

understand the need and demand for different types of older persons accommodation across Breckland 

151



28 

 

• Supported by this research, we will develop an Older Persons Housing Position Statement, setting out the 

council’s priorities in relation to older person housing, alongside the priorities for investment.  

• Work with private sector and housing association partners to deliver a range of housing types to meet the 

needs of older persons, from dementia friendly housing through to Extra Care Housing 

• Work with partner housing providers to remodel existing older persons housing stock where it is no longer 

suitable to meet the needs and aspirations of older people. 

• Explore the business case for the council directly investing in new specialist older person’s accommodation, 

as a means of facilitating the delivery of new housing designed to meet the needs of the elderly population.  

Supporting the delivery of affordable housing that supports rural communities 

Outside of its five market towns, Breckland is a district characterised by its rurality and its 112 parishes. Whilst the 

focus of housing growth will remain focused around the district’s largest settlements, Breckland is committed to 

ensuring that the housing needs of local people living in our rural communities are accounted for and met.   

The authority has a track record of working with local land owners, parish councils and registered providers to 

deliver small development schemes of affordable housing to meet locally identified need in rural areas. This includes 

recent developments in Old Buckenham.  

In order to enable for the council to continue to meet locally identified need for affordable housing in rural 

communities, the authority will seek to develop policies within the forthcoming Breckland Local Plan that support 

the delivery of small sustainable developments of affordable housing where need has been identified. To support 

this activity, we will also seek to better understand the existing and future affordable housing needs in specific rural 

areas by creating a Rural Housing Needs Profiling Tool. This tool will pull together locally gathered primary and 

secondary information that will help support the council and parish councils in understanding local housing need in 

individual rural areas.  

Furthermore, in 2017 Breckland was allocated £180,000 under the government’s Community Housing Fund. The 

funding, which is paid to areas with a high level of second home ownership, is designed to support activity that 

enables local people to get involved in shaping and bringing about affordable housing developments in their area. 

Working with other Norfolk authorities that have received money through the fund, Breckland will use this funding 

to develop a strategic approach whereby the authority will seek to utilise the funding to achieve two key aims; 

firstly, the council will use this funding to support communities where affordable housing developments are 

currently planned, with a view to enable genuine community involvement in shaping those development plans. 

Secondly, the authority will utilise this funding to bring in resource that will assist in the process of developing the 

capacity, expertise and skills of communities with an interest in seeing new affordable housing developed in their 

area.  

We will;…  

• Develop policy which supports the delivery of sustainable developments of affordable housing, including 

homes for first time buyers, for local people in rural areas where there is an identified and evidenced local 

need 

• Utilising Community Housing Fund money, we will work with our neighbouring authorities to run a 

community-led rural affordable housing programme, aimed at supported community-led affordable housing 

delivery to meet the needs of local people. This includes the recruitment of a specialist ‘rural housing 

officer’, shared across Breckland, North Norfolk and West Norfolk, who will work intensively with local 

communities where there is a local desire to see affordable housing developed to meet local need.  

• Seek to develop a strong evidence base of the housing needs within individual rural areas across Breckland 

by seeking to create a Rural Housing Needs Profiling Tool  

152



29 

 

Supporting Small and Medium-sized builders 

A key theme of the March 2017 government housing ‘white paper’ focuses on the need to diversify the number of 

organisations building housing across the UK. Across the country around 60% of all new development is driven by 10 

housebuilders. The government has a strong desire to see small and medium-sized developers play an enhanced role 

in delivering new housing, helping to diversify supply.  

Small and medium-sized builders and developers play an important role in driving the supply of good quality new 

housing, especially on small and brownfield sites where they have a strong knowledge of the local housing market. 

They also play a strong role in employing local skilled tradespeople, providing employment to college leavers and 

apprentices, and supporting the local economy. A strong SME development industry also adds to the range and 

variety of investment flowing into the supply of new housing.  

However, small and medium-sized developers also face a number of challenges when competing to deliver housing 

in a market dominated by larger national house builders. These challenges include access to affordable development 

finance, a shortage of skilled tradespeople, access to land, and a lack of access to the same resources available to 

larger developers to navigate through the planning system. These challenges have seen the number of SMEs 

operating in the national market drop from 44,000 in 2007 to 18,000 in 2017.  

To assist in this process, the government has launched the £2bn Home Builders Fund; a loan fund designed to 

provide SME developers with access to affordable and flexible forms of finance. The government has also announced 

an intention to introduce a ‘presumption in favour’ of development on smaller sites. However, it is clear that there is 

a role for local government in supporting this sector, specifically in how local government engages with and supports 

the sector in negotiating the planning process, accessing funding, and accessing land. Consequently, given the 

important role that this sector can play locally, supporting small and medium sized builders in bringing forward new 

housing supply will be a key focus of Breckland’s housing strategy moving forward.  

We will;…  

• Work with SMEs and the Homes and Communities Agency to ensure that local housebuilders in Breckland 

maximise their access to the Home Builders Fund, helping to drive forward new housing growth and diversify 

the supply of new housing.  

• Seek to ensure that SME developers access the right planning support when bringing forward development 

proposals 

• Establish a Small Builders Forum, promoted by the council’s housing and planning teams, to support and 

guide small and medium building firms and developers who wish to bring forward new development through 

the planning system, promote schemes such as the HCA Home Builders Fund, and share information and 

best practice designed to support the sector.  

• Through our local plan, provide opportunities for SME developers by adopting a criteria based approach to 

the release of very small sites within villages, in addition to allocating a considerable number of smaller sites 

(10 - 30 units) for future development.  

• Explore how, when the council disposes of land, the authority can seek to ensure that SME developers are 

not excluded from opportunities to acquire public land for development 

• Through our economic development role, seek to explore how we can better support SME developers to 

achieve growth through business development advice and support, including how to ensure that they 

remain resilient throughout the course of the economic cycle.  

• Through our work to promote apprenticeships, seek to support the supply of local skilled labour to support 

the SME developers and builders  

 

153



30 

 

Returning empty homes to use 

Whereas the delivery of new homes plays a central role in any strategy designed to support the supply of new 

housing, returning existing empty housing stock into use has the potential to play a significant role in meeting 

housing need and demand. Our evidence suggests that there are over 450 residential properties within Breckland 

that have been vacant in excess of six months. Putting this into context, this is figure equates to almost three 

quarters of the total number of new homes built across Breckland during 2015/16, that being a total of 619.  

Proactively working with home owners to return empty properties to use also has wider benefits that simply making 

a valuable contribution towards housing supply; empty properties can also attract anti-social behaviour, impact 

upon visual amenity, and create problems for adjoining homes and property. Central government has also 

recognised the important impact that returning empty homes to use can have to communities, and has sought to 

develop mechanisms to encourage local authorities to adopt a proactive approach to bring them back to use. This 

includes supporting local authorities with payments under the New Homes Bonus when empty homes are returned 

to use, alongside a range of enforcement options to compel owners of vacant property to be return their home to 

use where there is a clear case in favour of doing so. 

The authority has already undertaken positive work to address empty homes over the past two years, reducing the 

number of empty properties by a third. This has often involved the authority simply advising and guiding those who 

required support to return their empty property to use. The authority has also operated the ‘Restore’ scheme, which 

provides empty home owners with a £5,000 grant to return their property to use as an affordable home.  

However, due to the long-term nature of many of the properties that remain empty across the district, the authority 

will be required to re-evaluate its strategy for returning properties to use. Consequently, in order to tap into this 

significant potential source of housing and given the wider benefits derived from this work, returning long term 

empty homes to use will become a key priority for this Breckland Council throughout the lifetime of this strategy. 

We will;…  

• Develop a detailed business case for an alternative model for returning empty homes to use  

• Develop an Empty Homes Strategy, which will compliment this business case. This strategy will retain a focus 

on offering support and assistance to those who wish to return their properties to use but cannot, and 

compelling owners of empty homes to return their property to use where they can return their property to 

have no plans to do so.  

Planning for the needs of the gypsy, traveller and show persons community 

Breckland Council has a statutory duty to ensure that the accommodation needs of the gypsy, traveller and show 

persons community are identified, understood and planned for. The definition of what constitutes a gypsy and 

traveller for planning purposes was amended by government in 2015, with a focus on distinguishing between those 

who are actively travelling and those who have permanently ceased to travel. This revised definition will be reflected 

in the policy approach set out in the emerging Breckland Local Plan, which will set the council’s policy on how the 

needs of this community will be facilitated for through the planning system. 

To fulfil national policy and legislative requirements, along with ensuring that the council has a better understanding 

of the accommodation needs of Gypsy and Travellers (including travelling show persons) the Council commissioned a 

Gypsy and Travelller Accommodation Needs Assessment (GTANA) which was completed in October 2016. The 

GTANA provides an evidence base which is needed to aid the preparation of Development Plan policies for the 

provision of new Gypsy and Traveller pitches and Travelling Showpeople plots in the District. To ensure that the 

accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers are understood and adequate provision made we will; 

154



31 

 

• Keep under continuous review the accommodation needs of the gypsy and traveller community, including 

through the commissioning of Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessments. Continued review and monitoring is 

necessary to ensure that any impacts as a result of the recent change in definition are identified and 

understood. 

• Engage with the Gypsy and Traveller community to bring forward applications on suitable sites  

• Respond to government guidance (once published) to ensure that housing needs of any Gypsy and Traveller 

households who do not meet the new ‘planning’ definition of a Traveller are understood and assessed as 

part of the wider housing needs of the area through the Strategic Housing Market Assessment process 

• Continue to actively participate in the Norfolk & Suffolk Travellers forum. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

155



32 

 

Appendix One: Glossary of Key Terms 

Affordable Housing 

The government defines affordable housing as social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing provided 

to specified eligible households whose needs are not met by the market. Intermediate housing includes products 

such as shared ownership housing.  

Disabled Facilities Grant 

Disabled Facilities Grants are financial assistance, provided by the local authority, to help towards the costs of 

making changes to your home so you can continue to live there. DFGs commonly cover the cost of adaptations such 

as level access showers, stair lifts and door widening.  

Discretionary Housing Payment 

Discretionary housing payments (DHPs) are extra payments to help people pay their rent. DHP is often awarded to 

people receiving Housing Benefit who need short term support to help with their housing costs. 

Extra Care Housing 

Extra Care Housing is housing designed with the needs of frailer older people in mind and with varying levels of care 

and support available on site. People who live in Extra Care Housing have their own self-contained homes, with their 

own front door 

Fuel Poverty 

A household can be defined as being in fuel poverty where the household needs to spend more than 10% of its 

income on all fuel use and to heat its home to an adequate standard of warmth. In England, this is defined as 21°C in 

the living room and 18°C in other occupied rooms.  

Homes and Communities Agency 

The Homes and Communities Agency is the national public funding agency for new housing development in the UK. 

The HCA administers a number of programmes designed to support housing growth, including grant funding for new 

affordable housing and loan finance to support the delivery of infrastructure and market housing.  

Houses in Multiple Occupation 

Generally speaking, a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) is a single dwelling occupied by a number of individual 

and separate households (e.g. a family house converted into rooms for single occupation). 

Local Plan 

A Local Plan sets out local planning policies and identifies how land is used, determining what will be built where. 

Local Plans also set out many of the policies used to determine planning applications, including policies relating to 

design, density, sustainability and housing mix.  

Rent to Buy Housing 

‘Rent to Buy’ is a new affordable homes product, whereby eligible tenants are able to rent a property at a rental 

value equivalent to 80% of the market rent, and have the option to buy the property after a period of time (usually 

between 5 and 10 years). The purpose of the Rent to Buy product is to enable households the opportunity to save 

for a deposit, in order to enable them to purchase.  

156



33 

 

Right to Buy 

The Right to Buy scheme helps eligible council tenants in England to buy their home with a discount of up to £78,600 

(or £104,900 within London). The government has committed to rolling out the Right to Buy to housing association 

tenants.  

Starter Homes 

The Starter Homes initiative is a new government initiative, whereby new build homes are provided to eligible 

purchasers at a discount of at least 20% of the open market value. Buyers must be under the age of 40, and be a first 

time buyer.  

Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

A Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) is a technical study intended to help a local planning authority 

understand how many homes will be needed over a long term period (usually 20 – 25 years). It also considers the 

housing needs of specific groups such as older people, minority groups and people with disabilities. 

Supported housing 

Supported housing is an umbrella term which is applied to a whole range of housing based solutions for vulnerable 

people. It caters for a wide range of client groups with diverse needs who require different levels of support in a 

range of accommodation models. 

Universal Credit 

Universal Credit is a new welfare payment that seeks to pull together six means tested benefits into a single welfare 

payment. Payments of Universal Credit will be made to tenants in a single monthly payment, and housing costs 

within Universal Credit will be paid directly to the tenant as opposed to being paid directly to the landlord.  

 

 

157



Document is Restricted

158

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

164

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

165

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

166

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	7a Caston Village Hall
	8 Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership
	Minutes

	9 Financial Performance Report 2016-17 Out-turn
	Appendix 1 for Financial Performance Report 2016-17 Out-turn

	10 Quarter 4 2016-17 Performance Report Overview
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 4 2016-17 Performance Report Overview

	11 Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan - Making (adoption) of the Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan
	Legend
	Yaxham NP Version  V2
	NP4Yaxham Plan to be Made - final version

	12 Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-21
	Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 - Adoption Version - Cabinet 305017

	15 Growth & Commercialisation Delivery Unit
	App A_Diagram illustrating linkages
	App B_Proposed Commercialisation Structure Chart
	B 170627 Delivery Unit Proposal




